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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

Mzr. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Mzr. Janata David

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

Mzr. Li Yiu Fai

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mzr. Yiu Chi Man (resigned on 1 April 2019)
Ms. Lee Wai Yan (appointed on 1 April 2019)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wong Kam Fai
Mzr. Yiu Chi Man (resigned on 1 April 2019)
Ms. Lee Wai Yan (appointed on 1 April 2019)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Yiu Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Lie Tak Sen
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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Corporate Information

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kam Fai
Mr. Lie Tak Sen

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Ying Loi
Mr. Li Yiu Fai

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
35/F, One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA

33/F, Golden Wheel International Plaza
No. 8, Hanzhong Road

Nanjing

People’s Republic of China
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Conyers Dill & Pearman (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY

IN HONG KONG

Unit A, 18/F, Lee & Man Commercial Center
169 Electric Road
Fortress Hill

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

BOCI Asia Limited

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS

Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong
38/F Jardine House

1 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

IR@gwtd.com.hk

STOCK CODE

1232

WEBSITE

www.gwtd.com.hk
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Chairman’s Statement

GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS C

A COMPANY LISTED ON THE STOCK
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EXCHANGE OF HONG

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Golden Wheel Tiandi
Holdings Company Limited (“Golden Wheel” or the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual results
of Golden Wheel for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year”) to our

shareholders.

T 4 AR 2 2
Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong
Hua Ting
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Chairman’s Statement

Overall review

To maintain the Group's competitive edge as well as ensure its sustainable
development, during the Year, the Group actively looked for suitable
development projects, including joint venture development projects with
other reputable developers. In 2018, the Group acquired three residential and
commercial projects in mainland China. On the other hand, to further reduce
the Group’s project geographic concentration risk, in February 2018, the
Group signed a preliminary sale and purchase agreement for the acquisition of
an overseas company which owns a piece of land for redevelopment in Hong
Kong. The acquisition was completed in July 2018. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group had 19 projects under development or on sale, which included five
projects managed by joint venture and associate entities, with a total land bank
of gross floor area (“GFA”) of 1,682,319 sq.m. As a result of years of effort
after the Group has been listed, the Group’s operation scale has increased, and
its contracted sales for the Year increased by 23.4% when compared to last

year.

The Group’s another strategy is to focus on developing residential and
commercial complex projects so as to achieve a higher gross profit margin. This
strategy was proven to be a success as the Group’s overall gross profit margin
increased further from 39.0% for the year ended 31 December 2017 to 52.7%
for the Year.

20184F ¥ #t % ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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Last, the Group's another focus is to increase its recurring income. The growth
of the Group’s recurring income from property leasing and hotel operation
businesses remained strong during the Year and it had achieved a significant

increase by 33.2% when compared to last year.

Future outlook

From the end of 2015 to the first half of 2017, the China real estate industry
had a very short and harvest period. Land and housing prices had risen and
prospered. In order to prevent overheat of the property market, in late 2017,
dozens of local governments had passed or expanded restrictions on property
purchases and increased the minimum down payment required for a mortgage.
The property market was further cooled off by relatively tightened liquidity
condition as the government moved to control leverage and risk in the
financial system. Looking forward, since stabilising economy growth is the key
objective of our PRC leadership and the real estate industry is one of the major
contributors for economy growth, the Group anticipates that China’s control
policies over real estate will remain effective for a certain period of time and

the Group is optimistic that China’s property market will remain on track for

stable growth.

32
Yangzhou Lakeside

Emerald House
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Chairman’s Statement

H B — N A BRI 2 B0 B0 5 Utk Since 2016, the Group has been actively participating in public auctions to
MR A e s o B = — R acquire good quality land in order to replenish its land bank. By the end of
ASE E B R 2ff > AR R R R 2018, the Group has successfully acquired twelve new projects with total GFA
1,000,000 75 K o« BAM B G - A AR & (5K of over 1,000,000 sq.m. Our current total land bank, which is over GFA of
T A B 8 1,682,000°F J5 K ) JE RE I A< A 42 B ke ole = 1,682,000 sq.m., should be able to suit for the needs of the Group’s new three-
EREERH RO o R ZF— U AREE year development plan. In 2019, the Group will continue to look for good
DATE 2 AR A 7 =0 (0 58 e R o AR B I development opportunities but in a more prudent way. The Group will only
FRAM AR SR LA B P AR A FR R R TE E invest in the areas that we are familiar as well as projects that can generate

reasonable return.

A B SEH I & > AR BB LR S B For our leasing business, the Group will continue to retain our completed
HEABRE NS LY UERNAE g A properties with attractive locations and potential growth for long-term leasing

A I Y SR 25 A R I LB SE AL LR B purpose. The Group's strategy is to continue to build up its investment
FBE SR B [ i o property portfolio so as to maintain a stable return to its shareholders.

P 4 U 2 44 R
Nanjing Golden Wheel

Romantic Tower
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As at 31 December 2018, the Group has two hotels under operations. Both
of them achieved over 95% occupancy rate. There are two more hotels under
development, one in Nanjing and the other one in Changsha. It is expected
that these two hotels will commence operations in 2019. Since the two hotels
are located in prime location, the Group is confident that they will further

enhance the Group’s recurring income.

The Group’s core strategy is: “Focusing on the development and operation of
projects that are physically connected to metro stations or other transportation
hub”. With the rapid development of China’s high-speed rail and subway, the
Group can continue to acquire more projects that are connected to high-speed
rail or subway. We believe that these projects have comparatively lower risk
and potentially higher return. At the same time, since we have cooperation
with city metro companies in the leasing and operational management of the
metro stations in different cities, we have the advantages in obtaining metro
station related projects. Together with our prudent financial management, we
believe we could maintain our competitive edge for further development and

expansion.

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

28 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Wi 5 NANJING

T T4 % Completed properties

o A B 25 Golden Wheel International Plaza
o SHRHEAT 2L Golden Wheel Waltz

o 4K IE Golden Wheel Building

o &R FE [ Golden Wheel Green Garden

o T334 Nanjing Jade Garden

o S HHTADEE Golden Wheel New Metro

o Gl E Golden Wheel Star Plaza

o @A LTT Golden Wheel Star-cube

o BEHHEHENT Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

PH 8% B4 2 Properties under development
iz %m 8 1 i 95 Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza

9 4% 42 B4 3 24 I Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower

.
.
o FAHUHTS IR Nanjing First City
.
.

T 5 42 B K WL 2E JE Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting e 413 B 4 metro stations

MR R AR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting
o 50 IRE L Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu
T 5 8 3 [ 45 B Hotel operation and management
o BT
Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel
Hy AL BF Metro leasing
o 1EUEE 1 metro station

B M YANGZHOU

2% T4 Completed properties
o BPNEmER (— ZHER=M)
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Star City (Phase I & IT & IIT)
o BIMEIESRES
Yangzhou Powerlong Golden Wheel Plaza
PH 5 ) % Properties under development

o PR Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House
o Py ERLRACZ I Yangzhou Vanke Future Light

W
HUNAN

# M suzHou

L Metro leasing i]: ﬁ

o STHBEER S metro stations JIANGSU
%8 wUx1

E% T % Completed properties
o MG AR A FE Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza

BH 85 14 3 Properties under development

o S5 S o R

Wauxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden
o BEHEREZERH

Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza

Hu AL B Metro leasing

3
% M CHANGZHOU SUZHOU

P35 % Properties under development
o HNEEHE Changzhou Junwang Jia Di

7 # HONG KONG

PH 35 % Properties under development
oSBT KU Golden Wheel Plaza

G 5 8 3 )% % B Hotel operation and management
o THJLHEARREITE Silka West Kowloon Hotel

IR
JIANGSU

*

L]

HUNAN
R CHANGSHA
.
T T4 Completed properties ﬁ %
o RUEHHE 4 E Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza HONG KONG
Hu S HL B Metro leasing

o STEUEEE (WK EE)S metro stations (not yet operated)

¥ M zHuzHOU

2% T ¥ Completed properties

o GAREECR Y Golden Wheel Time Square
o PRIMEHRIEER 2 E (—H) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden (Phase T)
o PRMAERIER 2B () Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden (Phase IT)

BH 4 3 Properties under development
o BRU G4 R Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

20184 BE#t ¥ ANNUAL REPORT 2018 11
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Contracted sales

The Group and its joint ventures and associates achieved a contracted sales
value and contracted sales area amounted to approximately RMB3.13 billion
(2017: RMB2.54 billion) and approximately 256,060 sq.m. (2017: 186,000

sq.m.) for the Year respectively.

Due to the price control policy adopted by the local authorities of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Group has adjusted its sales strategy for
its completed projects, especially for the residential projects in Nanjing and
Changsha, in 2018 in order to maximise profit. As at 31 December 2018, there
were total GFAs of completed but unsold residential units of 12,603 sq.m. and

55,817 sq.m. in Nanjing and Changsha respectively.

Projects completed during 2018

One project was completed during 2018, namely Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade
Garden (Phase II) with an aggregate saleable GFA of approximately 61,583
sq.m. As at 31 December 2018, an aggregate GFA of approximately 52,563

sq.m. of this newly completed projects were sold and delivered.

New land acquired during 2018 in mainland China
In March 2018, the Group acquired a piece of land in Nanjing City, Jiangsu

Province, the PRC with a site area of approximately 59,722 sq.m. Its plot
ratio was 1.985. The newly acquired land is located west of Ning Li Road,
Lishui District. The land is for mixed residential and commercial development

purpose.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In April 2018, the Group acquired a piece of land in Nanjing City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC with a site area of approximately 10,188 sq.m. Its plot
ratio was 1.8. The newly acquired land is located north of Wutai Road,
east of Xintang Road, Gaochun District and is close to metro station and
transportation hub. The land is for mixed residential and commercial

development purpose.

In July 2018, the Group acquired the entire equity interest in Wuxi City Yi
Zhong Property Development Company Limited* (85 7 45 /% 5 i 2 B
BAHMWAFA) (“WCYZ"), a company incorporated in the PRC. WCYZ is
principally engaged in the property development business and owns the land-
use-right of a land parcel with a site area of approximately 27,470 sq.m. in
Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Its plot ratio shall not exceed 3.5.
The land is situated at Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai Road
and Fengbin Road, Beitang District. The land is designed for developing

commercial properties.

Land bank of the Group

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total land bank of approximately
1,682,319 sq.m., including approximately 159,171 sq.m. of completed
but unsold properties, approximately 6,290 sq.m. of own used properties,
approximately 151,491 sq.m. of completed investment properties,
approximately 837,583 sq.m. of properties under development and
approximately 527,784 sq.m. of properties developed by the joint venture and

associates.

*  For identification purposes only

TS5 4 i LI 44 P
Wuxi Golden Wheel

Star Plaza
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TREIAEBRR -F—/FE+ZA=+—HM The following table sets forth an overview of the Group’s property projects as

J7% 3t T AR - at 31 December 2018:
A FifE
L V4 T VT MWK AXNTARG BEmE
AL R AT Z A i WERER AETHY  ERRTHHY S LIA A S 0] L]
Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated
construction construction Total unsold GFA held for Investment
commencement completion  Percentage of GFA/ Company’s properties
Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area date date completion Total GFA own use GFA
FuKk E/H #= FrKk FrKk FrKk
5q.m. month/year month/year 5q.m. 5q.m. 5q.m.
B AR/
Completed properties
k2 32 [ 11341 FEELA FNE—R 100% 2,022 2,535 33,197
Golden Wheel International Plaza Nanjing Jul-04 Jan-09
SREML [EE: 2046 FNE-A —ZE] 100% = = 2,444
Golden Wheel Waltz Nanjing Jan-08 Feb-10
E4 YN} B 4918 F—HLA Z=H"J 100% = = 1,454
Golden Wheel Building Nanjing May-01 Feb-03
EHAER R 1034  F-%AA FZEMA 100% - 305 1,021
Golden Wheel Green Garden Nanjing Aug-01 Sep-02
SWER (—H) i 42,803 FMEAS —TEZ) 100% 5,513 - -
Golden Wheel Star City (Phase I) Yangzhou Aug-08 Mar-12
SRER (ZH) il 7423 FAETA —ZHEAR 100% 1,462 S S
Golden Wheel Star City (Phase II) Yangzhou Oct-09 Aug-12
kA Ll R 13501 FAELA — AN A 100% 2,910 = 45,570
Golden Wheel Time Square Zhuzhou May-09 Apr-12
EEEEXL A 722 ——H-R —=Z#+ZA 100% 2,793 - 2,677
Nanjing Jade Garden Nanjing Jan-11 Dec-13
S HH A IE [ 9218  ——EAJL —EETIA 100% = = 18,437
Golden Wheel New Metro Nanjing Aug-11 Dec-13
EHELA R R 29540 ——H+—A —M4EA R 100% 5,017 = 528
Golden Wheel Star Plaza Nanjing Nov-11 Jun-14
EHEW (ZH) M 11,389 —FEAHA —JHE=R 100% 3,055 - 4813
Golden Wheel Star City (Phase III) Yangzhou Jun-10 Mar-14
M EwBR AR (—H) HrM 23530  —WEFZA S —AREFIHA 100% 4,179 - 3,652
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden (Phase I) Zhuzhou Dec-14 Dec-16
M EemERAE (ZH) L3l w15 —HEFZA S —AEF-A 100% 9,020 = S
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden (Phase II) Zhuzhou Dec-14 Nov-18
B3R i 45 31,981 —MEFZA —AFEFZA 100% 7,203 = 19,657
Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza Wuxi Dec-14 Dec-16
EHELT B 18300 —MEFZA —AETZA 100% 10,663 - 4,332
Golden Wheel Star-cube Nanjing Dec-14 Dec-16
T L HE A S il 427 R R 100% - 3,450 =
Silka West Kowloon Hotel Hong Kong N/A N/A
SEEEER (BR) [k 24905  —HEFZH —LERA 100% 14,061 = 2,742
Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu (plot B) Nanjing Dec-14 Jun-17
SRR (AR [ 21323 —WEFZA —EEFDA 100% 11,992 = =
Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu (plot A) Nanjing Dec-14 Dec-17
RUBRELAE 304 37152 —WAEFZA S —EFEFZA 100% 79,281 - 10,967
Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza Changsha Dec-14 Dec-17
it 349,458 159,171 6,290 151,491
Subtotal

14 A R ¥ B4 B A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A FifE
L VT VT MEgER,/  AAFEAERR BEmE
AR W B A 7 2 W WRER ERETHY  ERRTHH P an:All A S s S T 20
Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated
construction construction Total unsold GFA held for Investment
commencement completion  Percentage of GFA/ Company’s properties
Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area date date completion Total GFA own use GFA
Frk #/H #H Frk Frk Frk
5q.m. month/year month/year 5q.m. 5q.m. 5q.m.
R LRES
Properties under development
SR TR [ 9588 —MEFZA —AERA 5% 8,000 = 41,168
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza Nanjing Dec-14 Jun-19
By AR M 0682  —tHEARA —NERA 80% 37,390 = =
Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House Yangzhou Jun-17 Jun-19
T T B A R 7595 —tH#+=A “FEZR 60% 38,244 S =
Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower Nanjing Dec-17 Mar-20
e85 4 W e 70989 —tEFZA —AEFZA 40% 74,521 = =
Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden Wuxi Dec-17 Dec-19
i 9 A 2 He 92175 —AFZH ZEEZf 30% 324,350 - -
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu Zhuzhou Mar-18 Mar-20
S [k 32927 —AEMA ZREZA 10% 76,217 = =
Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting Nanjing Apr-18 Mar-20
HR R R AR [ 59722 —JUFMA “—#XRA 0% 115,282 = 2,500
Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting Nanjing Apr-19 Jun-21
SHH K ik 1056 —AELA —RtTDA 50% 5,775 - -
Golden Wheel Plaza Hong Kong May-18 Dec-19
8 it 22 22 ] 5 27470 —NUELA SRR 0% 99,039 - 15,097
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza Wuxi May-19 Jun-21
it 312,202 778,818 - 58,765
Subtotal
At 661,660 937,989 6,290 210,256
Total
R R A R
Projects by joint venture and associates
BN E R R EUE 9% sl 61,275 —WEFZA —AEFZA 100% 92,257 - 65,400
Yangzhou Powerlong
Golden Wheel Plaza (49%)N! Yangzhou Dec-14 Dec-16
HRUH & 330 [k 3810  —LEAH —REFZA 95% 52,539 - 20,227
Nanjing First City (33%) Nanjing Jun-17 Dec-19
BRREE B 25 %)% [ 14338 —tFEFA ZFEFZA 30% 25,239 - -
Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu (25%)"" Nanjing Oct-17 Dec-20
AR (13,3305 M 67205 —LEFZA ZEEZJ 30% 187,275 - -
Changzhou Junwang Jia Di (13.33%)N! Changzhou Dec-17 Feb-20
BRARKZ 0%k il 31 —AFEAA ZEEFTA 20% 84,847 = =
Vanke Future Light (20%)N* Yangzhou Jun-18 Dec-20
it 213,785 442,157 - 85,627
Total
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Notes:

1 The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49%
interest.

2 The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 33%
interest.

3 The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25%
interest.

4 The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33%
interest.

5 The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20%
interest.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a land bank of approximately
837,583 sq.m. under development. Among these lands, approximately 482,082
sq.m., 177,369 sq.m., 119,367 sq.m. and 58,765 sq.m. are for residential,

commercial and office, car park and investment properties purpose respectively.

Property leasing

Rental income arising from the Group's investment properties maintained
a stable growth during the Year. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
completed investment properties with a total GFA of approximately 151,491
sq.m. The average occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties was
close to 90%.

Metro leasing and operational management business

In May 2018, the Group succeeded in the bidding for the leasing and
operational management contract in relation to the underground commercial
space in 5 stations on Changsha Metro Line 4 for a term of 10 years. The total

leasable GFA of these 5 stations amounted to 21,774 sq.m.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had leasing and operational management
contracts of 15 metro station shopping malls in four cities in China, namely,
Nanjing, Suzhou, Wuxi and Changsha. The Group had a total leasable GFA of
over 68,912 sq.m. As at 31 December 2018, 9 metro station shopping malls

were under operations and the overall occupancy rate was over 95%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In view of its potential higher growth, the Group will continue to actively
bid for more leasing and operational management contracts of metro station
shopping malls in different cities and is optimistic that we will obtain more

contracts of this kind in the future.

Hotel operation

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has two hotels under operations, namely
Silka West Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong and Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour
Hotel in Nanjing. Average room occupancy rate of these two hotels in 2018
was both over 95%.

Significant investments held

The Group’s major investment was its equity investment in the share of
Xiamen International Bank. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 34
million (2017: 34 million) unlisted equity shares of Xiamen International
Bank with a carrying value of RMB173.0 million (2017: RMB157.4 million).
The investment is for long-term purpose and it can also further enhance the

business relationship between the Group and Xiamen International Bank.

First property development project in Hong Kong

In February 2018, the Group signed a preliminary sale and purchase agreement
for the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of a company which owns a
piece of land in Hong Kong. The acquisition was completed in July 2018. This
is the second project of the Group in Hong Kong and also the Group’s first
development project in the overseas market. The piece of land, which is located
near Tin Hau MTR station in Hong Kong, was planned to be re-developed into

a commercial building with a total GFA of approximately 51,975 square feet.

Financing

In January 2018, the Group successfully issued senior notes in the principal
amount of USD200 million bearing a coupon rate of 7% per annum and due in
2021. Proceeds from the senior notes will be used to refinance certain existing

indebtedness, fund new projects and for general corporate purposes.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations

Revenue

The Group’s revenue consists of revenue derived from (i) sale of the Group's
developed properties; (ii) rental income from property leasing; and (iii) hotel
operation. The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue

and the percentage of total revenue for the years indicated:

BRET-A=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

R )\ —E b
2018 2017

ARIEF I % ANRBFIL %
RMB’000 % RMB 000 %
1,188,443 82.2 2,109,976 91.6
203,913 14.1 166,343 7.2
53,998 3.7 27,236 1.2
1,446,354 100.0 2,303,555 100.0

Revenue decreased by approximately 37.2% from approximately RMB2,303.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB1,446.4
million for the Year, primarily due to a decrease in revenue derived from the

property development business.
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ey SR E) 5 2 W ¥ 858 Property Sales in terms of Property Type

66.8% {9 Residential 65.8%

2 \\\\\\ 12.1% Wi Commercial 33.4%

2018

21.1% WA R Office 0.8%

el B 4y 2 W B Property Sales in terms of Location

39.4% B A Nanjing 64.7%

31.3% WM Zhuzhou 5.1%

1.6% B Yangzhou 4.0% . —R L
TUNARRRRR 2017

26.0% £ Changsha 199%
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Property development

Revenue derived from property development decreased from
approximately RMB2,110.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2017 to approximately RMB1,188.4 million for the Year. The main
reason for the decrease was that the Group had only one project
completed and delivered during the Year, namely Zhuzhou Golden
Wheel Jade Garden (Phase II) whereas in 2017, there were two new

projects completed and delivered.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group achieved contracted sales of
approximately RMB3,129.0 million (2017: RMB2,536.0 million).

Property leasing

Revenue derived from property leasing business increased from
RMB166.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB203.9
million for the Year. The increase was due to an increase of overall rental

rate and the launching of new shopping malls.

Hotel operation

Revenue derived from hotel operating business increased by 98.5% to
RMB54.0 million (2017: RMB27.2 million) for the Year. The increase in
2018 was mainly attributable to the full year operations of the Nanjing
Golden Wheel Atour Hotel and Silka West Kowloon Hotel, which had

only started generating income during 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cost of sales
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales for the

years indicated:

BRET-A=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

ZE N\ “F-tF

2018 2017
AR T % ANRETI %
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
198,777 29.0 566,038 40.3
318,023 46.5 634,457 45.1
74,033 10.8 124,174 8.8
8,063 1.2 16,705 1.2
598,896 87.5 1,341,374 95.4

ik Note o

52,231 7.6 43,292 Mo 3.1
33,527 4.9 20,575 1.5
684,654 100.0 1,405,241 100.0

Note: This amount includes rental expenses of RMB30.8 million and RMB38.4 million for
the properties under operating lease for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018,

respectively.

The Group's cost of sales decreased from RMBI1,405.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to RMB684.7 million for the Year. The decrease was
primarily due to the decrease of cost of sales of property development which

was in line with the decrease in revenue arising from the sale of properties.

The Group's percentage of average land acquisition costs over average selling

price decreased from 26.8% in 2017 to 16.7% in 2018.

21
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Gross profit and gross profit margin
Gross profit decreased from RMB898.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 to RMB761.7 million for the Year, primarily due to the

decrease in the sale of properties.

Gross profit margin increased from 39.0% for the year ended 31 December
2017 to 52.7% for the Year, because both gross profit margins of property sales

and property leasing increased in 2018.

The gross profit margin for property development business increased from
36.4% in 2017 to 49.6% in 2018, mainly due to an increase in the average
selling price of the properties sold in 2018 as a result of the boom of the

property market in China during the Year.

Gross profit margin for property leasing increased to 74.4% in 2018 from
74.0% in 2017, mainly due to an increase in the gross profit margin of our

metro station shopping malls.

Changes in fair value of investment properties

For the Year, the Group recorded a fair value gain on investment properties of
RMB465.9 million (2017: RMB133.3 million). The revaluation gain resulted
from the addition of investment properties and the completed construction
of certain investment properties. The Group’s investment properties were

revaluated on market value basis by an independent property valuer.

Other income, expenses, gains and losses

The Group had a net loss of RMB127.9 million for other income, expenses,
gains and losses for the Year as compared to a net gain of RMB158.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The net loss was mainly attributable
to interest income of RMB37.4 million being off set by net foreign exchange
losses of RMB164.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs

Finance costs consisted primarily of interest expenses on borrowings net of
capitalised finance costs. Finance costs increased from RMB126.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB178.9 million for the Year primarily
due to the overall increase in total borrowings as the Group has acquired
more projects during the Year. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
total borrowings of RMB5,856.0 million, while as at 31 December 2017, the
Group’s total borrowings were RMB3,614.8 million.

Selling and marketing expenses
Selling and marketing expenses primarily consisted of advertising and

promotional expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB49.1 million (2017: RMB29.4 million), representing an increase of about
67.0%. The increase was primarily due to the fact that there were more sales
activities carried out in 2018 as the Group launched a number of presale

activities during the Year.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses primarily include staff salaries and benefits,
depreciation and amortisation, office expenses, traveling expenses, professional

fees, utilities and property tax, land use tax and stamp duty.

Administrative expenses for the Year amounted to approximately RMB166.5
million (2017: RMB172.5 million), representing a decrease of about 3.5% as
compared to last year. We will continue to adopt strict cost control measures to

maintain these costs at a relatively stable and lower level.

Taxation

The Group’s income tax expenses increased by approximately 20.8% to
RMB451.7 million for the Year from RMB373.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2017. The increase was primarily due to an increase in the accrual of
land appreciation tax which was due to the increase in the profit margin of the
sale of properties and the increase in the accrual of enterprise income tax which

was due to an increase in fair value of investment properties.

20184 JE it ANNUAL REPORT 2018 23



O L o i BEL 2 AT

Management Discussion and Analysis

Va2t Y - PN E S

TRAE A - A B B 2 A 7 A 3E TR A W ik )
BAR¥0s6cHE L MEE_F—tF+H
=t —HIEFEER AR R 40 #oo - Zam
TiFEHR—MEEAEZREWER L KAV
(B8 IR R W34 o

KL a] BN i F

S A 2 B R 2 MR D 5 A R A P
BE-Z—CLETAZ+—HILEEMARK
485.5H BT EF A AR 34238 B0 BIRA)
$4529.5% °

REEE MHERERENRE

B

BE-F-NE+-A=Z+—H> AEBBRITH
AEB L B NR 997 9H ot (ZF—HF: A
RW1,150. 28 B T) » Hp e s 2 IR I RAT 47 3K 4
AR#2som &8 (ZF—LF: AR¥s 1270 8
T0) REHESRITA R A ANR 4608 80 (ZF
—L ARW¥1820A B 0) Bl RARAT S BRI
DT EE A BAE R A T T HBB
BN = — 4 — A BT o B g
1 3 4 WA DA BAE TR ) S8 B 2 8 I A5 K E I
%o

BT RIA A5

BT E+ A=+ —H > AEEA KRR
SRAT M HL A 3R (RS (B 3208 59 A R ¥5,856.0
HEIT (CF—LE: AR¥36148HEIL) - %%
A S5 NR323. 75 B2 ST 153 K
S NREE3 32670 B0 B E R E E A%
FHEe

BAL I F

R oF— E+A=+—H  AEBNFEARE
B R B #91054% (—F—L4F 15660 ) o KEE
M EA G B L RUGHE A EBRI TR B4
FEBRAAR N Al A AN TEAG AR5 50

Share of results of joint ventures and associates

The Group's share of profits of joint ventures and associates amounted to a
profit of RMB105.6 million for the Year, versus a loss of RMB1.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase was mainly due to the
completion of the construction of investment properties of a joint venture

entity which had a substantial increase in its fair value on completion.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Mainly due to a decrease of revenue arising from the sale of properties,
profit for the year decreased from RMB485.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 to RMB342.3 million for the Year, representing a decrease of
approximately 29.5%.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

Cash position

The Group had bank deposits and cash of approximately RMB997.9 million
as of 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB1,159.2 million), including restricted
bank deposits of approximately RMB275.9 million (2017: RMB312.7 million)
and structured bank deposits of approximately RMB146.0 million (2017:
RMB182.0 million). The decrease in cash and bank balances was mainly due to
the fact that the Group had made several land acquisitions during the Year and
the cash outflow has outweighted the cash inflow from the issuance of senior
notes of USD200 million in January 2018 and the sale proceeds received from

property sales during the Year.

Bank and other borrowings

The Group had outstanding bank and other borrowings (including senior
notes) of approximately RMB5,856.0 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB3,614.8 million). Out of these borrowings, bank borrowings in the
amount of RMB323.7 million and senior notes in the amount of RMB3,326.7

million were at fixed interest rates.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net gearing ratio was approximately
105.4% (2017: 56.6%). The net gearing ratio of the Group is calculated by
dividing the interest-bearing liabilities net of bank deposits and cash by the

total equity attributable to the owners of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cost of borrowings

The Group’s average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses paid and payable by the average total bank and other borrowings
during the relevant year) was approximately 6.4% in 2018 as compared to

approximately 7.6% in 2017.

Cash flows used in operating activities

Cash generated from operating activities resulted primarily from pre-sales and
sales of developed properties, rental income and hotel income; while cash used
in operating activities resulted from our costs of land purchases, costs for the
development of properties and costs of operating completed properties held for

sale and taxes paid.

For the Year, net cash used in operating activities was approximately
RMB954.9 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) an increase in
properties under development for sale of approximately RMB2,020.9 million,
(ii) a decrease in completed properties for sale of approximately RMB473.6
million, (iii) a decrease in contract liabilities of approximately RMB184.2
million; and (iv) a decrease in prepayments for leasehold land held for

development for sale of approximately RMB326.6 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, net cash used in operating activities
was approximately RMBG608.7 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) an
increase in properties under development for sale of approximately RMB672.9
million, (ii) a decrease in completed properties for sale of approximately
RMB331.1 million, (iii) a decrease in deposits and prepayments received
from pre-sale of properties of approximately RMB857.2 million; and (iv) an
increase in prepayments for leasehold land held for development for sale of

approximately RMB245.3 million.

Cash flows used in investing activities

Cash generated from investing activities resulted primarily from disposal
of financial assets, interest and dividend received from financial assets and
bank deposits while cash used in investing activities was primarily driven by
additions of property, plant and equipment, acquisition of subsidiaries, joint
venture and associates, and investment in investment properties and financial

assets.
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For the Year, net cash used in investing activities was approximately
RMB847.7 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) net decrease of
restricted deposits of approximately RMB36.8 million; (ii) acquisition of
subsidiaries of approximately RMB819.6 million; and (iii) net purchases of

financial assets of approximately RMB76.9 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, net cash used in investing activities
was approximately RMB300.3 million, which was primarily attributable to (i)
net decrease of structured and restricted deposits of approximately RMB509.7
million; (ii) advance to a joint venture and an associate of approximately
RMB26.8 million; (iii) net increase in investment properties of approximately
RMB35.0 million; (iv) payments on disposal of derivative financial instruments
of approximately RMB20.2 million; (v) acquisition of investment in associates
of approximately RMB345.9 million; (vi) acquisition of a subsidiary of
approximately RMB398.0 million; and (vii) net purchases of available-for-sale

investments of approximately RMB34.9 million.

Cash flows from financing activities

The Group had net cash generated from financing activities of approximately
RMB1,707.4 million for the Year, which was primarily attributable to (i) net
increase of senior notes of approximately RMB1,206.5 million; (ii) proceeds
from new bank borrowings raised of approximately RMB1,189.6 million;
partially offset by (iii) repayment of bank borrowings of approximately
RMB394.5 million; (iv) interest payment of approximately RMB313.1 million;
and (v) dividends payment of approximately RMB75.5 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, net cash generated from financing
activities of approximately RMB795.0 million, which was primarily
attributable to (i) net increase of senior notes of approximately RMB464.5
million; (ii) proceeds from new bank borrowings raised of approximately
RMB1,615.6 million; partially offset by (iii) repayment of bank borrowings
of approximately RMB955.8 million; (iv) interest payment of approximately
RMB228.9 million; and (v) dividends payment of approximately RMB78.9

million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net current assets

The Group had net current assets of approximately RMB680.0 million as of 31
December 2018, and net current assets of approximately RMB1,256.8 million
as of 31 December 2017.

Restricted bank deposits

A portion of the Group’s bank deposits has restricted usage. These deposits
are either a) placed with certain banks in the PRC and the usage of which
are restricted to certain of the Group’s property development projects in the
PRC, or b) pledged to banks as security for certain banking facilities granted
to the Group, in which case the use of the restricted bank deposits, subject
to the banks’ approval, is restricted to the purposes as set out in the relevant
loan agreements, or c) as security for certain mortgage loans granted to our
customers, in which case the restricted bank deposits will be released upon
receiving the building ownership certificates of the respective properties by
the banks from the customers as security for the mortgage loans granted. As
of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's restricted bank deposits were
approximately RMB275.9 million and approximately RMB312.7 million,

respectively.

Working capital

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB576.1 million and approximately RMB664.5
million respectively. The Group receives cash inflows mainly from pre-sales of
its properties, issue of senior notes and bonds and project-specific bank loans.
The Group is permitted to pre-sell its properties under development when it
obtains the relevant pre-sale permits. In addition to cash inflows from pre-
sales, the Group typically obtains project-specific bank loans once it receives
the work commencement permits for its projects or project phases, using the

relevant land use rights and properties as security.
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Indebtedness

Property developments require substantial capital investment for land
acquisition and construction and may take months or years before positive cash
flow can be generated. The Group principally funds its property developments
from internal funds, borrowings from banks and other parties, proceeds from
sales and pre-sales of its developed properties and proceeds from issuance of
both debt and equity securities. As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group

had the following outstanding bank and other borrowings:

®E+-A=Z+—H

As of 31 December
=t S e
2018 2017
AR AR #TF T
JHEHE A SRAT i A Unsecured bank borrowings RMB’000 RMB'000
NE—4E Within one year 118,287 67,709
118,287 67,709

AR SRAT AR K Secured bank borrowings

AR (HEE) Within one year (note) 1,450,831 1,104,156
— D EHAR R M After one year but within two years 89,463 150,000
MAE DL EHOR 2 AR After two years but within five years 870,682 339,294
2,410,976 1,593,450
st Total 2,529,263 1,661,159
BB R E S (RN AERERFILE) Senior notes and bonds (Exclude interest payables) 3,326,739 1,953,605
Kt Total 5,856,002 3,614,764
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Note: Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Within one year”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate
principal amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to RMB499.4 million (2017:
RMBG693.9 million). The Group believes that such bank borrowings will be repaid

after one year in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in RMB, US$ and HKS.
Details of the assets pledged and guarantees for the secured bank borrowings
are set out in notes 14, 15, 19, 23, 24 and 30 of the consolidated financial

statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital commitments

The following table sets forth the Group’s contractual commitments as of the

dates indicated:

B+=H=+—H
As of 31 December
=t S C T S
2018 2017
A BT AR W#T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
Commitments contracted for but not provided in
the audited consolidated financial statements in
respect of:
Construction of properties under development
for sale 415,839 296,865
Leasehold land held for development for sale - 616,961
415,839 913,826

AR BB AR5 B A S LI AR T 1 55
=TT T R
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The Group’s contractual commitments represented its commitments to third

party construction companies with respect to the construction of its projects.

Capital expenditures

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's capital
expenditures were primarily related to the acquisition of land use rights, the
construction of properties, and purchase of property, plant and equipment. The
following table sets forth a breakdown of its capital expenditures for the years

indicated:

RET-A=Z+T—HIEEE
For the year ended 31 December

2 \E —EBtF

2018 2017

A BT AR T

RMB’000 RMB 000

W i T 45 Acquisition of land use rights 2,048,587 1,405,744

R ¥ Construction of properties 658,778 591,390
WEE ¥ (MR A 2% TR Purchase of property (including transfer

HEWE) B Kk from completed properties held for sale),
plant and equipment 32,330 418,979
st Total 2,739,695 2,416,113
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Contingent liabilities

S
2018 2017
ANRHT I ARHT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group
to banks in favour of its customers 96,309 807,897
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These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as
a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the
Directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group
at initial recognition are insignificant and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default by the purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee

contracts and as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, the Group has not entered into
any off-balance sheet guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the
payment obligations of any third parties. It does not have any interest in any
unconsolidated entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit
support to it or engages in leasing or hedging or research and development or

other services with it.

Possible risks and uncertainties facing the Group

The Group's financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties which are not known to the Group or

which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

The Group is exposed to various types of market risks, including foreign
exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity
price risk in the normal course of its business. It manages and monitors these
exposures on a regular basis to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in

a timely and effective manner.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign exchange rate risk

The primary economic environment in which most of our principal subsidiaries
operate is the PRC and the functional currency is RMB. The Group's exposure
to foreign exchange risk is principally due to its US$ and HK$ denominated
debts and bank deposits in foreign currencies, mainly US$ and HKS$. As of 31
December 2018 and 2017, the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary

assets and monetary liabilities at each reporting date are as follows:

=
2018 2017
ARBFT — ARKTE
RMB’000 RMB’000
165,743 3,142
19,890 179,112
185,633 182,254
3,396,539 2,003,585
1,933,565 1,251,218
5,330,104 3,314,803

Appreciation of the RMB against the US$ and HK$ generally results in a gain
arising from the Group’s US$ and HK$ denominated debts and a loss arising
from its bank deposits in US$ and HK$. A depreciation of the RMB against
the US$ and HK$ would have the opposite effect.

Fluctuations in the foreign exchange rate have had and will continue to have
an impact on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the
Group. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
but the management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will

consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the
variable rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances of
the Group. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to its fixed rate restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes
and bonds. The Group currently does not have a specific policy to manage its
interest rate risk, but will closely monitor the interest rate risk exposure in the

future.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to it due to the failure in discharging an obligation by the counterparties is

arising from:

(a)  the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the end of each

reporting period; and

(b)  the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantee

provided by the Group.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade

receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of customers in the PRC.

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its
customers’ mortgage loans to finance their purchases of properties. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of his mortgage during the term of
guarantee, the bank may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount
of the loan and any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the
Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-sell the property to
recover any amounts payable by him to the bank. In this regard, the Group

considers that its credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and
restricted bank deposits. As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, approximately
55% and 67% of its bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited
at four banks, representing deposits at each bank with a balance exceeding
10% of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit risk of
these liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are State-owned banks
located in the PRC or banks with high credit ratings assigned by international

credit-rating agencies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity risk

The Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework
for short-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities and continuously

monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows.

For further details, please refer to note 45b to the consolidated financial

statements.

Please refer to notes 14, 15, 19, 23, 24, 30 and 43 to the consolidated financial
statements for details of the pledges on the assets of, and guarantees provided

by, the Group.

Significant investments

Details of the Group's significant investments during the Year are set out on

pages 282 to 288 under the section headed “Schedule of Principal Properties”.
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The Group believes that sound environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
performance is critically important to the sustainable development of its
business and the community. The Group is committed, not only to achieving
strong financial results, but also to promoting environmental protection, social

responsibility and effective corporate governance.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. The
Group has established an ESG working team to engage the management and
employees across all functions in order to identify relevant ESG issues and
to assess their materiality to the Group’s business as well as the Company’s
stakeholders, through reviewing our operations and internal discussions.
Disclosures relating to the material ESG issues identified have been included in
this ESG Report pursuant to the requirements of Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules (the “ESG Guide”).

The items identified below show the ESG issues which were determined to
be material to the Group, together with the aspects on the ESG Guide to
which they relate. The Group’s headquarters is located in the PRC. This ESG
Report mainly focuses on the Group’s real estate business in the PRC and
covers the policies, initiatives and performance of the Group’s business in
achieving sustainable development, for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the

“Reporting Period”).

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group has established environmental policies and has communicated
measurable environmental objectives to its employees. The Group
proactively encourages the staff to protect the environment.
The ultimate goal is to have all of our employees adopting an
environmentally-responsible behavior both in the workplace and their

daily lives.

The Group always keeps itself up-to-date on the developments in local
legislation and standards for environmental protection and is committed
to achieving a level of environmental performance that goes beyond
compliance. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience
any cases of non-compliance relating to applicable environmental laws

and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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Emissions

As a real estate developer in China, the Group places high
emphasis on sustainable development of projects and supporting
environmental protection. The Group is committed to
complying with applicable laws and regulations with respect
to the environment in China, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution and Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the environment

and natural resources.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Major sources of emissions by the Group were the use of
petroleum by motor vehicles, and the use of electricity and paper.
Carbon footprint is defined as the total amount of direct and
indirect emissions of greenhouse gas (GHG) expressed in terms of

equivalent amount of carbon dioxide (CO2-eq) emissions.

“E )\ —R LA
2018 2017
HEREY R W R
GHG emissions GHG emissions
(FRZSEH (T
Hit i ) Wik &)
(kg COzeq) (kg CO2-eq)
304,639 194,243
3,312,993 2,376,000
227,591 76,344
3,845,223 2,646,587
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Petroleum

The Group owns motor vehicles used for transportation purpose.
During the Reporting Period, a total of approximately 129,000
litres (2017: 72,000 litres) of petroleum was used by the Group's

motor vehicles.

Electricity

During the Reporting Period, the total electricity consumed by
the Group in business operations was approximately 4,600,000
Kilowatt-hour (kWH) (2017: 4,400,000 kWH). This electricity
consumption did not include the usage by tenants, owners and

third-party contractors in the Group’s business operations.

Paper

During the Reporting Period, approximately 47.4 tons (2017:
15.9 tons) of paper products were used. Employees are encouraged
to go paperless to the extent possible and reduce paper

consumption by defaulting double-sided printing.

Water

During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption of the
Group in its business operations was approximately 804,000 cubic
meters (2017: 756,000 cubic meters).

During the Reporting Period, the increase in the consumption is

due to the increase in the number of subsidiaries and projects.

During the Reporting Period, no abnormalities of sourcing water
were observed as the Group directly sources water from municipal

water supplies.

The Group has developed various energy-saving policies and
initiatives to prevent and reduce GHG emissions. Please refer
to the section headed “Use of Resources” in this ESG Report for

details.
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Waste management

Waste generated from the Group’s business activities mainly
consists of paper (e.g. office paper). No substantial hazardous
waste was produced by the Group during the Reporting Period.
The Group has launched a number of waste management

programs, including:

- recycling of glass, cardboard, paper materials, metal,
printing cartridges and batteries, with collection facilities

placed across its properties; and

- encouraging staff to reduce paper consumption by double-

sided printing and reusing papers only printed on one side.

Use of Resources

The Group strictly complies with the Energy Conservation Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and helps its employees in

developing the habit of resource saving and recycling.

Property development projects

The construction of all of the property development projects of
the Group are outsourced to third-party contractors. As such, the
Group does not directly generate air emissions, water discharge
and construction waste pollution arising from construction
works. The Group requires explicit terms to be included in the
construction agreements to require the constructors to carry out
green construction for reducing air emissions, water discharge
and construction waste, and to handle construction waste so as to

avoid secondary pollution.

The Group sets energy saving targets for each construction
project. Each project report sets out the requirement to expand
the green space surrounding the building in the key design
features, so as to maintain a balance between temperature, carbon

and oxygen levels, and reduction of building energy consumption.

In 2018, the Group launched the “Golden Wheel Tiandi Healthy
Home Building System”, in order to ensure that the project
developed by the Group not only serves the designed function, but

also achieves the sustainable development of resources.
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In order to reduce energy consumption, our construction design
aims at optimising the structure of all materials in the project.
For example, door and window products with sealing strips are
used to improve the airtightness of doors and windows which can

effectively prevent air convection heat transfer.

While in the project implementation phase, the Group requests
the establishment of an energy conservation team to promote
energy efficiency. The team is responsible for setting consumption
quotas for water and electricity, establishing rewards and penalties
and supervising the implementation of energy conservation work
plans and goals. Apart from providing training to the staff of the
Group, the energy conservation work plans will be included in the

performance appraisal of all levels of management personnel.

The Group recognises the preciousness of water resources and
implements plans to reduce water consumption. With enhanced
awareness of water conservation in the Group, all of the Group's
commercial properties are equipped with water-saving devices,
such as the use of sensor-type faucets and the installation of

pressure reducing valves.

In order to protect natural resources and enhance operating
efficiency, the Group has also established a series of policies in
respect of the use of various natural resources and energy, and
promotes energy-saving and cost-saving measures through its Staff
Handbook for employees’ reference. Policies and measures include

the following:

- the Group has energy saving measures by providing
employees with low-power-consuming computers and
energy-efficient lighting systems are deployed in all

premises;

- employees are required to switch off the lighting, air-

conditioning and equipment before leaving the premises;
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- the Group promotes the use of video conferencing or

conference calls as an alternative to travelling;

- the Group requires air conditioning temperature not to be

set below 26 degrees celsius in the summer; and

- the Group requires the use of web-based ways to replace the

paper-based leaflets when advertising.

The Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to reducing the impact of its operation
on the environment and natural resources. Therefore, in addition
to the above measures in respect of pollutants and use of resources,
the Group has also implemented a series of measures in respect of
protecting the environment and natural resources. For example,
as the light emitted from the screens of the external walls of
the Group’s shopping malls may affect the nearby residents, the
Group turns off the lighting system of the screens at 10 p.m.

every night.

B. SOCIAL

BI.

Employment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 593 employees (2017:
537 employees) in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group also
attaches great importance to employees’ rights and benefits,
and offers competitive remuneration packages to its employees
based on factors such as market wage rates, responsibilities, job
complexity as well as the Group’s performance. Meanwhile, the
Group is committed to paying all employees in full on a timely
manner, while the contributions to social security funds for its
employees are made according to applicable laws and regulations,
including but not limited to: The Social Insurance Law of the
People’s Republic of China and The Regulation on Work-Related
Injury Insurance. The Group has also adopted a share option
scheme to recognise and reward the contribution of its employees
to the growth and development of the Group. In addition, the
employees are entitled to maternity leave, marriage leave and
other leaves, as well as the rights to apply for other casual leaves
in accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

All of our employees are engaged under employment contracts
that cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds for
termination. The Group’s remuneration policies and packages are
reviewed by the management on a regular basis. The Group grants
discretionary bonuses to qualified employees based on operation

results and individual performance.
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AR BN AR A BRI 20 The Hong Kong employees are also entitled to medical insurance,
AR S (BRI I8 BFE e participation in the mandatory provident fund (under which a
Ao (DAEE ERRARR) R T % fixed percentage (subject to statutory cap) of an employee’s salary
FTH) o will be contributed towards the scheme).
T e A S ] > A B SIS RN 2B AT AR The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with any
15 BRI K2 AR ~ 1755 B Tt~ AR relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
Bk ERER S PEKE 20K the Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
S A B EL A A i A AR T ) B 7 and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
J A 2 A E R A R R T R diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
EH DL - during the Reporting Period.
A B > AR B AR AR AR AR ] During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have any
Taln i 55 T RE IN A0 4R B fY problem of child or forced labor nor did it violate any employees’
AIEHER o legitimate rights.
FLPER #) 4 B T4 Work force by Gender
H 23 k(%)
Percentage (%)
—“F-N\E “E-tE
2018 2017
it Male 54.5 47.9
otk Female 45.5 52.1
TRFE AT F] 7419 B LA Workforce by Age Group
18 305% 31Es06k S0 KDL
18-30 31-50 50 and above
—F-N\E 2018 28.3% 58.2% 13.5%
—F—hF 2017 25.0% 59.5% 15.5%
REF—/NERELRAERHI1% The staff turnover rate during 2018 is 11.1% (2017: 5.8%).

(ZE—LHF58%) o
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Employee Health and Safety

The Group endeavours to provide a safe working environment for
its employees. The Company is committed to ensuring employees’
safe working conditions, adhering to the safety management
principles of compliance with safety regulations, improving
safety facilities, raising safety awareness, and improving the work

environment.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material injury case

and nil death case.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards during the

Reporting Period.

Development and Training

During the Reporting Period, we organised regular trainings
for our employees (including health and safety, fire protection,
construction work and service campaign for our building

managers).

All new employees are required to attend orientation training
to ensure the employees are aware of and are familiar with the
Group’s values and goals and to ensure the employees understand
their respective roles in the Group. Employees are encouraged
to attend seminars relevant to their position to enhance their

respective roles within the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group organised middle and
senior management training camps to provide updates on relevant

laws and regulations and other training.
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All employees are recruited through our human resources
department to ensure they fulfill the job requirements underlying

their respective positions.

The Group regularly reviews its employment practice and the
Group’s guidelines on staff recruitment to ensure that it is in
full compliance with regulations related to, among other things,

prevention of child labour and forced labour.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to prevention of child and forced labour during the
Reporting Period.

BN A OPERATING PRACTICES
B5. 3t M G B0 R+ iy L e L B5. Management of Environmental and Social Risks in the
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Supply Chain

As a real estate developer, the Group has project supplier partners
interfaced through the Contract Department, and contracts with
the appropriate suppliers by tendering process. All the bidding
and procurement, issue of tendering notices, tendering documents
and bid opening, are processed in a standardised way by the

Contract Department.

For suppliers with which the Group collaborates for the first
time, the Group will review the information provided by these
suppliers, conduct a background survey, and require that the
suppliers provide information such as safety certification and

production safety licenses.
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Quality of Products and Services

As a real estate developer and operator, the Group has purchased
Public Liability Insurance for all commercial properties of the

Group to protect the rights and interests of the customers.

In February 2018, the Golden Wheel International Plaza was
recognised as a “2017 Fire Safety Advanced Unit”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in

relation to products and services provided.
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B7.

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to good corporate governance practices
and strictly prohibits its employees from engaging in acts of
corruption. A policy has been set up to deal with anti-corruption
complaints with a view to prevent corruption, reduce operational
risks and protect the legitimate interests of the Group. All
complaints regarding alleged corruption cases can be reported
through specific channels (including email, telephone or mail)
either on a named basis or anonymously, which will then be
investigated and handled by the legal department and internal
audit department under the guidance of the vice chairman of the

Group.

The Staff Handbook includes an Anti-Corruption section. The
Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

during the Reporting Period.
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Community Investment

The Group is committed to repaying the community and taking a

vigorous part in charity events.

Community engagement program and donation

The Group strives to contribute to the society and help create
a better living environment for the community by actively
participating in community services and charitable sponsorships.
During the Reporting Period, the Group participated in blood
donation activities organised by the Nanjing Overseas Chinese

Chamber of Commerce.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has also made donations
to various charitable organisations, including RMB10,000 to
Nanjing Charity Federation, RMB20,000 to Yandi Mausoleum
Foundation in Hunan Province, RMB50,000 to Guidong
Country Charity Federation in Hunan Province, RMB10,496 to
Children’s Social Welfare of Zhuzhou City in Hunan Province,
RMB1,000,000 to Wuguang Education Development Foundation
of Zhuzhou City in Hunan Province, and HK$18,000 to
Merchants Support for Rehabilitated Offenders Committee

Limited.
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(A)

B)

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and
enhance the performance of the Group. The Board reviews and improves
the corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure that the
Company is under the leadership of an effective board to optimise return

for the shareholders.

As a responsible business enterprise, the corporate governance
standards of the Company are built on the principles of independence,

accountability, transparency and honesty.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting the Group's
business in a transparent and responsible manner and following good
corporate governance practices serve its long-term interests and those
of shareholders. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(the “Corporate Governance Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code to govern its

corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the Year, the Company has
adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions (the “Code

Provisions”) contained in the Corporate Governance Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintain and improve its high standards of

corporate governance practices.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Upon specific enquiry, all of the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the

Year.
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The Board members for the Year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Janata David

Non-executive Directors
Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

Mr. Li Yiu Fai

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of
Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung,
Barry (an Executive Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the
wife of Mr. Suwita Janata, a Non-executive Director). Mr. Suwita Janata
is the father of Mr. Janata David (an Executive Director), and the uncle
of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam

Keung, Barry (an Executive Director).

The Board currently comprises a total of 11 Directors, with five
Executive Directors, two Non-executive Directors, and four Independent
Non-executive Directors. The number of Independent Non-executive
Directors represents more than one-third of the Board as required by
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The biographies of the Directors are set
out on pages 60 to 68 of this Annual Report.

The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) provides that at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Also, pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board is
subject to re-election at the next following general meeting or next

following annual general meeting of the Company respectively.
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ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year. Special
meetings of the Board will be convened whenever necessary. The Board

convened a total of four meetings for the Year.

Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings, Board
committee meetings and the annual general meeting during the Year

were as follows:

W BT E R R
Meeting Attended/Held
EUEZAEE  HMZEET  RHAZHE RAEEFRE

Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Committee Committee Committee Meeting

- - 2/2 1/1
- - 2/2 1/1
- 2/2 - 11
- 2/2 - 11

- - - /1
- . - 11
- - - 11
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Board

4/4
4/4
414
4/4
4/4
4/4
414
4/4

% Ton x e
Meeting Attended/Held

EHZAE FMEZAE REZHEHT RAREERT

Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting
- - 2/2 0/1

- - 2/2 0/1

3/3 2/2 - 1/1
3/3 2/2 - 11
3/3 - 2/2 11
3/3 - 2/2 1/1
3/3 2/2 - 1/1
3/3 2/2 - 11

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Company
in a responsible and effective manner. It is responsible for formulating
strategies and management policies of the Company, approving the
strategic objectives of the Company and ensuring the availability of
necessary financial and other resources to meet such objectives. The
Board also constantly supervises and reviews the Company’s regulations
and rules. The Directors perform their duties in a faithful and diligent
manner and act in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders

as a whole.

Moreover, the Board is responsible for presenting a clear and balanced
assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects, preparing
accounts that give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial
position on a going concern basis and disclosing other price-sensitive

information.

The management is responsible for implementing the policies and
strategies as determined by the Board, and is delegated with the daily

management, operations and administration of the Company.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors (‘“INEDs”),
at least one of whom has appropriate financial management expertise in

compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
all of the INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board is of the view that all of the INEDs are independent in accordance

with the Listing Rules.

DIRECTOR TRAINING

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company's operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under the relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company
Secretary and our legal advisors also provide the Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other

relevant legal and regulatory requirement from time to time.

All of the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company has arranged in-house trainings for the Directors to

update and refresh their relevant knowledge during the Year.

The of the Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr. Wong Kam Fai,
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Mr. Janata David,
Mr. Suwita Janata, Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Mr. Wong Ying Loi, Mr. Lie
Tak Sen, Mr. Li Yiu Fai and Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie had confirmed
that they had complied with the Code Provision A.6.5 of the Corporate
Governance Code during the Year by participating in continuous

professional development.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(E)

(F)

The Chairman, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, has executive responsibilities and
provides leadership to the Board in terms of establishing policies and
business directions. He ensures that the Board works effectively and
discharges its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. He also ensures that all
of the Directors are propetly briefed on issues to be discussed at Board
meetings. Mr. Wong Kam Fai, the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible
for overseeing the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Mr.
Wong Yan Yin is the father of Mr. Wong Kam Fai.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive
Directors has entered into a formal letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year or two years, subject to termination
provisions therein and retirement by rotation in accordance with the

Articles of Association.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company currently has established three committees with respective
responsibilities, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All of the
Board committees are empowered by the Board under their terms of
reference which have been posted on the websites of the Company and

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial
reporting process, half-yearly and annual results, risk management and
internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function
performed by the internal audit department of the Group and provide
advice and comments to the Board. The Audit Committee consists of
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Yiu Fai, Mr.
Lie Tak Sen and Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie. The Chairman of the Audit

Committee is Mr. Li Yiu Fai.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings to review
the interim results and annual results and to review and provide
recommendation on the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems. All of the members of the Audit Committee attended
the meetings. The Chief Financial Officer and the representatives of the

external auditor of the Company also attended the meetings.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the
Ditectors on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on such
remuneration; to assess performance of each Executive Director; to
recommend to the Board on the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each Executive Director and senior management; and to
review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference to the
corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Directors from time to
time. The Remuneration Committee consists of two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie and Mr. Lie Tak
Sen, and an Executive Director, Mr. Wong Kam Fai. The Chairman of

the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under Code
Provision B.1.2(c)(ii) to make recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior

management of the Company.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
to assess the performance of the Executive Directors, review
the remuneration of the Executive Directors under their service
contracts and the remuneration policies of the Company, and made
recommendations to the Board. All of the members of the Remuneration

Committee attended the meetings.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis; to make recommendations
to the Board regarding any proposed changes; to identify, select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships; to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or reappointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination
Committee consists of an Executive Director, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, and
two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Ying Loi
and Mr. Li Yiu Fai. The Chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr.
Wong Yam Yin.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy, setting
out the approach to diversity on the Board. It is believed that a truly
diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in the skills,
regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of the members of the Board. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, which include gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, regional
and industry experience, skills, knowledge and other qualities. The
Company will take these perspectives into account in determining the
optimum composition of the Board which, when possible, should be
balanced appropriately. In informing its perspective on diversity, the
Company will also take into account factors relating to its own business
model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will

bring to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination policy,
setting out the approach for nominating and appointing a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to
the existing Board. Selection of candidates will be based on criteria
including character and integrity, qualifications, any measurable
objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board, any potential
contributions that the candidate can bring to the Board and the
candidate’s willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
his/her duties. Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of a new
Director and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, the Nomination Committee will evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. If the process yields one or more
desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee will rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and recommend

to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings to
assess the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors,
recommend the re-appointment of Directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and review the policies implemented by the
Nomination Committee. All of the members of the Nomination

Committee attended the meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
which include developing, reviewing and approving the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Corporate

Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board held meetings to review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and perform the duties as

set out above.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and clear assessment
of the Group’s performance and prospects. The Directors acknowledged
their responsibility for preparing the accounts that give a true and
fair view on the Group’s financial position on a going-concern basis
and other financial disclosures. Management of the Company provides
all relevant information to the Board, giving its members sufficient
explanation and information that they need to discharge their
responsibilities. A statement by the auditor of the Company in respect
of their reporting responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditors’

Report section contained in this Annual Report.

The fees for interim review and audit services provided by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s auditor, for the period ended 30 June
2018 and for the Year amounted to RMB450,000 and RMB1,340,000
respectively. There were no other services provided by the Company’s

auditor during the Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company
Secretary reports to the Board and is responsible for advising the Board
on governance matters. Mr. Yiu Chi Man has been appointed as the
Company Secretary in September 2017. Mr. Yiu has confirmed that for
the Year, he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training. The biographical details of Mr. Yiu is set out on page 69 of this

Annual Report.

On 1 April 2019, Ms. Lee Wai Yan who is also a full time employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs,
was appointed as the Company Secretary to replace Mr. Yiu so that Mr.
Yiu could concentrate on his role as the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. The biographical details of Ms. Lee is set out on page 69 of

this Annual Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company to
propose new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law (2012 Revision). However, pursuant to the Articles of

Association, it provides that:

Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary

general meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the
“Eligible Shareholders”) shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board

shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information
of the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company at the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong located at Unit A, 18/F, Lee & Man
Commercial Center, 169 Electric Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong. The

Company will endeavour to respond in a timely manner.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’

meetings

Eligible Shareholder who wishes to put forward proposal(s) at
shareholders’ meeting which is to be held, should submit a written
notice of the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong located at Unit A, 18/F,
Lee & Man Commercial Center, 169 Electric Road, Fortress Hill, Hong
Kong. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders who wish to
put forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general meeting
by following the procedure set out in “Procedure for shareholders to

convene an extraordinary general meeting” above.
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Procedure for shareholders to propose a person for election

as a director at a general meeting

If a shareholder intends to propose a person for election as a Director
at any general meeting, he must sign a notice (the “Notice”) stating
his intention to propose such person for election. The Notice must
include the biographical details of the proposed person as required
by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a letter of consent signed
by the proposed person stating his willingness to be elected shall be
lodged with the Company at its principal place of business in Hong
Kong located at Unit A, 18/F, Lee & Man Commercial Center, 169
Electric Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong; or the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, located at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, with
at least (7) days’ notice given. If the Notices are submitted after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election,
the period for lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such

general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper
investor relations play a vital role in creating shareholders’ value,
enhancing the corporate transparency as well as establishing market
confidence. As such, the Company has adopted a stringent internal
control system to ensure true, accurate, complete and timely disclosure
of information in order to ensure all shareholders as well as the public
have equal access to information. The management of the Company has
proactively taken and will continue to take the following measures to

ensure effective shareholders’ communication and transparency:

. Maintain frequent contacts with shareholders and investors

through various channels such as meetings, telephone and emails;

. Regularly update the Company’s news and developments through

the investor relations section of the Company's website;

. Arrange on-site visits to the Group's projects for potential

investors and research analysts.
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Through the above measures, the Company endeavors to communicate
with the investment community and provide them with the latest

development of the Group and the PRC real estate industry.

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing
Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary
focus of the Company is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair,
accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors

as well as the public to make rational and informed decisions.

In addition, shareholders and investors are welcome to write their
enquires directly to the Board a) by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong, b) by fax on (852) 2566 3070
or ¢) by email at IR@gwtd.com.hk.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
of the Group and for reviewing and maintaining the effectiveness of the
systems. Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and

regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and
assessed on an on-going basis by the Executive Directors, and are further
reviewed and assessed by the Board on an annual basis to ensure that the

systems in place are effective and adequate.

During the Year, the internal audit department of the Group has
conducted an assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and the assessment result was

positive.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has
conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management aspects. The systems were

considered effective and adequate.
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In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks and to resolve material internal control defects (if any).
Senior management, through the Group’s internal audit department,
is responsible for the annual risk reporting process. Members of the
internal audit department meet with various members of the senior
management to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to address
material internal control defects (if any), including any changes relevant
to a given year. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation
plans are documented. The risk assessment is reviewed by certain
members of senior management and presented to the Audit Committee

and the Board for their review.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management based on (i) the
severity of the impact of the risk on the Company’s financial results; (ii)
the probability that the risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at

which a risk could occur.

The Group's risk management framework includes the following

elements:

. identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment

and evaluate the impacts of those risks on the Group's business;

° develop necessary measures to manage those risks;

. monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The controls built into the risk management system are intended
to manage, not eliminate, significant risks in the Group’s business

environment.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance. The system aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage,

risks of failure in achieving the Company’s objectives.

The internal audit department reports the internal audit plan and results

to the Audit Committee directly.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company has formulated an inside information policy providing

guidelines on handling inside information.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, setting out principles
and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the
declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends
to the shareholders of the Company. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees developing a
dividend distribution system as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
The declaration of dividends, in addition to the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, is subject to the
discretion of the Board, which the Company expects will take into
account the financial results, shareholders’ interests, general business
conditions and strategies, capital requirements, contractual restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders or by
the Company’s subsidiaries to the Company, taxation considerations,
possible effects on creditworthiness, and statutory and regulatory
restrictions. The Company intends to distribute not more than 50%
of its net distributable profits as dividends to its shareholders for each

financial year, subject to the conditions and factors as set out above.
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Below are the biographies of the current Directors and senior management of

the Group.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (E8E) , aged 77, is an Executive Director, and the
Chairman of our Board and Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the
founders of our Group and our controlling shareholders. He is responsible
for our overall strategy, business and investment planning. Mr. Wong was

appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience in business management. He
established Golden Wheel Trading Company Limited ( 45 & 5 A BR 2~ )
in 1983 in Hong Kong to engage in metal trading business. He, together with
his wife Ms. Hung So Ling and his elder son Mr. Wong Kam Fai, established

our Group in 1994 to engage in real estate development business.

Other than his role in our Group, Mr. Wong is involved in various associations,

including being:

U a consultant of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

. a Standing Council Member of China Overseas Exchange Association®;

o a Standing Deputy Chairman of China Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

U a Permanent Honorary President and Vice President of Hong Kong

Federation of Overseas Chinese Association*;

o a Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiao Yao Association®;

U a Chairman & CEO of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*;

. a Standing Director of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations®;

o a Standing Director of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong

Community Organisations*; and

U the Honorary Principal of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Qiaoxin School*.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong received various awards in recognition of his contribution to the
society, including the “Chief Executive’'s Commendation for Community
Service (fTHU R H#IRIRF 24K) * by the Hong Kong government in
2004, the “Prize for Outstanding Contribution to Beichuan Middle School*”
by All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese Association*®, the
“Manufacturer with Honesty and Integrity of 2010” by All-China Federation
of Industry and Commerce, Hardware and Electromechanical Chamber in
2010, the “Award of Outstanding Chinese” jointly held by Global Outstanding
Chinese Association and Chinese Literature Publishing House in 2014, and the
“Honor of Serving Chinese Society” by Overseas’ Chinese Office of the State
Council* in 2014.

Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in physics from Huaqiao University in

1967.

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr.
Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an
Executive Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr. Suwita

Janata, a Non-executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Report
— Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (LS aged 48, is an Executive Director, a Vice
Chairman of our Board, the Chief Executive Officer of our Group and a
member of our Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the founders of
our Group and our controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong held several positions
within our Group immediately after obtaining his bachelor’s degree. He has
been the General Manager of Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate Development
Company Limited since 1 May 1994 and Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited since 1 July 2002, respectively. Mr. Wong is responsible for
our overall business operation and management. Mr. Wong was appointed as
a Director on 26 April 2012. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the

real estate industry.
Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

. a member of Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s

Political Consultative Conference®;
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. hELHERERREEZE . a member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

. T 16 AL B e R R U a Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese
Associations®;

. BHTLRAAL B AR e R 7% . a Deputy Chairman of Federation of HK Jiangsu Community
Organisation®;

o FEBEESARAFINES

a Chairman and Director of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited;

. TLHAE THERGEHE; o a standing committee member of All-China Federation of Industry &

Commerce of Jiangsu Province*;

. IHE LEEEEReeR o Chairman of Real Estate Chamber of Jiangsu Provincial Federation of

Industry & Commence*;

. BB g R X o a Deputy Chairman of Jiangsu Provincial Overseas Exchange

Association®; and

. mrlEHRErEReEHRER- U a Standing Deputy Chairman of Nanjing Overseas Chinese Chamber of

Commerce*.

F IR — JUILIE AR S A AT R B e B K Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in computer science from The
B AR R B . University of New South Wales of Australia in June 1994.

FEMSEE AT E S OB R R L+t Mr. Wong Kam Fai is the elder son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an Executive
MR RPUATES MR - Director) and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kam

Keung, Barry (an Executive Director).

A AL B IR A B AR BRI A AR R RS The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of

T B B R 051 565 VAo SCZEC T 6 8 2 i U AR AR the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the

[ EF G —E R R FEATBON B R A section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests

R B0y e FE R R P i i SR | — i and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this
Annual Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (E#m) aged 45, is an Executive
Director and the Standing Vice President of our Group. He is also one of our
controlling shareholders. He is responsible for administration, human resources
management and projects development of the Group in Hunan province. Mr.
Wong joined our Group in 1996. Mr. Wong has been the General Manager
of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate Limited since 1 August 2004 and
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Business Management Limited since 1 February 2010,
respectively. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012. He has

over 20 years of experience in the real estate industry.
Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

U a member of Hunan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s

Political Consultative Conference®;

o a member of Youth Committee of All-China Federation of Returned

Overseas Chinese Association®;

o a standing committee member of Guangdong Provincial Overseas

Chinese Association®;

. a Deputy Chairman of Shenzhen Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

o a Deputy Chairman of Hunan Provincial Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

. a Director of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations*;

o a standing committee member of Hunan Provincial Federation of

Returned Overseas Chinese Association®;

U a standing committee member of Changsha Overseas Fraternal

Association®; and

o a standing committee member of Nanjing Overseas Fraternal

Association*®.
Mr. Wong completed the Foundation Studies Certificate Course of Unisearch

Limited (now known as New South Innovations Pty Limited, an entity
controlled by The University of New South Wales of Australia) in 1993.
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Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry is the younger son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an
Executive Director) and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the younger brother of Mr.

Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this

Annual Report.

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, aged 68, is an Executive Director and a Vice Chairman
of our Board. Mr. Tjie is responsible for overseeing our Group’s operation, and
formulating our Group’s investment strategies. He joined our Group in 2002.

Mr. Tjie was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Tjie is an Indonesian Chinese. Being an entrepreneur, he established his

own manufacturing business in Indonesia in the 1970s.

Mr. Tjie is involved in various associations, including being:

o a counselling member of Indonesia Kota Bandung Social Welfare Fund*;
J a Chairman of Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association®;

. a Charter President of Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International®;

U an Honorary Chairman of Guangdong Provincial Federation of

Indonesian Social Institutes*;

o an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Hakka Chinese Association®;
. an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Mei Zhou Club*; and
. an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Chinese Association®.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Tjie in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual

Report.

64 A R ¥ B4 B A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



Janata DavidJB% > 375K HATEF - WA FEHRK
MR BEH BR - R — R A MAREE -
Janata David/E/E R % — Z 4 A Z 475 BRI
RH#EH

Janata David 6 /E Sy EJEHe46 o B —F —F4EE -
F—— B AR EN s B BB R~
] The Royal Beach Seminyak Baliff& T 448 5 o i Bl 1.
RIEIW AR ZFF N\ AFEEJEINLPT Golden
JMitra Property » 7E B Je 08 2 75 Hb e B 3% S5

Janata DavidJEE 4 Z %% A+ Z SN E3
PRI R LB R FFNE+ S
IR — 1 ER A 74 3 AR AR L B2 A o

Janata David56 4 £ 3F 9117 # S Suwita Janaca’B A K
Julia OscarZC - # 52 F © Julia Oscar & +: RUITERE
KB SEA LR o BRI > Janata DaviddEA4E £ T 8RB
SEAERISNE o

FHhAT g

Suwita JanatadB2E > 6875 > JEPUTHE FHEF G E
J& o B T AF AL o Suwita JanataJE A
e St JUIDS Rt AN B S G R £

Suwita JanatadT A 55 ENJE HE MG o O — it &L £+
ERBGLEASIE 5 Fl R AR -

Suwita Janata 5 BUL KRB I —FF A\ TE
EDJERSLPT Golden M Mitra Property » £ ENJEAE 7
i E B BE S

Suwita Janata¥o 4 2 BLZ (R AL 4% - BARIEAT -

o R EZ B e IUES € R T
EN*

o ENJEVHJINHE T & ff 0 SE R AT EAE
o MR ARER R LARAE S E R &

o  HESEMEAFEER-

R R M A B A

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Janata David, aged 37, is an Executive Director. He is responsible for
managing our investors’ relationship. He joined our Group in 2005. Mr. Janata

David was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Janata David is an Indonesia Chinese. He served as a general manager of
The Royal Beach Seminyak Bali, a company running a resort hotel in Bali,
Indonesia, from 2010 to 2011. He and his family members established PT
Golden and Mitra Property in Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property

development business in Indonesia.

Mr. Janata David received his bachelor’s degree in business from Monash
University in Australia in December 2002 and his master’s degree in business

systems from the same university in December 2004.

Mr. Janata David is the son of Mr. Suwita Janata (a Non-executive Director)
and Ms. Julia Oscar who is the sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an Executive

Director). Therefore, Mr. Janata David is a nephew of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Suwita Janata, aged 68, is a Non-executive Director and a Vice Chairman
of our Board. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Suwita Janata was appointed
as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Suwita Janata is an Indonesian Chinese. He commenced his career as an
entrepreneur by establishing his own trading company in the 1970s. Mr.
Suwita Janata and his family members established PT Golden and Mitra
Property in Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property development

business in Indonesia.
Mr. Suwita Janata has been involved in various associations, including being:

o the former Executive Chairman of Chinese Committee of Indonesia

Chamber of Commerce (West Java)*;

the former head of the Indonesia Chamber of Commerce (West Java),

Commerce Division*;

an advisory council member of Indonesia Bandung Yayasan Dana Welfare

Foundation*; and

U the Vice Chairman of Indonesia Bandung Minnan Gonghui*.
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Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of Mr. Janata David (an Executive Director) and
the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar, who is the sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an
Executive Director). Mr. Suwita Janata is the uncle of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an

Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Suwita Janata in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out
in the section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in

this Annual Report.

Mr. Gunawan Kiky, aged 71, is a Non-executive Director. He joined our

Group in 2002. Mr. Gunawan was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Gunawan is an Indonesian Chinese. In the 1980s, he established his own

trading business.

Mr. Gunawan joined Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International* in
1989. In 2000, Mr. Gunawan founded Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese

Association* and has been a financial supervisor of the association.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Gunawan in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this

Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ying Loi (# 32K ) | aged 74, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong was
appointed as a Director on 10 December 2012. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of
experience in business management. He has been operating his own trading

and manufacturing business since the 1980s.
Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:
o the Chairman of Chiao Yao Association Limited*;

o a member of the Ninth and Tenth sessions of the Chinese People’s

Political Consultative Committee of Hubei province*; and
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. an honorary member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas

Chinese Association®.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in English from Huaqiao University in July
1968.

Mr. Lie Tak Sen (ZE#4:) | aged 70, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of our Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Lie was appointed as a Director on 10 December 2012. Mr. Lie has over
20 years of experience in business management. He has been operating his own

trading business since 1990.
Mr. Lie is involved in various associations, including being:

o a member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese

Association®; and
U a consultant of Beijing Returned Overseas Chinese Federation*.

Mr. Li Yiu Fai (ZEM#) | aged 46, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our
Nomination Committee. Mr. Li was appointed as a Director on 20 May 2017.
Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in the fund industry, with comprehensive

knowledge in accounting, financing, fund operations and financial products.

Mr. Li is currently a director and the chief operating officer of Persistent Asset
Partners Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong
which is licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) to carry
on Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated

activities in Hong Kong.

Prior to joining Persistent Asset Partners Limited, Mr. Li served as the director
of Fund Services in Fortis Intertrust Hong Kong (Fortis Group) and the
Director of Business Information Management in Fortis Prime Fund Solutions

(Asia) Ltd (Fortis Group).

Mr. Li also holds licenses of Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9
(Asset Management) granted by the SFC and is a Fellow of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom and a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
completed his Master of Business System degree from Monash University and
Bachelor of Science degree in Physics from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong.
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Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (%% ) | aged 51, is an Independent Non-
executive Director, the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a
member of our Audit Committee. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 1
August 2017. Mr. Wong has over 10 years of experience in business strategies

and corporate management.
Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

- a member of the 13th National Committee of the Chinese People’s

Political Consultative Conference*;

- a member of the 11th, 12th and 13th Guangzhou Municipal Committee

of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference*;

- Vice President and Secretary General of Hong Kong Federation of

Overseas Chinese Associations;

- a standing committee member of Hong Kong Petroleum, Chemicals and

Pharmaceutical Materials Merchants Association; and
- a vice president of Centum Charitas Foundation.

Mr. Wong is currently a managing director of Wah Fu Petroleum Company
Limited, the business of which includes the wholesale distribution of
petroleum and petroleum products. Mr. Wong is mainly responsible for
overseeing the financial performance, and implementing the business strategies

of that company.

He is also a director of Chuan Chiong Company, Limited, which is involved
in the trading and wholesale of proprietary Chinese medicine, food product
and tea, where he is involved in the determination of that company’s strategic
objectives and policies and monitoring its overall achievement. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Ahsay Backup Software Development
Company Limited which is engaged in the provision of online backup software
solutions to clients via the internet, and listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with stock code 8290.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Biomedical Engineering
from Boston University, the United States, and a Master of Engineering
(Electrical) degree from Cornell University, the United States, in May 1990 and
August 1991 respectively.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu Chi Man (#k%¥ 3C) is the Chief Financial Officer and was the
Company Secretary of the Group during the reporting period. On 1 April
2019, Mr. Yiu resigned as the Company Secretary as he would like to
concentrate on his role as the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Yiu is responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial management and regulatory compliance. He
has approximately 20 years’ experience of providing audit and advisory services
to listed companies and multinational companies with a focus on properties and

financial services industries.

Mzr. Yiu joined the Group in 2013. Before joining the Group, Mr. Yiu was a
partner of KPMG China.

Mr. Yiu obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 1993. Mr. Yiu is a fellow member of the
Chartered Association of Certified Public Accountants, and an associate

member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Lee Wai Yan (25 8) is the Company Secretary of the Group since
April 2019. Ms. Lee is responsible for overseeing the corporate governance,

regulatory compliance and investor relations of the Group.

Ms. Lee joined the Group in March 2018. Before joining the Group, Ms. Lee
was the company secretary of a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.

Ms. Lee obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) degree
in Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong and was admitted as
a Chartered Secretary by completing the International Qualifying Scheme in
2010. She is an associate member of both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (the “ICSA”) and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries (the “HKICS”). She was awarded the Chartered Governance
Professional qualification from the ICSA and the HKICS in September 2018.

Mr. Tao Kang (P8R ) is the Standing Deputy General Manager of the Group.
Mr. Tao is responsible for overseeing our project management. Mr. Tao joined
the Group in 2006. Before joining the Group, Mr. Tao worked at various
companies, including being the Deputy Director of Nanjing Science and
Technology Hall*.
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Mr. Tao obtained his diploma in industrial and civil construction from
the Southeast University* in 1994. Mr. Tao obtained his senior engineer
qualification in 2007 and is a Registered Supervision Engineer and a Certified

Constructor.

Ms. Sun Hui Hong ( PRIZAL) is the Assistant Vice President of the Group.
She is responsible for financial management. Ms. Sun joined the Group in
2009. Before joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked at various companies,
including being the financial controller of Xinshi (Nanjing) Textile Co., Ltd*
and the audit supervisor of Ren Tianhua Zhongxing CPA, Jiangsu Branch*.

In 2001, she obtained her certified accountant qualification.

Mr. Chen Gang (Bi#) is the Deputy Financial Manager of the Group. He
is responsible for financial management. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2012.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked at various companies, including
being the Financial Controller of Jiangsu Joyque Information Industry Co.,

Led* and the financial manager of Intech Group*.

Mr. Chen obtained his diploma in economic management from Hehai
University in 1999. In 2000, he obtained his middle level accountant

qualification. In 2013, he obtained his advanced level accountant qualification.

Mr. Sun Yang (f&#%7) is the Sales Director of the Group and the Deputy
General Manager in Yangzhou operations. Mr. Sun is responsible for overseeing
our sales and marketing. Mr. Sun joined the Group in 2008. Before joining
the Group, Mr. Sun worked in various companies including being the sales
supervisor and vice president of Nanjing Haoliyi Real Property Consultancy

Company Limited*.

Mr. Sun holds the Real Estate Sales Qualification issued by the Training Center

of National Real Estate Trade*.

Mr. Sun obtained his diploma in real estate operation and property

management from Yangzhou Polytechnic College* in June 2002.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Gu Xiaofang (BBEF) is the General Manager of Golden Wheel Time
Square. Ms. Gu is responsible for overseeing the operation of Golden Wheel
Time Square. Ms. Gu joined the Group in 2010. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Gu worked at various companies, including being the assistant to the
general manager and marketing manager of Zhuzhou Dajiang Property Service
Management Company Limited* and a deputy general manager of Jindi

Property Management Company*.

Ms. Gu is a member of the Ladies Apparel Committee of the Hunan Province

Apparel Industry Association*.

Ms. Gu obtained her diploma in business management from Hubei Radio and

TV University* in July 1996.

Ms. Jiang Jian ({8 ) is the Standing Deputy General Manager of Golden
Wheel Xintiandi Mall. Ms. Jiang is responsible for overseeing the operation of
Golden Wheel Xintiandi Mall. Ms. Jiang joined the Group in 2006. She has
over 15 years of experience in the management of large scale shopping mall.
Before joining the Group, Ms. Jiang worked at various companies, including
being the vice general manager of Nanjing Shangmao Shopping Center*
and the general supervisor of Zhongnan Holdings Group Company Limited

(subsidiary commercial company).

*  For identification purposes only
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The Board is pleased to present the Annual Report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries
established in the PRC are primarily engaged in property development,
property leasing and hotel operation. The activities and particulars of the
Company's subsidiaries are shown under note 50 to the consolidated financial
statements. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the
Year by principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report and note 6 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page 102 of this Annual

Report.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.9 cents per
share (the “Proposed Final Dividend”) for the Year. Subject to the approval of
the Proposed Final Dividend by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company (the “AGM”) convened to be held on Friday, 24 May 2019,
it is expected that the Proposed Final Dividend will be payable on Thursday,
13 June 2019 to the shareholders whose names are listed on the register of

members of the Company on Friday, 31 May 2019.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a)

(b)

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 21
May 2019 to Friday, 24 May 2019 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote
at the AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 May 2019.

For determining the entitlement to the Proposed Final
Dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
30 May 2019 to Friday, 31 May 2019 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to qualify for the Proposed Final Dividend, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
29 May 2019.F

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year

are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ISSUANCE OF SENIOR NOTES

On 11 January 2018, the Company issued USD200 million senior notes
bearing coupon rate of 7% per annum and due in January 2021 (the “USD
2021 Notes”). The USD 2021 Notes have been admitted to the official list of
The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the USD 2021 Notes to
refinance existing indebtedness, fund new projects and for general corporate

purposes.

SET UP AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

For the Year, the Company has set up and/or acquired a total of 56 subsidiaries,
the details of which are set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company did not have any material disposals of subsidiaries or

affiliated companies for the Year.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount of the distributable reserves of
the Company was RMB279.4 million.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

and notes 38 and 49, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report and notes 34, 35

and 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

With respect to the senior notes in the principal amount of USD300,000,000
with a coupon rate of 8.25% per annum and due in 2019 (the “USD 2019
Notes”), the Company repurchased part of the USD 2019 Notes in the
aggregate principal amount of USD12,000,000 in November and December
2018. After the cancellation of the repurchased USD 2019 Notes on 19
December 2018, the aggregate principal amount of the USD 2019 Notes which
remains outstanding and subject to the terms of the indenture governing the
USD 2019 Notes is USD288,000,000 as at 19 December 2018. Please refer to
the announcements published by the Company on the Stock Exchange and The

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited dated 20 December 2018.

Save as disclosed above, there was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company's listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the law of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company is incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

Details on the charges of the Group’s assets and guarantees provided by the
Group are set out in notes 14, 15, 19, 23, 24, 30 and 43 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

Mzr. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Mzr. Janata David

Non-executive Directors

Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

Mzr. Li Yiu Fai

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at the AGM and be eligible for re-election. Also,
any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
is subject to re-election at the next following general meeting or the next
following AGM, respectively. Accordingly, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (
$%%8) , Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Mr. Wong Ying Loi (#{ %23 ) and Mr. Lie Tak
Sen (ZF# /) shall retire from office at the AGM and, being eligible, will

offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the

Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from the listing date, and
may thereafter be renewed for a term of two years by agreement between the
parties and in accordance with our Articles of Association and the applicable
laws. Either the Company or the Executive Director may terminate the service
contract at any time by giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to

the other.

Each of our Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from the listing date, and may
thereafter be renewed for a term of two years in accordance with our Articles of
Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the Non-executive
Director may terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less

than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our Independent Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment
lecter with the Company for a term of one/two years, and may be renewed
for a term of one year in accordance with our Articles of Association and
the applicable laws. The term of the appointment letters of Mr. Wong Ying
Loi and Mr. Lie Tak Sen commenced from the listing date. The term of
the appointment letters of Mr. Li Yiu Fai and Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
commenced on 20 May 2017 and 1 August 2017 respectively. Either the
Company or the Independent Non-executive Director may terminate the
appointment letter at any time by giving not less than one month’s notice in

writing to the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed for election or
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract/appointment letter
with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment

of compensation.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration (including fees, salaries and other benefits, and retirement
benefit scheme contribution) paid to our Directors in aggregate for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were approximately RMB25.8 million and
RMB14.6 million, respectively.

The remuneration (including salaries and other benefits, and retirement benefit
scheme contribution) paid to our Group’s five highest paid individuals in
aggregate for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were approximately
RMB28.3 million and RMB16.8 million, respectively.

For the Year, no emoluments were paid by our Group to any Director or any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining our
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived
any emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017.

Save as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, by our Group to or

on behalf of any of the Directors.

LOAN OR GUARANTEE FOR LOAN GRANTED TO THE
DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Group had not made any loan or provided any guarantee
for any loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management, its

controlling shareholders or their respective close associates.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief profiles of the current Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management”of this Annual Report.
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Directors’ Report

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) adopted
by the Company on 10 December 2012, the Directors may invite participants
(including any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive
Directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies or any other person whom the
Directors considers, in their sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute
to the Group) (the “Participants”) to take up options at a price determined
by the Board provided that it shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing
price of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date on which an offer is made by the
Company to the grantee (which date must be a business day, “Offer Date”);
(b) a price being the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the Offer Date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
the Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group and any entity which the Group holds any equity

interest.

The Share Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years

commencing from 10 December 2012.
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The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 180,000,000, being 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue immediately following the completion of the
initial public offering of the Company, unless the Company obtains a fresh

approval from the shareholders to refresh the limit.

In respect of the maximum entitlement for each Participant, the total number
of the Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted
under the Share Option Scheme to each Participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders

at a general meeting of the Company.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted by any Participant
who accepts the offer by signing the letter of acceptance together with a
remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of
the option within such period as our Board may determine and specify in the

offer letter.

The option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the option period which may be determined and
notified by the Board to the grantee at the time of making an offer which shall

not expire later than 10 years from the grant date.

During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. There were 8,700,000 share options

outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2018 and the date of this Annual Report, the total number
of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 171,300,000

shares, representing approximately 9.5% of the issued Shares.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme and the share options granted

thereunder, please refer to note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing

Rules, were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

WA Long positions
AR AT
ey A B CBAT B ACHE 2
EREEH ES/Vg t i B 48 9 WA 2 b
Aggregate Approximate %
number of of interest in
shares or the issued
underlying share capital
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares of the Company
EHE paei i £ 692,727,600 38.43%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
B o) O Z AL P 692,727,600 38.43%
Wong Kam Fai® Interest of a controlled corporation
ER 1 15 W i 692,727,600 38.43%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry" Interest of a controlled corporation
Tjie Tjin Fung®? 37 ¥ B R £ 80,268,950 4.45%
Interest of a controlled corporation
Suwita Janata® Pk B AR A E AR 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of a controlled corporation/
Interest of spouse
Gunawan Kiky® Z ek B £ 86,118,950 4.77%

Interest of a controlled corporation
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1

(2)

(3)

“)

FHEEA WMRR L EMEELE R ER®
FEAEBEA IR O A o ESB A R H Rk ([F
R ) M0 22 v ey B 2B A PR AR A Y
692,727,600 B 3 o £ S B S A B I A0 Jy
FFE o BT A R R T A BB S B
WRB L LR T

Tjie Tjin Fung’tH: A Y M 6 €0 45 diTjie e 4
RHFERA WA TSI EARATHEHM
80,268,950/ J ff3 o

Suwita Janata & HEA A 645 () HH Suwita Janata
Stk A BRI A T R A I P IRCA R A A
T 180,268,950 B » K (ii)Julia Oscark + %
YA I o T A T K R HE A BR A R R
48,270,450 F 1 > Suwita JanataE/E % Julia Oscar
2o SR e SR e A I K o

Gunawan Kiky G4 HEA MR G G5 G) Gunawan’t
LGB A ) OB A R A A R
#980,268,950 B B £y > Je(ii) GunawanE k74 #Y
5,850,000 B A 173 ©

Notes:

1)

(2)

(3)

“4)

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 692,727,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Wong Yam Yin and his family (che
“Wong Family”). Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife.
Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin
and Ms. Hung So Ling.

Shares owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung consist of 80,268,950 shares held by Chun Hung

Investments Limited, a company owned by Mr. Tjie and his family.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita
Janata, and (ii) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company
Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the

husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Fire
Spark Holdings Limited, a company owned by Mr. Gunawan and his family, and (ii)
5,850,000 shares held by Mr. Gunawan.
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A A w] A RE RS I RE 25 Interests in debentures of the Company:
T ] —
CHE iR R
EREEH ELiVg i3 i B £ 1 M e fiE B = W H
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures in
Currency of debentures same class
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest debentures bought in issue
EHE XL £ 2,000,000 288,000,000
Wong Yam Yin Interest of a controlled corporation® USD
XL £ 1,600,000 200,000,000
Interest of a controlled corporation” USD
At 3,600,000
Total:
T i fi XL £ 2,000,000 288,000,000
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation® USD
XL £ 1,600,000 200,000,000
Interest of a controlled corporation” USD
At 3,600,000
Total:
ER T XL £ 2,000,000 288,000,000
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation® USD
XL £ 1,600,000 200,000,000
Interest of a controlled corporation” USD
i i £ 1,200,000 200,000,000
Interest of spouse” USD
At 4,800,000
Total:
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CHE R RT
EREH B4/ HER HEE R EREBR Y B HA
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures in
Currency of debentures same class
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest debentures bought in issue
Gunawan Kiky HHEA A B 400,000 288,000,000
Beneficial owner uSD
IEEE Z-DN ESn 1,600,000 200,000,000
Beneficial owner uSD
BE: 2,000,000
Total:
Ry IEEE Z-DN ESn 1,000,000 288,000,000
Lie Tak Sen Beneficial owner uSD
WA IEEE Z-DN ESn 200,000 288,000,000
Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie Beneficial owner UsDh
LR IEEE Z-DN ESn 200,000 200,000,000
Wong Ying Loi Beneficial owner Uush
B 5 - Notes:

() HHEHTHBLE UER L THEEERE
§ 5 0 A SR R A B84 Bl £52,000,0003 76 &
1,600,000 3% 7T {9 £ 188 o 1 T EQ R 1 1 A 20 ) 4
W B A PR A REA o

) ZERMEEHEHERIE R TR & LA -

bR £SO IR S > SRE IR 1 % — /4
TZA=t—H EHEAR R RATEA B
BRI RE RS IR SO BV 352000 T RC Bk -
SZERR A b TR B Bk BT O B S U 5 AT
BN T S ETA L R SCHAT AT AHIBA (5
75 LR 25 B B R )55 XV T ) FBE0 ~ AR R AR 073 £
PR PO M 8 B A

(1) These debentures are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling,
Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry in a sum of USD2,000,000
and USD1,600,000 respectively, which are held by Golden Wheel Realty Company

Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family.

2) These debentures are owned by Ms. Chan Yuk Kwan Elisa who is the spouse of Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2018, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.
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FEB R RN L RS RMEBERE  SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
B i B 2% PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

RZF—NE+ZA=1—H RAL A A A As at 31 December 2018, the interests and/or short positions of the persons
By > A L RC BRI A AR R R 5 M B iR in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
1533615 LA £ B 1) 8 i > BUZE IR IR R 25 S0 required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or
BRI 58 VAR 552 52 5 303 Al 1) AR 2 ) B B 22 B which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange

B K SIR AT pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:
TA AR 2 W) Jie Ay B A TR L A P B Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company:
AL H
ey A B CBAT B ACHE 2
R A, W4 S/ s Bt 4 48 0 WA 2 b
Approximate
Aggregate percentage of
number of interest in
shares or the issued
underlying share capital of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest shares the Company
EHEY 15 W i 692,727,600 38.43%
Wong Yam Yin” Interest of a controlled corporation
HRFKO YR R 1 692,727,600 38.43%
Hung So Ling® Interest of a controlled corporation
B o) O Z AL P 692,727,600 38.43%
Wong Kam Fai® Interest of a controlled corporation
ER 1 15 W i 692,727,600 38.43%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry" Interest of a controlled corporation

Suwita Janata® T g T A 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of a controlled corporation/
Interest of spouse
Oscar Julia® Pk I HE 2R T 4 2% 128,539,400 7.13%
Interest of a controlled corporation/
Interest of spouse
S EXEARAAO HufAa A 692,727,600 38.43%
Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited” Beneficial owner
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Notes:

(1) Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 692,727,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family. Mr. Wong Yam Yin
and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam
Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling.

2) Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita
Janata, and (ii) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company
Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the

husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

(3) Shares owned by Ms. Julia Oscar consist of (i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar,
and (ii) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era Forever Holding Company Limited,
a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata. Ms. Julia Oscar is the wife of Mr.

Suwita Janata and the younger sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2018, no person had an interest or a short position in the shares
or the underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the
SFO and no person was, directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
number of shares comprised in any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company, or of any other
company which is a member of the Group, or in any options in respect of such

share capital.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the Year.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as adopted on 10 December 2012 and
the redemption of debentures as stated under the section headed “Purchase,
sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities” of this Annual Report,
at no time during the Year was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance (as defined under note 15.2 of Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules) to which the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution
of their duties in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been
in force throughout the Year. The Company has also arranged appropriate
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and

officers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or

might compete with the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Reference is made to the non-competition deed (the “NCD”) dated 10
December 2012, the details of which are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Deed”
in the prospectus issued by the Company dated 31 December 2012. As at
31 December 2018, each of the covenanters under the NCD who or which
remained as a controlling shareholder of the Company and/or associate of any
controlling shareholder of the Company and/or director of any member of
the Group, namely Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr. Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Wong Kam
Keung, Barry, Ms. Hung So Ling, Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited,
Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Chun Hung Investments Limited, Mr. Gunawan Kiky,
Fire Spark Holdings Limited, Mr. Suwita Janata, Golden Era Forever Holding
Company Limited, Ms. Julia Oscar and Golden Joy Forever Holding Company
Limited, declared that they have complied with the NCD. The Board has also
reviewed the relevant undertakings and has not noticed any non-compliance

incident.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance or contract of significance for the provision of
services (as defined under note 15.2 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules)
to which the Company, not any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a controlling shareholder of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, purchases from the Group’s single largest supplier accounted
for approximately 6.0% of the Group’s total purchases, and the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers was 9.8% of the
Group’s total purchases. The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers was 2.2% of the Group's total turnover. To the Director’s
best knowledge and belief, none of the Directors nor his close associates and
none of the shareholders interested in over 5% of the shares of the Company

has any interest in the above-mentioned suppliers and customers.

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of approximately 593 (2017:
537) full-time employees in Hong Kong and China. The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as position,
term of employment, wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches and
grounds for termination. Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes
basic salaries, allowances, pensions, performance bonus, share options and
other employee benefits. Remuneration is determined with reference to the
performance, skills, qualifications, and experience of the employee concerned

and the prevailing industry practice.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, working
experience and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of the

employees consisted of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board

on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s

operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Total employee costs for the Year, including directors’ emoluments, amounted
to approximately RMB112.1 million (2017: RMB100.8 million ) .
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, none of the related party transactions set out in note 48 to
the consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In addition, there were no other transactions which constituted
connected transaction(s) or continuing connected transaction(s) for the

Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related party transactions”
stated in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Group was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted during the Year.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In accordance with the disclosure requirements under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules, set out below are details of the Company’s term loan facility
entered into during the Year and/or subsisting at the end of the Year, which
contains covenants requiring specific performance obligations of the Company’s

controlling shareholders:

On 30 November 2017, the Group entered into a facility agreement for a
HK$330 million term loan facility. The loan agreement includes certain
conditions requiring the Company’s controlling shareholders, the Wong's
family (Mr.

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry) to maintain their status as the single largest

Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and

shareholder of the Company. Failing to do so would constitute an event of
default under the loan facility agreement. The term loan facility has an initial
term of three years with an option to extend for another two years commencing
from the date on which the first advancement under the facility agreement is

made.

On 10 July 2018, the Group entered into facility agreements for a HK$708
million term loan facility. The loan agreement includes certain conditions
requiring the Wong's family to maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 30%
of the beneficial interest of the Company. Failing to do so would constitute an
event of default under the facility agreements. The term loan facility has a term
of two years commencing from the drawdown of the loan of up to HK$200
million and a term of two and a half years commencing from the drawdown of
the loan of up to HK$508 million.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the public float as

required by the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure its
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have
a significant impact on the Group. The Group would seek professional advice
from its legal advisers to ensure transactions and business to be performed by
the Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant

laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance. The Board firmly believes that
conducting the Group’s business in a transparent and responsible manner and
following good corporate governance practices serve its long-term interests and
those of shareholders. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

DONATION

Donation made by the Group during the Year amounted to RMB1,106,000.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to promoting awareness and decisions that contribute
to achieving environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply
fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use fuel,
water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively. We recognise
this to be a continuous process of improvement and we seek to actively look for
environmental friendly options and carry out environmental friendly practices

whenever appropriate and possible.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continual training
and development opportunities are provided to equip them to deliver their
best performance and achieve our corporate goals. During the Year, our staff
continually pursued training and career development through our policy on top
of mandatory training on anti-corruption, safety and health awareness. They
also worked under motivating remuneration and reward schemes and were

provided with a smoke-free, healthy and safe working environment.

Customers’ feedback and advice could be received by the Group via customer

communication channel.

The Group uses suppliers that reflect its values and commitment. The Group
has policies and procedures to select suppliers and contractors who share our
social, environmental and labour practice standards. Appropriate steps are
taken to ensure that our partners and suppliers do not employ child labour or

abuse human rights.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company had the following important events after the end of the reporting

period:

On 25 February 2019, the Company issued additional senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of USD160,000,000 (the “Additional USD 2021
Notes”). The Additional USD 2021 Notes are denominated in United States
dollars and listed on The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
The Additional USD 2021 Notes carry interest at a coupon rate of 7% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 18 January 2021.
The purpose of the issue of the Additional USD 2021 Notes is to refinance
existing indebtedness of the Group, including payment in connection with
the repurchase of part of the USD 2019 Notes on 12 March 2019 as described
below. Please refer to the announcements published by the Company on the
Stock Exchange dated 25 February 2019 and 26 February 2019.

On 12 March 2019, the Company, through a tender offer, successfully
repurchased part of the USD 2019 Notes in an aggregate principal amount of
USD138,000,000. After the cancellation of the repurchased USD 2019 Notes
on 12 March 2019, the aggregate principal amount of the USD 2019 Notes
which remains outstanding and subject to the terms of the indenture governing
the USD 2019 Notes is USD150,000,000 as at 12 March 2019. Please refer to
the announcements published by the Company on the Stock Exchange dated 25
February 2019, 26 February 2019, 11 March 2019 and 13 March 2019.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company and further discussion and
analysis of the Group’s activities as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events affecting
the Group that have occurred since the end of the Year, and an indication of
the likely future developments of the Group’s business, can be found in the
Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis and the
Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 6 to 10, pages 11 to 33 and

pages 45 to 59 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, the Group’s environmental, employee, customer and supplier
matters and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company can be found in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report, and the Corporate Governance Report set out on
pages 34 to 44 and pages 45 to 59 of this Annual Report, respectively. These

discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
EXPECTED SOURCES OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report, the Group had

no future plans for material investments as at the date of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as auditor of the Company since

listing and will retire at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
S KA AT BR 22

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Golden Wheel Tiandi
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to 280, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standard Board
(the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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IR S A Iy R T 2 B H » ST 2 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
ﬁzfgﬁ);q 2 i A A R o Py B B R TH o 2y of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
RAERAM B W 5 B R e R A the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
TE&E'@O?JZWK@%E%%IE%{AE%E@E ® the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters
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Valuation of investment properties
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We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to its significant balance at 31 December 2018,
combined with the judgment and estimation associated with

determining the fair value.

AN AR RS R B A B s T R - R R —F — )\ 4R
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As disclosed in notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's investment properties amounted to
RMBS5,708,069,000 as at 31 December 2018 and the fair value
adjustment in respect of investment properties recorded in profit

for the year was RMB465,863,000.

B 8 e ) A S O

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

A A B BB Wy Al 2 e e

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties
included:

o URKTE SR I B BB W SE A (A B R ST
o Testing the design and implementation of the Group's

controls relating to the valuation of investment properties;

o EMAEESLASER (AR ]) 27 88~ BE I R B LI
fih B B A B BB S N P (E R E

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent valuer (the “Valuer”) assisting the management

on the fair value determination of investment properties;

o AN I A K R Al L JLH & 3 AR
EON G aRakiF ek Ik %‘ZM A RA=RiiNE
il A

o Evaluating the management’s judgment and estimation,
in particular the models used by the management and the
significant assumptions including adjusted market price,

capitalisation rate, daily unit rent and level adjustment;
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Valuation of investment properties (Continued)
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The Group’s investment properties comprise completed
properties and properties under development and have been

valued individually, on market value basis.
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The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with significant
unobservable inputs, assumptions of market conditions and
judgements on appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
adopted. The Group also worked closely with the independent
qualified valuer to establish and determine the appropriate

valuation techniques.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

B 2 8 % L I A

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Comparing these data inputs to market data and entity-
specific historical information, including market price,
rental income, comparable allowance of profit, square meter,
capitalisation rate, daily unit rent and level adjustment
details against appropriate supporting documentation, to
assess the accuracy, reliability and completeness thereof
and the reasonableness of the management judgment and

estimation;
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Engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating the valuation techniques and assessing the

underlying assumptions, on a sample basis.
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Accuracy of land appreciation tax calculations
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We identified the accuracy of land appreciation tax (“LAT”)
calculations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) as a key
audit matter since significant judgment is required in estimating
the amount of LAT to be paid by the Group within each of the

property development projects.
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As disclosed in notes 4 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, the LAT charge, including both current tax and
deferred tax, amounted to RMB216,041,000, which arises in the
PRC when properties are delivered to the buyers and revenue
is recognised or in relation to the Group's certain investment
properties which will be recovered through sale is recognised
in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
LAT calculations are highly dependent on the appropriateness
of the rates used, which are determined by the appreciation of
land value. The amount of the land appreciation is determined
with reference to proceeds of the properties less the estimated
deductible expenditures, including the cost of land use rights and

all property development expenditures.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

B 2 8 % L I A

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

B B A G 2 (Bt B YR 2 7 P A4
Our procedures in relation to evaluating the accuracy of the

management’s LAT calculations included:

o TURUER SR B S )+ N (S B AT B st ST
o Testing the design and implementation of the Group's

controls relating to LAT calculations;

o Tl R (R R Y B0 A B TR B S A B
o Assessing the reasonableness of the related deductible

expenditure used in the LAT calculations;

o RISIRAMTAEBLE B B A4+ b (R
Sl 375 34 B R 0 2 L5 AR 24 £ ) - 3 e (E BB A AT
BLAE - Al 45 M1 55 b E B 5 TE I A st (LB L SR O b
-

o Engaging our internal tax specialists to assess the accuracy
of the land appreciation amount calculations, and to assess
the appropriateness of the LAT rate used for each of the
property development project by comparing it to the LAT
rate announced by the State Administration of Taxation in

the PRC.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of
the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

U Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors of the Company’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s

report is Rossana Ley Pui Chun.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

#HE E—/4FE+ = H =+ —HIE4EE For the year ended 31 December 2018

s &
NOTES
& Revenue 5
A A Cost of sales
EH Gross profit
oAl ~ BH S s Ko 1 Other income, expenses, gains and losses 7
HeOn P T At A T i £ Impairment losses of debt instruments
([ AFEFEA M2 HYET])  at fair value through other
) {5 T HL 8 B s 4 comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
5 8 D B B 52 Selling and marketing expenses
7 BB X Administrative expenses
il A Finance costs 8
JRE G T 22 ) ) s A (4R Share of profits (losses) of associates 17
JRE A & 8 A FE 1) i Share of profits of joint ventures 18
REWENFHES Changes in fair value of investment
properties 15
Ik Bt il v ) Profit before tax 10
B IE Taxation 9
AN AR A A AF 7 3 A Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company
R RN Other comprehensive income:
HE R s o B2 HE Items that may be reclassified
WA : subsequently to profit or loss:
TG i S R S Y B 0 2 Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations
Ak R E AP EEE) Fair value change on available-for-sale
investments
AENH A 2T A - CAIBR T3 8L Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of income tax
E/NEIE: DN 21 Total comprehensive income for the year
CANENT e x X attributable to owners of the Company
i i 45t A EARNINGS PER SHARE
—HAK (HERNRET) — Basic (RMB per share) 12
— B (HERAREL) — Diluted (RMB per share) 12
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ZENE

2018

ANRHT I
RMB’000

1,446,354

(684,654)

761,700
(127,870)

(16,885)
(49,051)
(166,478)
(178,918)
3,668
101,962

465,863
793,991
(451,735)

342,256

299

299

342,555

0.190

0.190

xR
2017

NR T
RMB 000

2,303,555
(1,405,241)

898,314
158,071

(29,405)
(172,504)
(126,904)

(3,619)
2,190

133,259
859,402
(373,941)

485,461

51

922

973

486,434

0.269

0.269



w1 B IR LA

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
W —F—/)NF+_H=+—H At 31 December 2018
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oA TR A 1 % B
— £ HEHE 8 17 77 2
— 3 £ M GRAT 17 2
FE{E 1 B 1L
KRV ST 77 2
% B A7 17 2
B4 KBS %Y
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3y

i

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Goodwill

Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”")

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

Available-for-sale investments
Restricted bank deposits
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Properties under development for sale
Completed properties for sale
Trade and other receivables
Contract costs
Prepayments for leasehold land

held for development for sale
Amount due from an associate
Land appreciation tax and

income tax prepaid
Financial assets at FVTPL

— structured bank deposits

— other than structured bank deposits
Held-for-trading investments
Structured bank deposits
Restricted bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Rental received in advance

Deposits and prepayments received from
pre-sale of properties

Amounts due to joint ventures and
associates

Land appreciation tax and
income tax liabilities

Bank borrowings — due within one year

Senior notes

Bonds

Pt 5
NOTES

14
15
16
17
18

19

20
21
30
22

23
24
25
26

27
28

19

29
30
30
30

31
32

33

34
35
36

ZEN\E
2018
ANBRH T
RMB’000

564,462
5,708,069
31,116
345,949
413,161

173,002
9,911

70,000
120,585

7,436,255

4,516,490
678,099
234,269

1,793

15,106
18,405

146,000
86,189

205,858
576,051

6,478,260

826,188
491,612
32,362

311,905

594,122
1,569,118
1,972,944

5,798,251
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2017
ARBT T
RMB000

461,416
5,213,906
29,686
342,281
275,928

157,400
85,174
6,565,791
1,686,308

984,315
147,967

326,578
26,832

4,229

4,098
182,000
312,694
664,519

4,339,540

515,724

27,90;
675,766
169,806

503,427
1,171,865

18,216

3,082,711
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
W FE— /\4FE+ " H="+—H At 31 December 2018

LB & E A
BEEHALE A H
T B £ 1

I FE B IR £ i

AT K — —F R 2 )
TR

BIERE

HEEFE

B R Gk i
A

A7 i 5 % A5

AR g

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Bank borrowings — due after one year
Rental received in advance

Senior notes

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital

Share premium and reserves

Total equity

ZE - )N\4E

2018

Bk ARWTI
NOTES RMB’000
680,009

8,116,264

22 1,178,972
34 960,145
15,048

35 1,353,795
3,507,960

4,608,304

37 113,099
38, 39 4,495,205
4,608,304

o
2017
ARBTT
RMB'000

1,256,829

7,822,620

1,043,793
489,294
17,010
1,935,389

3,485,486

4,337,134

113,099
4,224,035

4,337,134

FHREN _F—NEZA /BRI HET
BEEE1025 280 A AR & AT R Wit AN A A

The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 280 were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2019 and are signed

RaE on its behalf by:
EHE F
Wong Yam Yin Wong Kam Fai
#H #H
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE T — /41 H="1—HIL4FE For the year ended 31 December 2018

SMEIE (UES %
Bk BRRE SRR Rl TR MBER  EEERE AREM  REEN 3t
Property Share  Investment
Share Share Special  Translation  revaluation options  revaluation Surplus Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total

ARBTT NEWTT ARETT ANRHTT ARKTT ARETT ARETT ARKTT ABWTT ARETT
RMBUOO  RMBU0O ~ RMB0OO ~ RMBUOO  RMBOOO ~ RMB00O ~ RMB0OO ~ RMBOOO  RMBUOO  RMB'000

(Hi7E38) (Hf5E39) (Hi5E3s)
(note 38) (note 39) (note 38)
w-Z—tF—H—H At 1 January 2017 113,099 476,143 330,592 - 16,631 635 (922) 88,648 2,904,592 3929418
AR i A Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 485,461 485,461
AR s Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 51 - = 922 - - 973
Byl B 2 T U Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year = = = 51 - - 922 - 485,461 486,434
BB (H3E13) Dividends (note 13) - - (1894]) = = = = = - (1894
A E Surplus reserve appropriation - - - - = = = 33,500 (33,500) -
MEBURAG AR ZHHIE  Recognition of equity-sectled share-based
(HiE39) payments (note 39) = = = = - 229 - - - 229
REZ—LEFZA=F—H  Ac31 December 2017 13099 476143 251,645 51 16,631 864 - 12148 3356555 4337134
JE (RKEE2) Adjustments (see note 2) = = = = = = - - 3,925 3,925
WEF—NE—H—H (ZEF) Ac 1 Janvary 2018 (restated) 113,099 476,143 251,645 51 16,631 864 = 122,148 3360478 4,341,059
AE R A Profit for the year - - - - - - = = 342,256 342,256
FERE AR Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 299 - - - - - 299
B B2 A A Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year = = = 299 = = = = 342,256 342,555
T8 (k1) Dividends (note 13) = - (15539 - - - - - - 1553
RERRHER Surplus reserve appropriation - - - - - - - 16,327 (16,327) -
HRBL R AL AR L MFHIE  Recognition of equity-secled share-based
(i :E39) payments (note 39) = = = = = 229 = = - 229
REF=EFZHZF—H  Ac31 December 2018 113,099 476143 176,106 350 16,631 1,093 - 138475 3686407 4,608,304
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

#HE E—/4FE+ = H =+ —HIE4EE For the year ended 31 December 2018

REES

bR Bt Al i A1

DL & T A g A
E Y& RN

BEMEN T HED

TR EF AR R
SMEE RNV EEH

$ O3 PEL R A H A 2 7T U 5 A9
fEHs TR B 18
AT A B A

$ 3P EL R A H A 2 7T U 5 A9
S A B A
TR EF AR
AN I-VION

i E & B BM R A

A B BEE A B A

LR L YN N

At 22 T Wi 4 O B T Bl 18
TR EFA B R
AN SV ON
e e /A FEZE)

IR BB A T- B3 )
W 1t 0 B B LA
ST 3 S TION

DA RS 45 A M 5
B 3~ S e 2 s 1R

SR ¢/E 6

sk — M B A2 R

A 1 W 3K TR $8¢ A

f S AR A 2 (Wedk) s 1R
Al A

TN B 2 R BR) (i 1)) s 48

T A 5 7 A SE R ik

KRB BLEE 5l 1R (as ) 8

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Changes in fair value of investment
properties
Changes in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL
Impairment loss of debt instruments
at FVTOCI
Interest income from banks deposits
Interest income from financial assets
at FVTOCI
Interest income from financial assets
at FVTPL
Interest income from derivative
financial liabilities
Interest income from available-for-sale
investments
Loss from derecognition of debt
instruments at FVTOCI
Dividend income from financial assets
at FVTPL
Changes in fair value of derivative
financial liabilities
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments
Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments
Investment income from held-for-trading
investments
Equity-settled share option payments
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of investment properties
Gain on deregistration of a joint venture
Allowance for other receivables
(Gain) loss on repurchase of senior notes
Finance costs
Share of (profits) losses of associates
Share of profits of joint ventures
Unrealised net exchange losses (gains)
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ZEFNE
2018
ANRHT I
RMB 000

793,991

18,180
(465,863)
11,267

16,885
(16,939)

(6,262)

(14,247)

2,170

(5,519)

229

190

(2,892)
178,918
(3,668)
(101,962)
231,797

e
2017

Wt 25
RMB 000

859,402

14,969

(133,259)

(41,129)

(1,009)

(1,464)

(31,080)
(442)
(3,830)

(16)
229

60
(6,025)
(418)
27,714
4,929
126,904
3,619
(2,190)
(113,830)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH ="1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

—F- N\ —R—LE
2018 2017
ARWT AR ETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEESEHIKEHSNE Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 636,275 703,134
B 8% b A B W SE B Increase in properties under
development for sale (2,020,926) (672,856)
CRILGEWERD Decrease in completed properties for sale 473,553 331,102
H 5y e HABENCE IR (#) 3% (Increase) decrease in trade and other
receivables (77,568) 160,889
FRfEBas A E B AL & 12 Decrease (increase) in prepayments
FEAT BIH A (3 ) for leasehold land held for
development for sale 326,578 (245,329)
B 5 T At JE A SR IE K Increase in trade and other payables 164,277 78,615
CREEYELE R Decrease in deposits and prepayments
BT received from pre-sale of properties - (857,230)
AR B WD Decrease in contract liabilities (184,154) =
B #) AR I D Decrease in contract costs 3,441 =
AU £ 3 m (D) Increase (decrease) in rental
received in advance 2,493 (6,093)
s T B 4 Cash used in operations (676,031) (507,768)
BT BT A5 Bl R T Hh B (E B Income tax and land appreciation tax paid (278,828) (100,888)
A ) Pt B NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES (954,859) (608,656)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received from bank deposits
Interest received from available-for-sale
investments
Interest received from derivative
financial liabilities
Interest received from financial assets
measured at FVTPL
Interest received from financial assets
measured at FVTOCI
Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments
Dividends received from financial assets
measured at FVTPL
Investment income from held-for-trading
investments
Purchases of available-for-sale investments
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of held-for-trading investments
Purchases of financial assets measured
at FVTPL
Purchases of financial assets measured
at FVTOCI
Proceeds received from disposal of
financial assets measured at FVTOCI
Proceeds received from disposal of
financial assets measured at FVTPL
Increase in investment properties
Acquisition of investment in a joint venture
Acquisition of investment in associates
Acquisition of subsidiaries (as defined in
note 40)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
investments
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading
investments
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties
Payment for settlement of currency
rate swap contracts
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits
Placement of restricted bank deposits
Withdrawal of structured bank deposits
Placement in structured bank deposits
Advances to a joint venture and an associate

Collection of advances to a joint venture
Collection of advances to an associate
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
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— 4
2018
ARHET I
RMB’000

16,939

14,247

6,262

5,519

(32,330)

(312,015)
(133,365)
113,349
255,154

(129,653)
(35,271)

(819,584)

20
154,517

128,501
(91,665)

(2,774)

14,500

(847,649)

e S 2
2017
AR T
RMB 000
41,129
1,464

1,009

3,830

16
(49,000)
(18,042)

5)

(52,508)
(345,900)
(397,969)

14,088
46
17,473

(20,186)

691,901
(326,138)

1,123,911
(980,000)

(26,832)
16,164

5,280

(300,269)



HEBHERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH ="1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

—F- N\ “E -t
2018 2017
AREH T AR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB 000
il 35 ) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BT E R 5 2 H Proceeds from issue of senior notes 1,283,380 1,371,640
AT BT 0B S SR R I A B S Payments of expense attributable to
issue of senior notes (24,925) (17,271)
BB Repayment of bonds (19,665) (164,884)
B SR AT 15 3K New bank borrowings raised 1,189,623 1,615,577
AT SR AT B A B X Payments of expense attributable to
bank borrowings (3,150) (9,077)
B R AR AT 15 K Repayments of bank borrowings (394,507) (955,814)
I Il 48 S 2L 4 Repurchase of senior notes (76,840) (507,411)
BREEFERASH Repayment of principal of senior notes - (399,751)
R SE 98 L F/NEIE T Advances from joint ventures and associates 168,065 169,806
] 58 A 36 KW A Rl R K Repayments to joint ventures and associates (25,966) -
A FLE Interest paid (313,052) (228,912)
BT Dividends paid (75,539) (78,947)
Tl B O 5 B 4 R NET CASH FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES 1,707,424 794,956
Bl 4 B4 S L A 3 NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (95,084) (113,969)
P—H—HMB & LB £%EY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 1 JANUARY 664,519 791,238
ME R AR ) 2 5B Effects of exchange rate changes 6,616 (12,750)
REZA=Z+—HWBRE & CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
BESED AT 31 DECEMBER 576,051 664,519
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#HE E—/4FE+ = H =+ —HIE4EE For the year ended 31 December 2018

— B ¥R

Elm R RA R (TAAH]) R =%
— AR A AN A AR 2 B R L
REBRARAR Kk E % —=4
—H+ABEREEES S A RA R
(T W28 7)) BT o AR 4 Ak fA 3
H ik £ Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box
2681,Grand Cayman KY1-111, Cayman Islands » i
AN B I Wt £ F I A 1L R
SFUE1699 FE SR EH D 1SHEAE ©

AN T By BT 7] « LM 22 7 Y
f%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁw;¢ B 23 )
ke (AL )

ARE B IRR I UA LA Z AR AR
(TARM]) 251

ME 5 i B 4 T B U
T (T 5 o R D)

AR JE i ) 2 B8 AT B AR A T I
8 5 i oty 4

ARG AR AT B T M T I s 28
o ([HBEgHEN S ]) Hih 2 T3l
HTRT B ARG AT I R B 5 YR )

W B o 2RIA
ARMHRERNASE  FFAOUEREEGT

WEHERERBZAE  SHLIAENNE

Gidi ik
ARMHREENER TR LR AERNHTSZ

/fﬁﬁiﬂtﬂ
AR RE RN BSREAA AR H AL
Bost# B IARENE

HEREER Bt

RERH
BlRatENFns Gk FARRTEREEN

TF-PEEF-AE

BHFERE, 7
BB aHEASORBTR  HEREYE

GENERAL

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands on 26 April 2012 and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”)
with effect from 16 January 2013. The address of the registered office is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
111, Cayman Islands and principal place of business of the Company is
Unit A, 18th Floor, Lee & Man Commercial Center, 169 Electric Road,
Fortress Hill, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 50 (the Company and its

subsidiaries collectively referred as the “Group”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

(“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”) for the

first time in the current year.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IERS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related
Amendments

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to [FRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to TAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-
2016 Cycle Amendments

Amendments to TAS 40 Transters of Investment Property

]lO A R ¥ B4 BL A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to IFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or

on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied IFRS 15 for the first time in the current
year. IFRS 15 superseded IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction

Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference
at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained earnings and comparative information has not been
restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in IFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the
Standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed
at 1 January 2018 and has used the practical expedient for all
contract modifications that occurred before the date of initial
application, the aggregate effect of all of the modifications was
reflected at the date of initial application. Accordingly, certain
comparative information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under IAS 18 Revenue and the related

interpretations.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
. Development and sale of properties;

U Property leasing (including lease of self-owned properties

and sub-lease of rented properties); and
U Rendering of hotel services.

Information about the Group's performance obligations and the
accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 15 are

disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.
Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15

The following table summarises the impacts of transition to IFRS

15 on retained profits at 1 January 2018.

RZF— )\

—H—H

R 40 1 B St

e ot e

CHLL Fd 2

Impact of

adopting

IFRS 15

at 1 January

2018

Wt iE ARWT T
Note RMB 000

T 4 i A Retained profits
TG0 A 4 A Recognition of contract costs (a) 5,234

Tl 15 7 22 Tax effects

(1,309)

NZF—=/NF—HA—HZ#2 Impact at 1 January 2018 3,925
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15
(Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January
2018. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not

been included.

/g Sl S RN\
+=A —H—H
=1—H I 0
Je it 2R BRI 155
e i 1E kv BHEHE R R
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at 31 IFRS 15 at
December 1 January
2017 Reclassification Remeasurement 2018*%
(K33 ARWTFLT  ARBETZ  ARFFT ARETZL
Note RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
T Current Asset
AR A Contract costs (a) - - 5,234 5,234
B £ Current Liabilities
ClEEDERE R Deposits and prepayments received
AT R from pre-sale of properties (b) 675,766 (675,766) - -
RHARK Contract liabilities (b) - 675,766 - 675,766
Fem B £ 45 Non-current Liability
BRI A A Deferred tax liabilities 1,043,793 = 1,309 1,045,102
AR R fik fh Capital and Reserves
B 053 088 At Al Share premium and reserves 4,224,035 - 3,925 4,227,960
* W B 4 A ok JRE T K S 5 R 4 e * The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from the

M E OB AT A%

application of IFRS 9.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15

(Continued)

(a)  The Group incurred incremental commission paid/payable
to intermediaries/employees in connection with obtaining
sales of properties contracts with customers. These amounts
were previously expensed as incurred. At the date of initial
application of IFRS 15, incremental costs of obtaining
contracts of RMB5,234,000 and the related deferred
tax liabilities of RMB1,309,000 were recognised with

corresponding adjustments to retained profits.

(b)  As at 1 January 2018, prepayments from customers of
RMBG675,766,000 in respect of property sales contracts,
previously recorded as prepayments received from pre-sale

of properties, were reclassified to contract liabilities.
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MG RIS T B 48865 Y it S 5 3k 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
S (T Wt S 3 o YR T ) TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
(#) STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
ARAE BE R ) AR B BT B A A AT R New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
WA R (A7) effective for the current year (Continued)
2.1 BB EREISYERF 54 2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
Weas ()
B KM 77 0 B 1 5 P R 3 15 9 Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15
2B () (Continued)
A R I R S R T R The following tables summarise the impacts of applying IFRS 15
ISEALEEMN —F— \E+_H on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at
=+ —HZEA MR R EH R A 31 December 2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or loss
AR A i S 2T A R A& and other comprehensive income for the current year for each of
S BIE B IR h il R R the line items affected. Line items that were not affected by the
X HENIEA - changes have not been included.
BEE BRI RN Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position
REER
Wit S5t 2 3
FERH15HZ
U i S
Amounts
without
application of
As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
ANRWT T AR T ABHT T
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB000
W E Current Asset
AR A Contract costs 1,793 (1,793) -
B A Current Liabilities
ElEEMEL S K Deposits and prepayments received
N from pre-sale of properties - 491,612 491,612
RHARE Contract liabilities 491,612 (491,612) =
e B £ 65 Non-current Liability
SRR £ Deferred tax liabilities 1,178,972 (449) 1,178,523
AR Tk Capital and Reserves
00 1 At Share premium and reserves 4,495,205 (1,344) 4,493,861
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2. KEJRWraT B A48T I R A o 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
i (1Bt o ¥ 0 ) TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
(#) STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

ARAE BE R ) AR R BT A AT R New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
MR EEA () effective for the current year (Continued)
2.1 PIBE R ER B HERE P GA 2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
Weas ()
B KM 7] 0 A 5 PR R 3 15 9 Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15
Z B (4E) (Continued)
S5 A 1H 28 B At 2 i W 2 K A 5 Impact on the consolidated statement of profit and loss and
other comprehensive income
REER
I O 5 S
FERH15%Z
WEH ik S
Amounts
without
application of
As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
ANBHTF T AR T ANBHT T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
B R BB Selling and marketing expenses (49,051) 3,441 (45,610)
B Taxation (451,735) (860) (452,595)
EN/NE Y DN TR Profit for the period attributable to
owners of the Company 342,256 2,581 344,837
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MG RIS T B 48865 Y it S 5 3k 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
i (1Bt S 2 ¥ 0 ) TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
(#) STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
ARAE BE R ) AR B BT B A A AT R New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
S s i R (49) effective for the current year (Continued)
2.1 BB BER G ERFIH5EEF G 2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
Weas ()
B KM 77 0 B 1 5 P R 3 15 9 Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15
RN (FE) (Continued)
HEAB SR RN EE Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows
REER
I ¢ 4t 5
EAH 15982
LU i 2 &
Amounts
without

application of

As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
AR BT AR¥TT AR BFI
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
827 ) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
I B il i A Profit before tax 793,991 3,441 797,432
BHEESEBNCERENE Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital 636,275 3,441 639,716
FHABRD Decrease in contract liabilities (184,154) 184,154 -
ClEEY LS Decrease in deposits and
VSLUIE SR prepayments received from pre-
sale of properties = (184,154) (184,154)
B A D Decrease in contract costs 3,441 (3,441) =
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related amendments

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9 Financial
Inscruments and the related consequential amendments to
other TFRSs. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL”) for financial assets and

3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the transition
provisions set out in IFRS 9, i.e. applied the classification
and measurement requirements (including impairment under
ECL model) retrospectively to instruments that have not been
derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date of initial application) and
has not applied the requirements to instruments that have already
been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The difference between
carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying
amounts as at 1 January 2018 are recognised in the opening

retained earnings, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under IAS

39 Financial Inscruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 9 are

disclosed in note 3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related amendments
(Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement of
financial assets and other items subject to ECL under IFRS 9 and

IAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018.

AP
it HEEEZ MM GPAB#EZ
&R % B RATH R SHEE
Available- Held-for- Structured  Financial assets
for-sale  trading assets  bank deposits at FVTPL
(K3 ARWTFIL  ARETFZ  ARFFE  ARETL
Note RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB 000
REZF—LEFTZAZT—HZ  Closing balance at
WIARRS — BB E 3 A H395 31 December 2017 - 1AS 39
157,400 4,098 182,000 -
0k HE P 1 o - Effect arising from initial
HoME A A application of IFRS 9:
Vi) Reclassification
Bl B E From available-for-sale (a) (157,400) - - 157,400
ARERE &R From held-for-trading assets - (4,098) - 4,098
BRI From structured bank deposits - = (182,000) 182,000
RZZ— NE—H—HZHH &8 Opening balance at 1 January 2018 - - - 343,498
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related amendments
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 9
(Continued)
(a)  Available-for-sale investments

From available-for-sale (“AFS”) investments to FVTPL

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, the Group's
equity investments of RMB157,400,000 which is measured
at fair value were reclassified from available-for-sale

investments to financial assets at FVTPL.

(b)  Impairment under ECL model
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables. To measure the ECL, trade receivables have

been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.

Loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised cost
mainly comprise of other receivables, amount due from
an associate, restricted bank balances and bank balances
are measured on 12m ECL basis and there had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) considered
that no additional credit loss allowance is necessary for

these financial assets as at 1 January 2018.
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B G Non-current assets

Al it E R Available-for-sale investments

N TR AE 4 Financial assets at FVTPL
ZEMEE

W A% 2 H A IHEH Others with no adjustments

W Current assets
B H AR Contract costs
RERERE Held-for-trading investments

KM ERATIE R Structured bank deposits

A TEFFAEAE Financial assets at FVTPL
ZEMERE

i FE vl Others with no adjustments
HAtE A

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of financial
position arising from the application of all new standards
As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies
above, the opening consolidated statement of financial position
had to be restated. The following table show the adjustments
recognised for each of the line items affected. Line items that were
not affected by the changes have been included as “Others with no

adjustments”.

R —LF
+=H ZER)\4E
ZE+—H BEBEMERE BT RE —H—H
(BEH)  WAIE1SHE  WAIFoYE (BEF)

31 December 1 January
2017 2018
(Audited) IFRS 15 IFRS 9 (Restated)

ANRWTT ARETLT ARWTT ARETIL
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000

157,400 - (157,400) -
- - 157,400 157,400
6,408,391 = - 0,408,391
6,565,791 - - 6,565,791
= 5,234 - 5,234

4,098 = (4,098) -
182,000 - (182,000) -
- - 186,098 186,098
4,153,442 - - 4,153,442
4,339,540 5,234 - 4,344,774
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2. MEJBwT B AR il B 0 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
P 00T B 5 0 o4 ¥ S D) TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
(%) STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
AR JEE TR ) A S 2 T B A AT B New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
S s et e R (47) effective for the current year (Continued)
2.3 JEH B AR R A R A A B 2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of financial
WENEE (4 position arising from the application of all new standards
(Continued)
S
+=H ZE)NE

=0 BB AR B B —H—H
(RER)  WASIsHE RN (KHEF)

31 December 1 January
2017 2018
(Audited) IFRS 15 IFRS 9 (Restated)
ANRETILE ARETT AR¥TLT ARETT
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Uit 0 £ Current liabilities
CIHEWEL S Deposits and prepayments received
K H AR from pre-sale of properties 675,766 (675,7606) - -
BRAE Contract liabilities - 675,766 - 675,766
A R 2 Others with no adjustments
HAiHHA 2,406,945 S - 2,406,945
3,082,711 - - 3,082,711
Vi B Net current assets 1,256,829 5,234 - 1,262,063
BEEWRB AR Total assets less current liabilities 7,822,620 5,234 - 7,827,854
I B A 5 Non-current liabilities
I E ol T A Deferred tax liabilities 1,043,793 1,309 — 1,045,102
W T 2 HABTEH Others with no adjustments 2,441,693 - - 2,441,693
3,485,486 1,309 - 3,486,795
EE Net assets 4,337,134 3,925 - 4,341,059
B R A Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 113,099 = = 113,099
PB4 i 1 I fot A Share premium and reserves 4,224,035 3,925 = 4,227,960
RO £ Total equity 4,337,134 3,925 - 4,341,059
fsE: MEE—F—-N\FT+_H=1—H Note: For the purposes of reporting cash flows from operating activities
b AR [ 42 1 2 A ) under indirect method for the year ended 31 December 2018,
BRERETN S SEESEH ) movements in working capital have been computed based on opening
M bSO B i =% — NE—H statement of financial position as at 1 January 2018 as disclosed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 16 Leases'
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business*
Amendments to IFRS 9
Amendments to IFRS 10 and

IAS 28

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation'
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to IAS 1 and Definition of Material’

IAS 8
Amendments to [AS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Effective for business combination and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Except for IFRS 16 mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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2. MEFBaT R S8 0wl I Bk Ik 5 it 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
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TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease
arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees.
IFRS 16 will supersede IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations

when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether
an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In addition, IFRS 16
requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined based on
the requirements of IFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant
asset should be accounted as a sale. IFRS 16 also includes requirements

relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,

except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as
the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease
payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned
use and those classified as investment properties while other operating
lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon application
of IFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated
into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing cash flows by the Group, upfront prepaid lease payments
will continue to be presented as investing or operating cash flows in

accordance to the natures as appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to lessor, IFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in
IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an

operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of RMB497,150,000 as disclosed in note 41. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon application of IFRS 16, the Group will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of

all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of RMB3,695,000 and refundable rental deposits received of
RMB74,408,000 as rights and obligations under leases to which IAS 17
applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under IFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying
assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may be
adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits
paid would be considered as additional lease payments and included in
the carrying amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable

rental deposits received would be considered as advance lease payments.
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TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The
Group has elected the practical expedient to apply IFRS 16 to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC
4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not
apply this standard to contracts that were not previously identified as
containing a lease applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. Therefore, the Group
has not reassessed whether the contracts are, or contain a lease which
already existed prior to the date of initial application. Furthermore,
the Group has elected the modified retrospective approach for the
application of IFRS 16 as lessee and recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application to opening retained earnings without restating

comparative information.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair values at the end of each

reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration

given in exchange for goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of IAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of

Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation

technique equals the transaction price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described

as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;
. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and

its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement

with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this

results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s

accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee

Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance

with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that

standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as

a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about

facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to
fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or

loss being recognised in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,

would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial liabilities at the
respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does

not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the accounting

policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal

management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-

generating units).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the

cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint

control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant

activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in

profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of IFRS 9/IAS 39, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/

partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in
an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no

remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or

liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or

joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Under IFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred

to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services

that are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of the distinct good or service.

For property sales contract for which the control of the property is
transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the customer
obtains the control of the completed property and the Group has present

right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from hotel service is recognised over time by using the output

method.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration

(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods
or services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s

performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment

terms agreed by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any

significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of
the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the
promised amount of consideration for a significant financing component,
the Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period between the
advance payments were received and the transfer of the associated goods

and services are accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
IFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have

incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets

relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully

amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates

and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the

Group's activities, as described below.

Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties in the ordinary course of business
is recognised when the respective properties have been completed
and delivered to the buyers. Deposits and instalments received from
purchasers prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under

current liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Rental income
The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is

described in the accounting policy for leasing.

Hotel income
Revenue from hotel operation is recognised when relevant services are

provided.

Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the rights to

receive payment have been established.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.

All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a

straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are

incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into an operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit
of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-

line basis.

Leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which includes
both leasehold land and building elements, the Group assesses the
classification of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately
based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases
in which case the entire property is accounted as an operating lease.
Specifically, the entire consideration (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the leasehold and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the

land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis except for those that are classified and accounted for
as investment properties under the fair value model. When the payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements, the entire property is generally classified as if the leasehold

land is under finance lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s

interests in joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are

reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences

arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted

from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and

that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational

basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in

the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and other providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments

at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At
the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of
all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding

adjustment to the share options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options

reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition

of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the

asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflect the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through

sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets

and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and leasehold land
(classified as finance leases) held for administrative purposes are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of assets
(other than properties under construction) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant

revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained earnings.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including property under construction for such

purposes).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair values. All of the Group’s
property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for as
investment properties and are measured using the fair value model.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

Leaschold land held for development into investment property,
representing leasehold land located in the PRC for development into

investment properties, is stated initially at cost.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
development and leasehold land held for development into investment
properties are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the

investment properties under development.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is

derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale, representing leasehold land and
buildings under development for future sale in the ordinary course of
business, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises the costs of land use rights, construction costs, borrowing
costs capitalised and other direct development expenditure. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. Properties under development for sale
are transferred to completed properties for sale upon completion of

development.

Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises the costs of land use rights, construction
costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other direct development
expenditure. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to

make the sale.

When a completed property for sale is transferred to property, plant
and equipment as evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation,
the carrying amount of such property is the deemed costs at the date of

transfer.

When a completed property for sale is transferred to investment property
when there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals
or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to
another party. Transfer from a completed property for sale to investment
property is evidenced by commencement of an operating lease to another
party prior to 1 January 2018. Any difference between the fair value of
the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets and contract costs to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is

estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash— generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a

reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets capitalised
as contract costs under IFRS 15, the Group assesses and recognises any
impairment loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in
accordance with applicable standards. Then, impairment loss, if any,
for assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised to the extent the
carrying amounts exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that
the Group expects to receive in exchange for related goods or services
less the costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised as
contract costs are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of evaluating

impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflect current market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the assets for which the estimated of future cash flows

have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible assets and contract costs (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market

place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15 since 1 January
2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately

in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective

is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling;

and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a

business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the

near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2,
pp.
(Continued)

)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost
and debt instruments subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For
financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset is

no longer credit impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

(Continued)

(i)

(111)

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt instruments
classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in
the carrying amount of these debt instruments are recognised
in OCI and accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI
reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised in profit or loss
with corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing the
carrying amounts of these debt instruments. The amounts that
are recognised in profit or loss are the same as the amounts
that would have been recognised in profit or loss if these debt
instruments had been measured at amortised cost. When these
debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line

item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions
in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets which
are subject to impairment under IFRS 9 (including other receivables,
amount due from an associate, restricted bank balances and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect

changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast

of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL
on these assets are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with

appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2,
pp.
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions

in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost

or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

U significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,

the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions

in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

1) %%ELEME %iﬂﬂ (El (i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
0 (R INE-E 3 N1 i o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
i EA operating results of the debtor;
0 EHEH NBEAT HEREEN o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the

PN AN IN Y
S 1 L 0 A
TARAED -

regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

i B EPAG B &R E AR E

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
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presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the changes in

the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2,
pp.
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions

in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally

understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions
in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(ii)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an

event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more

appropriate.

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit— impaired includes observable data about

the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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3. WAEFBOR ) 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
ST H (4) Financial instruments (Continued)
EREE () Financial assets (Continued)
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Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions

in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(ii1) E%@E%@{Jﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬂgﬁ (,El (iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
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bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition

event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the

weights.

162 A R ¥ B4 BL A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



HREHHEOR ()

G T R (4)

SHEE ()

Tl B EZ SR AEGE (RIFN it
278 B JE JT] 1 [9 IR A S R 0 FE R )

(%)

S AT AR Y 230 30 R P I e o
s AR R) ()

)

TR B L BB ()

— S HE S RARE S
JEAHA SR AR BT AT 5 A0 B 4 B B AR
S B A B i i T A 22
5 (FRAD U HERR IS 1 58 2 B A 36
EBL) o

BB IR G KT 5 - A BRI AE
{05 N3 SR RE SCE K 1 DL T 1
AT L SRR R A A
& Bl R UM AT BB L A %
BT R 5 N BUE AT A
TR BT B

B T E R A R I B R
R TEIE B AL EI R AR
W iy i 35736 M B ] L) T A A
BB 1R B B B B 3 (L
PR 7 B 7E SRR AR BE b 2 A
U 250 35 T A 0 O B ) B 4 A R
% AR L -

Ao o B 5 R Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions

in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at

the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the

holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a
discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the

cash shortfalls being discounted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2,
pp.
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions

in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be

available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following

basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade and
other receivables and amounts due from customers are each
assessed as a separate group. Loans to related parties are
assessed for expected credit losses on an individual basis);

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

U External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost

of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon

application of IFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2,
pp.
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application IFRS 9 with transitions

in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income

recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables
and amount due from an associate, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account. For
investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying amount of these

debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before

application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:
financial assets at FVTPL, AFS investments and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time

frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

(1) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset

is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

U it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it

in the near term; or

U on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains
or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined

in the manner described in note 45c.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before

application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

(i)

AFS financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated
as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-

to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period except for unquoted equity investments
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Changes in the
carrying amount of AFS debt instruments relating to interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, and changes
in foreign exchange rates, if applicable are recognised in profit
or loss. Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established. Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS
financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in
an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured
are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the

end of each reporting.
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3. WREEBOR (4) 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conrinued)

ST H (4) Financial instruments (Continued)

EREE () Financial assets (Continued)

B EEN P HREE 2 (R =F—N Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before

9 — H — H JE ST 15 B B 75 3R £ 2 A) FoHE application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Ar) (%)

(i) BEEC M M R (iii)  Loans and receivables
BN R MUK T £ S S T S kA Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
WA L T 788 AT ) AT A 4 or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
B o R HERRAR - Bk B IGOH Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
(FL45 B ) B HCA R ASCRIE ~ R — [H] trade and other receivables, amount due from a joint venture and
B R — MBS A w45 an associate, structured bank deposits, restricted bank deposits
PEERAT A3 2 IR ISR AT A7 3k DL BB and cash and cash equivalents) are measured at amortised cost
S RBUEEEY)) BRI IE using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

S A AT A (L -

LR A5 e BT R ) S e R - M Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest

R 2 IS AN E R 2 A R S T e rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of

fho interest would be immaterial.
GREEZHE(R_F—N\F—H—H Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January
R I A 5 4 4 B S 9 B i) 2018)
GRUEE (A TEF AR &[G LR Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
G1) TR &R IR R B A AR - i of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
A BRI 0 e AR R 1Y considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
— IS B IHF A S RGOl FE R R B % result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
MEZE A Q4R R 5 C Wi - the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets

have been affected.

A ERAREN S > REZATVER For AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
R B A AT JEC A T A 2 BB 2 B8 value of that investment below its costs is considered to be objective
1% evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on I January
2018) (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January
2018) (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could

include:
. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
. breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or

principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

financial re-organisation; or

. disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because

of financial difficulties.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on I January
2018) (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January
2018) (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss

will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment
loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade and other
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of
an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been

recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on I January
2018) (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9 on 1 January
2018) (Continued)

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses previously
recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of investment revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt investments,
impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to

an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds

received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as
at FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or

loss.

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is

reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received,

net of direct issue cost.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including senior notes, bank borrowings, bonds,
amounts due to joint ventures and associates and trade and other
payables) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in

accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group initially measured at
fair values and, if not designated as at fair value through profit or loss,

are subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
IFRS 9 (since 1 January 2018)/IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets (before application of IFRS 9 on
1 January 2018); and

. the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,

cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its
exposure to foreign exchange rate risk, including cross currency rate

swaps.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the

hedge relationship.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgment, as well as source of estimate
uncertainty thereof, that the Directors have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment properties and
concluded that, except certain investment properties which will be
recovered through sale, the Group's investment properties are held under
a business model which objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, the Directors determined deferred taxation in relation to the
Group's certain investment properties which will be recovered through
sale have been measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through sale. In determining that Group's
deferred taxation on investment properties held under a business model
which objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, the Directors have
determined the presumption that investment properties measured using

the fair value model are recovered through sale is rebutted.

As a result, the Group has recognised the deferred taxes on changes
in fair value of investment properties. The carrying amount of
deferred taxation on investment properties at 31 December 2018 was

RMB1,092,118,000 (2017: RMB970,072,000).
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SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key source of estimation uncertainties at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are stated
at fair value based on the valuation performed by the independent
professional valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer have based
on a method of valuation which involves certain estimates. In relying
on the valuation report, the management has exercised their judgement
and is satisfied that the assumptions used in valuation have reflected
the current market conditions. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2018 was RMB5,708,069,000 (2017:
RMBS5,213,906,000). Changes to these assumptions would result in
changes in the fair value of the investment properties of the Group and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of fair value gain and loss

reported in profit or loss.

Land appreciation tax

The LAT (as defined in note 9) is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
of sales of properties less deductible expenditures including sales

charges, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.
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BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Ao o B 5 R Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (Continued)

The Group is subject to land appreciation taxes in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). The details of implementation have been
announced by the local tax bureau in certain major cities, however,
the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the
local tax bureau in those cities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant
judgments are required in determining the amount of land appreciation
and its related taxes. The Group has recognised these liabilities based on
the management’s best estimates according to the understanding of the
tax rules. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax provisions in the period in which such determination will

be made.

Net realisable value of properties under development for sale and
completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed properties for
sale are stated at the lower of the cost and net realisable value. The net
realisable value of properties under development for sale is determined
by reference to the estimated selling prices less estimated selling
expenses and estimated cost of completion, which are estimated based
on the Directors’ best available information and the prevailing market

conditions.

Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising
from any changes to the property market conditions, properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale may be written
down. There is no write-down of properties under development for sale

or completed properties for sale during both years.
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SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial assets, unquoted equity instruments,
amounting to RMB173,002,000 as at 31 December 2018
(RMB157,400,000 as at 31 December 2017) are measured at fair
values with fair values being determined based on unobserved inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the
reported fair values of these instruments. Further details of disclosure of

the fair value measurement are set out in note 45c.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group reviews its financial assets to assess impairment on a regular
basis. The methodologies and assumptions used for estimating the
impairment are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss

estimates and actual loss experience.

Since the adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, management estimates
the amount of loss allowance for ECL on restricted bank balances, trade
and other receivables, investments in debt instruments and amount due
from an associate based on the credit risk of the financial assets. The
estimation of the credit risk of the financial assets involves high degree
of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are less
than expected or more than expected, a material impairment loss or a

material reversal of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.
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et 5. REVENUE
A BEZR-)N\EFTZH=ZA— A. For the year ended 31 December 2018
H k42
0 KA (i)  Disaggregation of revenue
BREZF-NF+ZA=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018
WEME  RHERE %2 At
Property Property Hotel
leasing  development operation Total
ANRETT AR¥TLT AREFTT ARKTIL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
B iR BN Types of goods or service
/ES Properties - 1,188,443 - 1,188,443
i R Hotel service - - 53,998 53,998
BP0 e Revenue from contracts
with customers = 1,188,443 53,998 1,242,441
VEN-{/E Revenue from
property leasing 203,913 - - 203,913
W i A Total revenue 203,913 1,188,443 53,998 1,446,354
& 33 7 5 Geographical markets
R g 3 Mainland China 203,913 1,188,443 25,245 1,417,601
Ei Hong Kong = - 28,753 28,753
A5t Total 203,913 1,188,443 53,998 1,446,354
“F N\
2018
ANRWTFT
RMB’000
[ 5% B 75 i 45 M I S5 1S B TE R Y Timing of revenue recognition under IFRS 15
e A e D I ]
IR i B A point in time 1,188,443
i FEE ] Over time 53,998
Hst Total 1,242,441
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5.

REVENUE (Continued)

A.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(i1)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Development and sales of properties (revenue recognised at
a point in time)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales
of properties, the relevant properties specified in the
contracts are based on customer’s specifications with no
alternative use. Taking into consideration of the relevant
contract terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Group concluded that the Group does not
have an enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of
the relevant properties to customers. Revenue from sales
of residential properties is therefore recognised at a point
in time when the completed property is transferred to
customers, being at the point that the customer obtains
the control of the completed property and the Group has
present right to payment and collection of the consideration

is probable.

The Group receives a minimum of 30% to 50% down
payment of the contract value as deposits from customers
when they sign the sale and purchase agreement. Such
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities
being recognised. The Group considers the financing
component of advance payment schemes is insignificant and
accordingly the amount of consideration is not adjusted for

the effects of the time value of money.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within

one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

5.

REVENUE (Continued)

A.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(i1)

(it1)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Hotel services

The Group provides hotel accommodation and other
ancillary services to customers. Revenue from hotel service
is recognised over time using output method during
the period as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as it performs. Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately at the point the customer checks out from the

hotel.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied) as at 31 December
2018 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as

follows:

ES
Sales of
properties

ARW¥T T
RMB'000

444,048
270,725

Within one year

TR 8 — A (LR 7 28R A 4

More than one year but not more than two years

714,773
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5. Wtk (ar) 5. REVENUE (Continued)
B. ®E_F—LHFEITHA=Z+— B. For the year ended 31 December 2017
H Ik 4FJE An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year from continuing
ARSE A AR B R AR S 2 g operations is as follows:
ST -
b Sl g3
2017
AR #T T
RMB'000
7 b B 5% Property development 2,109,976
YEME Property leasing 166,343
T 1% 8 4 Hotel operation 27,236
2,303,555
6. AR 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
I P A 5 R B 0% [ 4 o | 4 e 48 IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating segments to be
BOMERRITES (FELEISRE ([ identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
HREPORE]) ) EMER A RALEEA Group that are regularly reviewed by the executive directors, the chief
JICH A3 B PR A A T Ak B > DA il S VR operating decision maker (the “CODM”"), in order to allocate resources to
FEAE R B o ARG 2 K8 RAT 2R AT the segments and to assess their performance. The Group's operating and
mr: reportable segments are as follows:
B B — B S Property development - Development and sale of properties
PEME — YEMNE (GFGHAE Property leasing —  Property leasing (including lease of
YR HHENE) self-owned properties and sub-lease of
rented properties)
WIEEE  — SRR Hotel operation —  Hotel operation
TEREIREREEAEE AT 2Hy No operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
IR 40 A B L 3R 48 A0 in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.
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A BB a) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
i L &Y E S Segment revenue and results
i 0 7 ) % WEME 52 it
Property Property Hotel
development leasing operation Total
ANRWTE  ARWTFT ARWFTT ARKTE
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
BREZZ—N\HF For the year ended
TZAZt—HIEEE 31 December 2018
v i Segment revenue 1,188,443 203,913 53,998 1,446,354
A HER Segment gross profit 589,547 151,682 20,471 761,700
27 Bl A A B 3 Allocated corporate
expenses (60,097) (87,133) (8,335) (155,565)
TR Segment results 529,450 64,549 12,136 606,135
HAA ~ B 3 s M 1R Other income, expenses,
gains and losses (127,870)
e A A A 2 T i s 1Y Impairment losses of debt
BB THEZ BEER instruments at FVTOCI (16,885)
Tl AR Finance costs (178,918)
P WAL B Unallocated corporate
expenses (59,964)
RG] 1Y i A Share of profits of associates 3,668
G465 8 A SE 0 i Share of profits of joint
ventures 101,962
BREWEANTHEH Changes in fair value of
investment properties 465,863
bR B Al i A Profit before tax 793,991
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W H

IR )
Vi L&Y ES UE )

BE-Z—LET-A=Z+—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

ZEAE EiIN i 1 A5t
Property Property Hotel
development leasing operation Total
AR¥TFLT  ARWFTZ AR¥TET ARKFTT
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000
i€ Segment revenue 2,109,976 166,343 27,236 2,303,555
S E R Segment gross profit 768,602 123,051 6,661 898,314
£ B A w B 3 Allocated corporate
expenses (55,514) (66,376) (6,032) (127,922)
S Segment results 713,088 56,675 629 770,392
HAbA -~ B 3 i ad s 4R Other income, expenses,
gains and losses 158,071
il & R A Finance costs (126,904)
i Wl b Unallocated corporate
expenses (73,987)
RS A TR R R Share of losses of associates (3,619)
6B A SE Y i A Share of profits of joint
ventures 2,190
BEWENTHEH Changes in fair value of
investment properties 133,259
B ot i i Profit before tax 859,402
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BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the

reporting year.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments
information are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, impairment losses
of debt instruments at FVTOCI, changes in fair value of investment
properties, other income, expenses, gains and losses, share of results of
associates, share of results of joint ventures and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM, for the purposes of resources allocation

and performance assessment.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results of each
segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment liability is presented
as the CODM does not regularly review such information for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment. Therefore,

only segment revenue and segment results are presented.

Other segment information

Depreciation of property and equipment included in the measurement of

segment profit or loss:

Y S T S

2018 2017

ANRH T ARWT T

RMB’000 RMB 000

Y& Property leasing 5,573 4,952
W 5 & & Hotel operation 9,582 6,063
* 4B Unallocated 3,025 3,954
At Total 18,180 14,969
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6. AEER ) .
Sl VR (40
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AT -
o A 3 Mainland PRC
s Hong Kong

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

No single customer of the Group contributed 10% or more to the

Group's revenue for both years.

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived substantially
from its operations in Mainland PRC, and non-current assets of the
Group are also substantially located in Mainland PRC, except for one
property development project, the hotel property and goodwill, which

are located in Hong Kong.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s non-current assets other
than financial assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at FVTOCI, available-
for-sale investments, restricted bank deposits and deferred tax assets by

geographical location of assets:

e By ¥

Non-current assets

e G S

2018 2017
AR EFL NE T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
6,639,501 5,914,793
423,256 408,424
7,062,757 6,323,217
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

(1) Other income

Interest income from bank deposits

Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL

Interest income from financial assets at FVTOCI

Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL

Compensation income from early termination of
leasing contract

Government grants (note)

Interest income from derivative
financial liabilities

Interest income from AFS investments

Investment income from held-for-trading
investments

Others

OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES

R )\ —ER LA
2018 2017
ARETI ARWTIC
RMB’000 RMB 000
16,939 41,129
14,247 -
6,262 =

5,519 3,830
2,903 1,486

1,048 1,721

= 1,009

- 1,464

= 16

1,066 1,007
47,984 51,662
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7. JCABWOA - B - o B 7. OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES
(%45) (Continued)
) H il has ) g 1R (2)  Other gains and losses
e R
2018 2017
A BT AR T
RMB’000 RMB'000
WEE 50, (s 18) Wi i 13 A Net foreign exchange (losses) gains (164,003) 101,210
AN AR AR Loss on changes in fair value of financial assets
EMEENFEEHER 2 FVTPL (11,267) -
HETERRAL AP EFF A H AL Loss from derecognition of debt instruments
MY A TREEE  ac FVTOCI (2,170) -
HEWE - FE KGR Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (190) (60)
BB Gain on disposal of investment properties - 6,025
A M ABM¥ELZIE  Gain on deregistration of a joint venture - 418
FfEEHEREATEEE  Changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments - 442
S MAEATEESE  Net gain on changes in fair value of derivative
Wi 45 5 8 financial liabilities = 31,080

MAE L FEARIEZ Allowance for receivables from the land
RN B LN administration authority in the PRC in respect
IR of the refund of the prepayment for
leasehold land - (27,714)

(177,630) 111,401
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OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES

(%45) (Continued)
(3)  HAbpH s (3) Other expenses
BN\ —Z—+LF
2018 2017
ARWTFT AR EFor
RMB’000 RMB’000
T 4 20 2248 7 R 2 U 4 Gain (loss) on re-purchase of senior note
(fE18) 2,892 (4,929)
HAth Others (1,116) (63)
1,776 (4,992)
o Total (127,870) 158,071
Bt 5 - Note:

4 R T SRR SR AR T O T S
5 s S IS B R S TR U ) 2 Ak
At B 4

business development activities in the local areas.

The amount mainly represented the unconditional subsidies received from the

local governments where the Group entities were located for encouragement of

il B A 8. FINANCE COSTS

ZE)\E —F L
2018 2017
ARH T AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
SRAT B A B Interests on bank loans 97,301 33,476
18 2 SR 58 0 1 Interests on senior notes 264,661 207,027
e ORIpSS Interests on bonds 1,436 6,353
363,398 246,856

W BEALERETEEWER  Less: Amount capitalised to properties under

BREE R G ER & development for sale and investment
properties under development (184,480) (119,952)
178,918 126,904
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W AR (47)

ARG BB B F — A A A
B G B T B R 4% (—F
—+H4E7.6%) 5B

FINANCE COSTS (Continued)

Borrowing cost capitalised during the year arose on the general
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of

6.4% (2017: 7.6%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets.

B TAXATION
RN\ e S s
2018 2017
ARBFLE — ARKTE
RMB 000 RMB’000
R A 0 Current tax:
— 5 i 2 T 5 B — PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”)
(TR EB ) 171,516 205,937
— TR — Land appreciation tax 183,760 163,813
—H A G — Hong Kong profits tax 71 569
355,347 370,319
TAERL A ([} 3E22) Deferred tax (note 22)
— RSB — EIT 64,107 3,622
— H I EB — Land appreciation tax 32,281 -
96,388 3,622
451,735 373,941

I 111738 PRI B2 0 S i B
R ACSE 2 2w B ZE AN AT ) B O » S
L% S ) TR A AT B DR A -

RoF—/ME=ZA+—H - Fl L kgE
i QoI7FBH (BHT) (5B7%%) WRFIE )
(FREMRBIEZR]) > 51 AR A o 3% 0
IR RN = F—/E=H N HREEE
R0 A A AR ORI o AR A B W AR
il > B S 4 I8 B A 408 25 90 2 B SR Uk 1)
2,000,000% 70 ([T 1) BUANBLIH > I 1% 4%
16.5% 2 B 3R 4442,000,0004 70 LA 1353 1] 2 B
TE o SE BT HEORAF A 75 0 A0 o ) i
BBIET16.5% M — B RGBL

No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands

(“BVI") as they are not subject to any tax during both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$")2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered

profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

TAXATION (Continued)

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated

at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) ( H 32 A [ AL R0 B + d 384 {1
BLE AT Bl) effective from 1 January 1994 and amended on 8 January
2012, and the Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of
the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995 (collectively referred to
the “LAT Regulation”), all gains arising from the sale or transfer of real
estate in the PRC with effect from 1 January 1994 are subject to LAT
at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less deductible
expenditures including payments made for acquisition of land use rights,
costs and expenses for the development of the land or for construction
of new buildings and supporting facilities, or the assessed value for old
buildings and structures, tax payable relating to transfer of the real
estate and other deductible items prescribed by the Ministry of Finance.
Apart from the aforementioned deductions, property developers enjoy
an additional deduction, which is equal to 20% of the payment made
for acquisition of land use rights and the costs of land development and

construction of new buildings or related facilities.

During the year, the Group estimated and made provision for LAT
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon completion of the property development
projects, and the LAT determined by the tax authorities might be
different from the basis on which the provision for LAT is calculated.
The EIT and LAT liabilities are recorded in the “land appreciation tax

and income tax liabilities” of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

9. ﬁlﬁ (#5) 9. TAXATION (Continued)
T A B PR 0 I S 4 B S  i Fr S HR The tax charge for the both years can be reconciled to the profit before
LR tax as follows:
—\4 S w2
2018 2017
ANR¥ T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
o ot T i ) Profit before tax 793,991 859,402
25w (Z“F—L4HE 25%) W Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% (2017: 25%)
R A 2 T S BB R A E B IE 198,498 214,851
SR A0 BH S RS Y 2 Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
purpose 100,491 63,325
A FRBE MO B T 5 22 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (1,380) (32,844)
M EBCEEENBL A Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (25,490) (548)
I AG H E A F R MBS R Tax effect of share of results of associates 917) 905
& 8 (E L LAT 216,041 163,813
I b 38 (E B B B Tax effect of LAT (54,010) (40,954)
) 510 A e R 1 B T s 1R Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised - (8,612)
7 ke B L i 48 ) B 5 S Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 11,477 -
s r B A Withholding tax on undistributed profit of
AR 7 L i A 4802 R TR L PRC subsidiaries 7,025 14,005
451,735 373,941
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Directors’ remunerations (note 11)
Other staff costs:
— Salaries and other benefits

— Retirement benefit scheme contributions

Total staff costs
Less: Amount capitalised to properties under
development for sale and investment

properties under development

Rental income in respect of investment properties
Less: Direct operating expenses of
investment properties that

generated rental income

Rental income from sub-lease of rented properties
Less: Rental expenses of properties under sub-lease
Less: Rental expenses of properties subject to sub-

lease

Cost of properties sold
Auditor’s remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

S L G S
2018 2017

AR TFoo NRBTFT
RMB’000 RMB 000
25,780 14,577
74,156 76,220
12,211 10,047
112,147 100,844
(29,554) (24,272)
82,593 76,572
(146,934) (127,631)
13,862 12,488
(133,072) (115,143)
(56,979) (38,712)
38,369 29,813

= 991

(18,610) (7,908)
598,896 1,341,374
1,340 1,200

18,180 14,969
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

11. EFE BT B R E B4 11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
ENER R EITEANRZMEmT Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year are as follows:
# B
ek o MEGHK RKER
e HEA (kL)  wREfR gt
Performance  Retirement
Salaries, related benefit
and other payments scheme
Fees benefits (note b) contributions Total

AEWTE ARETFZ ARETZ ARWTZ AR¥TE
RMB000  RMB'000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB000

WE_F—/)F For the year ended
TZA=T—HIEEE 31 December 2018

HITEF Executive directors

EHERE Mr. Wong Yam Yin 316 = 11,058 = 11,374

FEHEEA (B ita) Mr. Wong Kam Fai (note 2) 126 3,748 2,645 32 6,551

FHmEE Mr. Wong Kam Keung Barry 126 2,512 2,645 32 5315

Tjie Tjin Fung 4 M. Tjie Tjin Fung 252 = 318 = 570

David JanataJG Mr. David Janata 210 = 238 = 448

FHHITHE Non-executive directors

Kiky Gunawan/t £ Mr. Kiky Gunawan 210 = 238 = 448

Janata Suwita’C A M. Janata Suwita 252 - 318 - 570

B FHTEE Independent non-executive directors

HHR S Mr. Wong Ying Loi 126 - - - 126

FRARE Mr. Lie Tak Sen 126 - - - 126

FHRRICE (Mite) Mr. Li Yiu Fai (note €) 126 - - = 126

WAL (s Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie (note f) 126 = = = 126
1,996 6,260 17,460 64 25,780
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-RATRAHRREAME 11

DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

(%) EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
#5
Haek o MBEMHE BKEM
e bR (WHiEb)  wFEIfE At
Performance  Retirement
Salaries, related benefit
and other payments scheme
Fees benefits (note b) contributions Total
ARWTIE ANRETZ ARETFT ARWTZ AR¥TFZ
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB000
WE_F—LF For the year ended
TZA=ZT—HIEEE 31 December 2017
HITEF Executive directors
FHELAE Mr. Wong Yam Yin 301 = 4,636 = 4,937
T EE (M) Mr. Wong Kam Fai (note a) 120 3,164 1,109 31 4,424
FHEILE Mr. Wong Kam Keung Barry 120 2,139 1,109 31 3,399
Tjie Tjin Fung E M. Tjie Tjin Fung 241 = 133 - 374
David JanataJG Mr. David Janata 201 = 100 = 301
FHITEF Non-executive directors
Kiky Gunawan’t 4 Mr. Kiky Gunawan 241 = 133 = 374
Janata Suwita’G A M. Janata Suwita 201 - 100 - 301
B FHTEE Independent non-executive directors
AR (ko) Mr. Hui Yan Moon (note c) 57 - - - 57
HIR e Mr. Wong Ying Loi 120 - - - 120
H*;ﬁjﬁ Btk ) Ms. Howe Sau Man (note d) 46 = = = 46
FRERE Mr. Lie Tak Sen 120 - - - 120
*@ﬁf‘ai W ike) Mr. Li Yiu Fai (note ) 74 - - - 74
FEHSEAE (MEER) Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie
(note f) 50 - - - 50
1,892 5,303 7,320 62 14,577
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BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

11, #d AT BON B R B4

(%)

(i

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

EMBSEETN AL AR STERAR > K
JA b SO 9 5 0 95 AR s IR R AT BN
B RS B A AT S T <5

BRI AT 30T 2 % 5 5 0 8\ R B

e

ATE—LEANH B Bk
E BT F AT EF

REZ—LHERAA-TH MAEEXL+LE
BHEM L MATH S o

AE—LHETA T H FREELD
ERAT B FRATH S

A-E—LEANA—H EREEECE
ZAERBL AT ES

LR MATEFM S T A5 A A
B S B b 2 % SRR LA R 9 AR AT S 2
S SCAr e ER PR 2 I HATE SO S AT
HEHZMEEET R EEREA R A HE M)
B 3 A o

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

a)

9]

e)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for his services as the Chief

Executive and remuneration as the Executive Director.

The performance related payment is determined by reference to the individual

performance of the directors.

Mr. Hui Yan Moon resigned as independent non-executive director on 22 June

2017.

Ms. Howe Sau Man resigned as independent non-executive director on 20 May

2017.

Mr. Li Yiu Fai was appointed as independent non-executive director on 20 May

2017.

Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie was appointed as independent non-executive

director on 1 August 2017.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and the Group and remuneration as the executive directors.

The non-executive directors” and independent non-executive directors’

emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the

Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included
three directors (2017: three directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in the above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining two (2017: two) highest paid employees who are neither a

director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

“E)\E S w2
2018 2017
AREH T AR BT
RMB’000 RMB'000

A : Employees:
— 4 T Fo At AR A — Salaries and other benefits 2,932 2,568
— R B4 — Performance related bonuses 1,962 1,428
— B R A E — Retirement benefit scheme contributions 83 77
— DA A 5 55 1B 4y S A R — Equity-settled share-based payments 39 39
5,016 4,112

A AL R E S EM ST T oI 2 B
Hri i B BE 0 F

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of
the Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

R )\ R

2018 2017

ATHH BTE8H

No. of No. of

employees employees

ZY T8 21,000,000 7T HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 % 7T £1,500,000% JC HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 - -
1,500,001 JC %£2,000,000% T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1
2,500,001 JC % 3,000,000 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 - -
3,000,001 JC £ 3,500,000 JC HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 - 1
3,500,001 JC 24,000,000 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 -
2 2

AR IR » 7% AR P LS8 1 7 2 ) A ] 2 2 A o
T4 B e I SR T > 1 2 US|
S S P S A 5 O T < 5 R
A o 47 A1 - M S SRR AT 4 -

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors
of the Company or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the directors has waived any emoluments during

the year.
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BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

12. H A 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
A5 RIBEAT N BN 3 P A T v 2 ) T 4K The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
AT 6 G to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:
—F N\ —E—-tE
2018 2017
ABRWT X ANBRHT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
BA Earnings
AEst B R AEA K Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted
0 25 ) 1 2 A earnings per share (profit for the year
(AR A N JRE A 4F 5 365 1 ) attributable to owners of the Company) 342,256 485,461
“F N\ —E—bE
2018 2017
T Tz
Jie 4 8 H Number of shares ‘000 ‘000
FIVERH B A W 2RI Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
488 R HE - 4 the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per
share 1,802,456 1,802,456
B = F— )\ R = F— AR Al 1 RAT The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the
o B R 2 A 16 v A P A7 2 A T A i exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options because the exercise
A e I v 2 R R T AR A T A A ) price of those options was higher than the average market price for
e AT 2 R o DRI > T4 B 2 B AR shares for both 2018 and 2017. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per
25 ) BT R R A 2 R AR share was same as the basic earnings per share for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

JBe B 13. DIVIDENDS
=&\ —E—tE
2018 2017
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB000
AF T AR B 40 IR Y R Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
BE_EF—LHETA Final dividend for the year ended
E+—HIEFEENRHRE 31 December 2017 of RMB0.028
BB N R ¥0.028 7T (2017: final dividend for the year ended
(ZF—LF HE_F S 31 December 2016 RMB0.025) per share
ToA=Zt—HIEFEER
AR5 I A
AR H#0.0257C) 50,469 45,061
BE-F—/EANH=TH Interim dividend for the six months ended
1B 7518 A w3 A S 30 June 2018 of HK$0.016 (equivalent to
R AB0.0164 7T (AR 72 RMBO0.014) (2017: interim dividend for
ANE#¥0.0140) (—F—L4: the six months ended 30 June 2017
BE_EF—LHESH=TH RMBO0.0188) per share
WA DENi bRl Y 3!
B BB A B 50,0188 ) 25,070 33,886
75,539 78,947
WoE - NFE+ A=+ —H%E EHE® Subsequent to 31 December 2018, a final dividend in respect of the year
HEE-Z-N\E+A=+—HILEE ended 31 December 2018 of HK$0.019 (equivalent to RMB0.016) per
TREEAR B B 0.019%5 7T (A i A R share, in an aggregate amount of RMB29,200,000, has been proposed
0.0167C) - HH £y N R #29,200,0007T » 3 28 by the Directors and is subject to approval by the sharecholders in the
158 PSR M Je Pl SR AR K & b HEHEAR D T AR forthcoming annual general meeting.
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZF— N\F+H =1 —H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

14. W03k ~ Wi b B it fhi

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ME LR B R &
WiEmE LHREF b e VES1 E
Leasehold Computers
land and hotel Land and Motor and office Leasehold
property buildings vehicles equipment improvements Total
ANREFE  AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFL
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000
B Cost
RoZ—tE—H—H At 1 January 2017 = 81,096 8,411 9,009 18,146 116,662
NE Additions - 2 521 2,587 14,932 18,042
Wi — A ) (i 3kdo) Acquisition of
a subsidiary (note 40) 404,606 - - 89 681 405,376
e bt 2 4 Exchange differences (22,357) = = ©) (38) (22,400)
i Disposals - - - (243) - (243)
RE-ZF—LE+ZA=+—0 At 31 December 2017 382,249 81,098 8,932 11,437 33,721 517,437
nE Additions 8,827 6,930 358 1,806 14,409 32,330
AR Transfer from properties
under development
for sale 70,933 - - - - 70,933
i 3625 40 Exchange differences 18,592 - - - - 18,592
HE Disposals = = (194) (25) (42) (261)
WZZ—) M+ ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 480,601 88,028 9,096 13,218 48,088 639,031
i Depreciation
REZ—tFE—H—H At 1 January 2017 = 20,597 4,553 5,588 10,497 41,235
A B Al Provided for the year 3,511 3,652 1,232 999 5,575 14,969
02 R i g Eliminated on disposals - - - (183) - (183)
R_Z—tHE+-H=+—H At 31 December 2017 3,511 24,249 5,785 6,404 16,072 56,021
A Al Provided for the year 5,519 3,096 785 1,950 6,830 18,180
e b 2 3 Exchange differences 419 - - - - 419
1 A Eliminated on disposals = = 5) (24) 22) 51)
REF—) M+ A=+—H At 31 December 2018 9,449 27,345 6,565 8,330 22,880 74,569
G A Carrying Value
RZF—)F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 471,152 60,683 2,531 4,888 25,208 564,462
RZE—-LETZA=Z+—H At 31 December 2017 378,738 56,849 3,147 5,033 17,649 461,416
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The leasehold land and hotel property of the Group comprises a
leasehold land and a hotel property in Hong Kong where the cost of
leasehold land cannot be separated reliably. The entire lease is classified
as a finance lease, and the leasehold land and the hotel property are
amortised and depreciated between 50 to 75 years using straight-line

method.

The land and buildings of the Group comprises land use rights and
buildings in the PRC where the cost of land use rights cannot be
separated reliably. The entire lease is classified as a finance lease, and the
land and buildings are amortised and depreciated between 20 to 36 years

using straight-line method.

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation of

other property, plant and equipment:

Motor vehicles - 41010 years

Computers and office - 3 years
equipment

Leasehold improvements - over the lease period or 5 years, whichever is

shorter

As at 31 December 2018, leasehold land and hotel property and land
and buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB400,415,000
(2017: RMB388,126,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain

banking facilities granted to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

15. BLEWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
St SN bl ¢ o
R < ¢/ES A5t
Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties development Total
AR BT AR BT AR T
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
R_Z—tHF—-H—H At 1 January 2017 4,485,181 543,441 5,028,622
NE Additions 8,146 52,637 60,783
ERACRIGEYE Transfer from completed
properties for sale 2,690 - 2,690
L ¥ Transfer 112,260 (112,260) -
i Disposals (11,448) = (11,448)
JA 4R A B R 2 Y- (2 8l 15 4 Net change in fair value recognised
in profit or loss 97,077 36,182 133,259
RoFE—tF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2017 4,693,906 520,000 5,213,906
NE Additions - 129,653 129,653
ERADR LAEYE Transfer from completed properties
for sale 53,164 = 53,164
L5 Transfer 220,063 (220,063) =
& Disposals (154,517) = (154,517)
JA 4R A T 2 (A 8 8 30 4 Net change in fair value recognised
in profit or loss 250,153 215,710 465,863
REF—AE+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2018 5,062,769 645,300 5,708,069

AAE B E YR A TE TS EE A T
AR R (T4 SE A (AR 1) A 5 10 K 2
AT AR 2 30 A TR SE A R 2 8 S A
HIT A AEESHEMEGTREE
K% o A SE B I 45 W) 3 T e BR T (i R e A
SEAGAE o M) 3E A (E A o bt oy 7 o b BR SR
40598151#1502% o

The fair values of the Group's investment properties were arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out at the end of the reporting period by
CHFT Advisory And Appraisal Limited (the “Property Valuer”), who
is a firm of independent valuer qualifications including member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The Group's investment properties
have been valued individually, on market value basis. The address of the
Property Valuer is Unit 1502, 15/F, 40 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

For completed investment properties, valuation was arrived at by making
reference to the market transactions or asking evidence, as the case may
be, of comparable properties, with reference to the basis of capitalisation
of the rental income derived from existing tenancies with due allowance
for reversionary income potential of the properties, where appropriate.
The valuation of investment properties under development was carried
at by making reference to the current or recent prices of similar
properties and estimated costs to completion based on construction
budget, committed contracts, allowances for contingencies as well as
developer’s profit margin, which reflect the risks in relation to, inter
alia, the completion of the construction and marketability of proposed
development, and in achieving the anticipated income or capital

appreciation on the date of valuation.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of
these investment properties are determined at 31 December 2018 and
2017 (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well
as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorized (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to

the fair value measurements is observable.

LiES b AN TSR fl 3
Property Fair value Valuation
category hierarchy techniques
CRIREWE HENE =8 B
Completed Commercial Level 3 Direct comparison
investment properties
properties
=8 [N
Level 3 Income method
et =8 H LBk
Car park Level 3 Direct comparison

AT LR A\ g
TR B A% Ao L5 i A\ o AR B R
Significant Range of Relationship of unobservable
unobservable inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
(1) BRI 10,952%78,138 AT R T
(ARHE/FIK) (ZZ =5 :10250%
77,729)

10,952 to 78,138
(2017: 10,250 to 77,729)

(1) Adjusted market price
(RMB/square meter)

(2) B 7 e 0%%65%
(ZR L4 0%%65%)
0% to 65%

(2017: 0% to 65%)

(2) Level adjustment*

(1) BA R S%E6.5%
(ZF =14 5%%65%)
5% t0 6.5%

(2017: 5% t0 6.5%)
2807 (ZF— LA 3%28)

(1) Capitalisation rate

@ BAAR (ARE/
FHA)
(2) Daily unit rent 2to 27

(RMB/square meter) (2017: 3 to 28)

R E
(R i)

277,524%316,667
(ZF—tH4F252,443%
288,889)

277,524 t0 316,667
(2017: 252,443 to 288,889)

Adjusted market price
(RMB/per car park)

20184 JE it ANNUAL REPORT 2018 203

The higher the adjusted market
price, the higher the fair value.

BB AR -

The lower the level adjustment, the
higher the fair value.
AL AR AP -

The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value.

0 AL A (B o

The higher the daily unit rent, the
higher the fair value.

AT R AT AR

The higher the adjusted market
price, the higher the fair value.
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BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

15. SEWE @) 15.

B AFHEER Al
Property Fair value Valuation
category hierarchy techniques
G GRS ¢/ES EHEE FIER %
Investment properties Level 3 Residual approach

under development

& TR E BCE W (BT TEMR S 3 — ) 2
BT IR » A 4 [ BERE A 26 2 T AT R 5
—METE ) fF B > TR T TR B 3538
Sy B s 6 (BRFOLIE ) -

AR ML = 2 S\ B

RREPR AEMETEN AR
4,015,769,0007C ( ~%F — L4 NR#
4,347,106,0007G) Z 5 B4 3 C KT 8RAT
R RSB T RATRUE 1B 1R -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A B A\ Mt 5
BRATEE 0 AL A B A\ W AFHIE R
Significant Range of Relationship of unobservable
unobservable inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
BT AR/ k) 13482522743 AR AP
(ZZF—t%F 113302
15,000)
Adjusted market price 13,482 t0 22,743 The higher the adjusted market
(RMB/square meter) (2017: 11,330 to 15,000) price, the higher the fair value.
HARA (NRE/FHK) 565527781 T A R A -
(=& —L4F 1 4,810%6,908)
Budgeted cost 5,655 to 7,781 The higher the budgeted cost, the
(RMB/square meter) (2017: 4,810 to 6,908) lower the fair value.
TS 5 0 10%%20% T B e AP
(ZF—+t4:20%) e
Anticipated developer’s profit 10% to 20% The higher the anticipated
margin (2017: 20%) developer’s profit margin, the
lower the fair value.
* When determining market price of investment properties located in levels

other than first level, level adjustment is made to market price of investment
properties located in first level which is from market transaction or asking

evidence, as the case may be.

There is no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment properties
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB4,015,769,000 (2017:
RMB4,347,106,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking

facilities granted to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

16. GOODWILL

ANRET T
RMB'000

A i T A Cost and carrying amount
NFE—tFE—H—H At 1 January 2017 -
S B A J A D BT E AR (B sE4o) Arising on acquisition of subsidiary (note 40) 30,716
TEE 51, 7 Exchange adjustment (1,030)
REZF—tF+"H=1+—H At 31 December 2017 29,686
[ 5o, 57 Exchange adjustment 1,430
R-F—-NE+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 31,116

JA R R 1 % — £ F U Double
Advance Group Limited ([ Double Advance |) T
FE P 2 B B s A R 31,116,000 ©

7 =% AR B LA ARG 0 e
o T (e 1

BT S - FRE A A — R 5L
S B A RO B R — PR
7 -

74 8 o7 B R R Ie] 4 ARAR BR EL0 FR B (E EE

T {5 (AR A B R A A S 4 (%
— LA N BB BT > 3 R 7.4%
(ZF—H4E 1 74% ) MBLATITBL R - AR B
RS (ZF—LF ANF) NWB TR B
MEREs 50 (—F—L4 35% ) HIERERE
FEBRE I o IR I3 R SR LA R4 b IR AR R
frEEm R E I B AR BIR AT M
RT3 o f I E EFE 2 b2
BB ETRA T AR (G P aEaEE
LB T ) AR AR AR
7 i 25 ) 28 I B S Y 45 R ) T

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Double Advance Group Limited (“Double
Advance”) during 2017 is RMB31,116,000.

No impairment loss on goodwill is recognised by the Group in 2018 and
2017.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill have been allocated to
one individual cash generating units (CGUs), comprising one subsidiary

in the hotel operation segment.

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period (2017: six-year), and pre-tax discount rate of 7.4% (2017:
7.4%). The cash flows beyond the five-year period (2017: six-year)
are extrapolated using a steady 3.5% growth rate (2017: 3.5%). This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and operating expenses, such estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and management’s expectations for the market

development.
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17. RBE A v KRR 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
ZE-N\E —E b
2018 2017
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB000
NI ARG A —JE BT Cost of investment in associates — unlisted 345,900 345,900
b OR R dcE (ER) Share of post-acquisition gains (losses) 49 (3,619)
345,949 342,281
AL B E A F IR The Group's associates are as follows:
KEBRHZ
[y 22 [y 7% OAES E3:F 3 A A e AR P FEEY
Country of Principal place Proportion of ownership interest
Name of entity Form of entity establishment of operation Registered capital held by the Group Principal activity
ARKT i K e SS
RMB000 2018 2017
(AREHERARART) BaAREEAR il HRER 730,000 33% 3% RHERE
(MR &E])) () Domestic limited PRC Nanjing, PRC Property development
Nanjing Mingyu Real Estate Co., Ltd. liability company
(ARAEEXARAR)
(“Nanjing Mingyu”) (note 1)
(RS EREREARAR) Bl RITEAR i B 20,000 5% »%  FHERE
(HFRHE]) (K2 Domestic limited PRC Nanjing, PRC Property development
Nanjing Ruiyu Real Estate liability company
Development Co., Ltd.
(ARBERREREERAA)
(“Nanjing Ruiyu”) (note 2)
(EMTT R EREARAR) TR E R T s 750,000 13.33% 1333%  BBERE
(TEMIED ) (BEs) Sino-foreign PRC Changzhou, PRC Property development
Changzhou Peiling Real Estate joint venture
Development Co., Ltd.
(3 T S B B A TR )
(“Changzhou Peiling”) (note 3)
BMieEL © REF—LHE—H o AL 5w 4 8 Note 1:  In January 2017, Nanjing Mingyu was established by the Group and other
2 =05 SRR L R 4 B ) AR T two independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital
%N B 240,900,000 70 1747339 FEAE - contribution of RMB240,900,000 and has a 33% equity interest. Nanjing
T4 B A B RO A R AR A R Mingyu is a limited liability company established in PRC and engaged
fegefm e PHEE TS - I % —L4F - 1 in property development. In 2017, Nanjing Mingyu has commenced a
A B C I T RO P S R IE . property development project in Nanjing, PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

17.

WaE © R TF LA > A AR 5
=S AR B M RS MR EEA
B 15,000,000 78 3 5 1 25 9 FBEHE © B 5t 8t
BRI A REAE AR EH R
HE BB SEHS c AR p st B E TR
o R R ) A B R A

Note 2:

Maks : R F—LE A AL E R AR
755 = 5 IR UL H N il 1) AR
& A R %100,000,00070 0 £ 613.33%
JROHRE o 7 52 [ AR T 5 M 9 3 8 6 o A
— AL o N TR A I e B BT P A R
FAT A A o 48 3 55 M B o 30 o AR AR
FEE > % o B B ) S i
THH-

Note 3:

FRE A v 2 B R
T 3CZ S B R o AR R B i o
SV 2 s ) AR B R BT S

al

I O RS AR A B R AR T RE R 9 A
o

&

T E Current assets

I Vi) Non-current assets
B AR Current liabilities
i B B A7 Non-current liabilities

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In October 2017, Nanjing Ruiyu was established by the Group and
other independent third party, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB5,000,000 and has a 25% equity interest. Nanjing
Ruiyu is a limited liability company established in PRC and engaged
in property development. During the current year, Nanjing Ruiyu has

commenced a property development project in Nanjing, PRC.

In December 2017, Changzhou Peiling was established by the Group and
other independent third party, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB100,000,000 and has a 13.33% equity interest. The
Group is able to appoint a director in the board of directors of Changzhou
Peiling. Changzhou Peiling is a limited liability company established
in PRC and engaged in property development. During the current year,
Changzhou Peiling has commenced a property development project in

Changzhou, PRC.

Summarised financial information of material associates

The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown

in the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

Nanjing Mingyu

ZEFN\E —F—kF
2018 2017
ARWBT T ARHET T
RMB'000 RMB'000
1,606,828 1,503,703
267,118 180
1,129,408 784,169
7,723 -
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BEZF— N\F+H =1 —H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

17. TR 4 v IR (41)
FEER AT Z MBERBE (4

17.

ML (H)
LA E A REREREL T AE:

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)

Nanjing Mingyu (Continued)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

ZFR )\ —E -t

2018 2017

ANRWT X ANR¥ T

RMB’000 RMB'000

Ba KRR a5 EY Cash and cash equivalents 248,536 388,861

RN A (R ) K Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income

AEa () B (expense) for the year 17,101 (10,284)
AR A A (1) RS DL &0 - The above profit (loss) for the year include the following:

—F- N\ S v 2

2018 2017

A BT AR T

RMB’000 RMB'000

E-YE 3 Depreciation and amortisation 88 19

FE A Interest income 960 301
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZF— NF+H =1 —H IL4FJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

17. BB Al R (a0 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
FEEE AR ZMEEREE (4) Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)
BRE 5 () Nanjing Mingyu (Continued)
I A AR B B A o £ B S R R A R Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
2 T 4 T A R 2 R - carrying amount of the interest in Nanjing Mingyu recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

“F-N\E —E—-tE
2018 2017
ANR¥ T ANR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
A Net assets of Nanjing Mingyu 736,815 719,714
AEEREEAELZ Proportion of the Group’s
B A RERE 45 L 1 ownership interest in Nanjing Mingyu 33% 33%
AREMPREE R4 E ZERIREE  Carrying amount of the Group's
interest in Nanjing Mingyu 243,149 237,506
1 55l FE 7 A 1 Bt 4 7] 2 B OF A Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material
—F )\ —E -t
2018 2017
ARWTF X AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
5 T A A% Ml 1R % The Group's share of post-tax loss and total
BT 3L AR comprehensive expense 1,975 225
A58 B R %A A A T Y Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
1 i R T AL interests in these associates 102,800 104,775
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18. REBAENHELR 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
“F N\ e S
2018 2017
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB000
A EAAENIE b BCE A Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 218,065 182,794
A S 4 i ) Share of post-acquisition profits 195,096 93,134
413,161 275,928
R AR AR S BRI RENT Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

REMIEEZ
EBLR ERER kb o REEEN HHZRBEN Mg 1 A EL> 1
Country of Proportion of
incorporation Principal place Class of shares effective interest
Name of entity Form of entity [establishment of operation held  Registered capital held by the Group Principal activity
T “E\E CFtE
000 2018 2017

HRGBMHARA HREE AR KRELRE ik Tk s0ET 49% 4% BEER

([EEEHMAL) (K1) Limited ([EFELHS]) Hong Kong Ordinary  ([E7)) Investment holding
Powerlong Golden Wheel liability company British Virgin United States

Coral Company Limited Islands (‘BVI”) Dollars

HESHMYARAR (‘US§")50

(“Powerlong Golden Wheel

Coral”) (note 1)
HiEeREBARARAR HREE AR Fik ik LK 100001 49% 4% BEER

([EEERAE]D (M) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary ~ HK$10,000 Investment holding
Powerlong Golden Wheel liability company

International Famous Limited

EEeREBABARAR

(“Powerlong Golden

Wheel Famous”) (note 1)
ENEREREEARAR SHBELE i RGN AfER  61,000% 5 49% 4% FRERE

([HMEREREEE]) (M) Wholly-foreign PRC Yangzhou, PRC Registered capital ~ US$61,000 Property development
Yangzhou Golden Wheel invested enterprise

Powerlong Realty Co., Ltd.

BNEREEEE

ARAH

(“Yangzhou

Golden Wheel Powerlong

Realty”) (note 1)
o3t s A TR ) BRAREEAT  HH RGN A ARN 1400007 20% AR FRERE

(THMEREL) (K2 Domestic limited PRC Yangzhou, PRC Registered capital ~ RMB140,000 N/A Property development
Yangzhou Jiashiwei liability company

Construction

Development Limited
BRI R
HRAR

(“Yangzhou Jiashiwei”) (note 2)
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18. REBEEMNER 2

TR e S St S R
B4 BRI 1 990 A
BB TR A 4 A A
9% RO - TR T S AL &
CEEEERES TR
) -

IR A S RS A
AT RN B RS R
35 75 92 A B B
BSR4 FE R 55— T 207 2 — 5K
R (AL TR B A1
ZEBRE-

REF—NF+ZA=1+—H > ALK
A M FE 209 B BEAEE - IR A B b3
Wih e » 45 0 5 1 J AR A I B 3 — T 40
SEIRI ] B £ 5 B 2 B 3t
TS 140k 2 R B 9 0 75 A A T R L ] A
PEIEN A —3T 8l 2 —80R 3 - Wtk
M Bt R Y A MRS B AR E 2 A A
£

fff 32 -

FEABMEZ B AR
T 3CZ SR BB R I AR B s i o Y
MR 2 B SE B R KBTS 23 -

BARERALE G BRI R A

o

& o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group holds 49% of the equity
investments of Powerlong Golden Wheel Coral, which holds 100% interests
in Powerlong Golden Wheel Famous and which in turn holds 100%
equity interests in Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong Realty (collectively

referred to as the “Coral Group”).

Under the joint venture agreement, the Coral Group is jointly controlled
by the Group and the other party because the relevant activity affecting its
returns from its involvement with the Coral Group requires the unanimous
consent of the Group and other party sharing the control. Therefore the

Coral Group is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

At 31 December 2018, the Group holds 20% of the equity interests
of Yangzhou Jiashiwei. Under the joint venture agreement, Yangzhou
Jiashiwei is jointly controlled by the Group and other parties because
the relevant activity affecting its returns from its involvement with the
Yangzhou Jiashiwei requires the unanimous consent of the Group and other
parties sharing the control. Therefore, Yangzhou Jiashiwei is accounted for

as a joint venture of the Group.

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown

in the joint venture’ financial statements prepared in accordance with

IFRSs.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.
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BEZF— N\F+H =1 —H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

18. REBREMHELR 2) 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
FEABREIMBEERME (4) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(Continued)
A5 Coral Group
“E)\E —E—LE
2018 2017
ANR¥ T ANR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
WE G E Current assets 533,757 496,964
I B Non-current assets 719,007 587,495
mE) A E Current liabilities 187,675 358,263
R A Non-current liabilities 293,220 163,078
bR E R AR T &I The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
e L
2018 2017
AR T ANR¥ T
RMB 000 RMB'000
Ra RBE%EY Cash and cash equivalents 4,172 50,685
I B 4 A Non-current financial liabilities 235,000 151,000
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18. REBREMHELR 2) 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
FEABREIMBEERE ) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(Continued)
B LE [ () Coral Group (Continued)
“F-N\E —F -t
2018 2017
A BRWT X AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi g Revenue 110,055 17,882
R A A8 S5 1k ) Profit from continuing operations 208,751 4,470
RN Profit for the year 208,751 4,470
A A 4 T WAL i K 4 Total comprehensive income for the year 208,751 4,470
3 A R i ) B A DA 0 The above profit for the year include the following:
ZF)\E — -t
2018 2017
A BT AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
iR Y€ Depreciation and amortisation 764 402
FEMA Interest income 207 795
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BEZF— N\F+H =1 —H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

18. REBREMHELR 2) 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
3 A B B S 5 BB B R N R Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
2 I 2 A MR T (2 R carrying amount of the interest in Coral Group recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

ZEN\E e Sl oS
2018 2017
ARWT X ANR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB 000
3 55 A Net assets of Coral Group 771,869 563,118
P 3 381 4 18 22 A HEHE i L 191 Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest in Coral Group 49% 49%
P 0 2 B 2 E A R T Carrying amount of the Group’s
interest in Coral Group 378,216 275,928
(PRI S N Ry -Se Pty iid<y ] Aggregate information of a joint venture that are not
individually material
“FN\E —F—+tF
2018 2017
ANRWT L AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
5 T A A% Ml 1R % The Group's share of post-tax loss and
A TH 3 AR total comprehensive expense 326 -
REBMPREESEN Aggregate carrying amount of
o 4 R I A the Group's interests in the joint venture 34,945 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:

Listed investments:
— Equity securities listed in Mainland China

— Funds listed in Hong Kong

Unlisted investments:
— Equity securities (note a)

— Structured bank deposits (note b)

Total

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets

Non-current assets

e
2018 2017
ARBTT — ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB 000

3,119 =
83,070 -

86,189 =

173,002 -
146,000 -

319,002 -

405,191 —
232,189 =

173,002 -

405,191 -

20184 JE it ANNUAL REPORT 2018 215



for o B 25 A M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

19. AP AR 2B ¥ ()

Wit :

(@ bR AR S R P B AR AT R A
BRI (1B P I3 BRSRAT | ) 1 PR AR 38 55 > 3%
SRAT s — L o I A 0 5 e 7 2 AT > 2
BT RITET - BEMAT LG T - TR
TE(FL T i 5 R 45 A T (B RE A IR R R o e
T R A K AR T B\ R %5173,002,000
TCE AR T SRAT » LAY (R A AR W R
TARATRE -

by RZF-NETZA=Z+—H &HME
FTA7 3G A< 52 77 A 5 ]8R AT 10 1 8 ol 1
SR B 455 0 e SR AT AR R (T 465 SR AT A2
) o B35 B A PRI o AR B 11 7k -
B MR SRAT A IR R R B 5 R B
% B M) I 6 Bl 56 38 B4R I i ] AT
FIE53.05% 84.2% » A G HE E LR
A FL i %5 SR AT HR A £ o

20, $5 APk A il 2 i e ik 19
BILR

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Concinued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The unlisted equity securities represent an equity interests in Ji '] 5 % 4R
TT iy A BR 7> 7] Xiamen International Bank Co., Led. (“XIB”), a licensed
commercial bank established in the PRC and is principally engaged in the
banking business, retail banking and funding business. The carrying amount
is measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. At the end of
reporting period, total carrying amount of RMB173,002,000 were pledged to

banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

At 31 December 2018, structured bank deposits represent foreign currency or
interest rate linked structured bank deposits (“SBDs”) placed by the Group to
a number of banks for a term of 35 days to infinite. Pursuant to the relevant
underlying agreements, the SBDs carry no guaranteed interest rates and
maximum variable rates from 3.05% to 4.2% per annum with reference to the
performance of exchange rate or interest rate during the investment period and
the principal sums are denominated in RMB fixed and guaranteed by those

banks.

20. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI

ZENEF

2018
AR BT
RMB’000
i EmEENIE Investments in listed bonds,
— $ [E] 78 4F F F5 25 % 5t Bl — with fixed interest of 5.25% per annum
WZF—/\FEHAT—H and maturity date on 11 May 2018
I 5,464
— $¢ [E] 78 4F F %595 % 5t Bl — with fixed interest of 5.95% per annum
RZFE—=NE+—H and maturity date on 25 November 2018
—+3 R E 4,447
9,911

(LAt R A B s

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 45.
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BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

w1 4 B ¥ 21.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

e
2017
AR BT
RMB’000
LW BRARE A TE Unlisted equity investment, at fair value (note)
(B &E) 157,400
iV Analysed as:
E| U Non-current 157,400
Bt 5 - Note:

S T B A 4 A
£y M f B S 00 50 0 4RAT - EE G
RT3 ~ % MR AT ST T (07
KA -

9B %1t B2 22.

SR I ISR DL = > A TR B IR
B KAMEE TR - DUT AR B b
IR I SEBLIA S BRI 74T -

The unlisted investment represents an equity interests in XIB, a licensed commercial
bank established in the PRC and is principally engaged in the banking business, retail
banking and funding business. The carrying amount is measured at fair value at the

end of the reporting period.

DEFERRED TAX

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset.
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

reporting purposes:

ZE N\ —EF—tF

2018 2017
ARWTFIT AR BT

RMB’000 RMB 000

B AL B TE B Deferred tax assets 120,585 85,174
IR TE A R Deferred tax liabilities (1,178,972) (1,043,793)
(1,058,387) (958,619)
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22. WEHEBLWE (4 22.
REBTEZELERIEEE (A1) LA

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised by the Group and

JRAE I B2 ) - movements thereon during the year:
TR A bR
—
WEATR  HAPH
LA AR BE-HER A AHER
R RENE ARRAR BER mERE REATHE  emEE
EH OATEZH BANEAR O AEER  SEERG Hi# W ATHER  SHRA At
Fair value
adjustment
on property,
plant Changes
Withholding and in fair
LATand  Changes in tax on equipment value
other  fair value of undistributed Allowance for ~ Accelerated arising from  of financial
temporary  investment profits of PRC other tax  acquisition assets Contract
differences  properties  subsidiaries Tax losses  receivables  depreciation of a subsidiary ~ at FVTPL costs Total
ANREFTE ARBTFIE ARFFE ARBFT AREFT ARBFL AREFT AREFL AREFT ARKFZ
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
PZF—LH—H—HAc 1 January 2017 27,420 (936,758) (23,218) 14,197 = = = = = (918,359)
Wl — MM E AT Acquisition of a subsidiary

(i E40) (note 40) - - - = - (3,008) (35,786) - = (38,794)
EE A (MBR)  Credit (charge) to profit or loss 33,439 (33,314) (14,005) 3,189 6,929 (142) 282 = = (3,622)
[ 36,75 % Exchange differences - - - - - 176 1,980 - - 2,156
REZF—t& At 31 December 2017 (audited)

+ZAZ-A

(B%EH) 60,859 (970,072) (37,23) 17,386 6,929 974) (33,524) - - 958,619)
HE (Hx2) Adjustments (note 2) = = = = = = = = (1,309) (1,309)
B\ At | January 2018 (restated)

—R—H (BEH) 60,859 (970,072) (37,223) 17,386 6,929 974 (33,524) - (1309 (959,928)
RELFA (BR)  Credit (charge) to profit or loss 46,588 (122,046) (7,025) (1,177 = (143) 456 (3,901) 860 (96,389)
3% Exchange differences - = = = = (169) (1,902) = = (2,071)
R\ At 31 December 2018

+ZAZt—H 107,447 (1,092,118) (44,248) 6,209 6,929 (3,286) (34970) (3,901) (449)  (1,058,387)

WA i _FF/FE—HA—H
BR b > BT\ AF L T BRI U ) BRI
AT H B ST 2 T S BB 1 A
LR AR1096 TE A1 T A5 B o 76 s 5 it o
()BEEE HEE S B EBLR () o B
3 0 R A 2 D A B T R R 4
R BRI B > i T —
A=1+—H > WEHRE —FTN\FE—H—H
2 H B E A F A AR ,078E E T (—
F—LHF: NR¥723HE ) ERT R B i
FIGHEAT MR B R > R EAEEE
9 % S SR T VR AT AR 200K PR 2 - Sl T
R A ST I RER At Ry )
HEARAR BT g A g3 [

Under the EIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, 10% withholding
income tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits
earned in year 2008 onwards and distributed to foreign investors for
companies established in the PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong
Kong, a preferential rate of 5% will be applied where appropriate.
Other than the PRC withholding income tax provided in respect of
undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries as above, no deferred taxation
has been provided for the remaining retained profits of approximately
RMB1,078 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB723 million),
which was derived from the PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 as
the Group has set aside such sum for non-distributable purpose, and is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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22.

23.

24.

R B (47)

RS BR - A LB A R B EERD
N R 24,836,000 (—F—LE+ A
=+ —H: AR ¥69,544,00070) 7] F 1A HE 85
AR A i A1) o A A T R A A T e A R
6,200,0000C ( “F—+tHE+"A=+—H: A
R #517,386,0007T) B A AN AT T I 5 4 i )
AR > WO 4 S R A AT AR AR
LhwE ) 29 N R H45,907,0000C (—F—L4F:

38 ) R IEAE B JF V7 -
i 8% i 1% B 3R

RE-F—NAF+_A=+—H AEHRZ
BH %% o B W E A T R o T A B P
B W 36 T4 B A BT 5 B A 2 BAK R B
Heo MG IR AEBIREEA AR
1,736,391,00000 ( —F —LHF+ = =+—
H: AR Hs55,369,00000) 2 % T B 4% o 17 65
PIEC IR T RAT > DA E R 2 AT
WITMEFEER-FEDREEYEARYE
349803300070 (=& —+t4HE+ A =+—
B AR %1,296,134,00000 ) T8 H A € it B
& H A Rl H N B o

B AREELE/ES

RoFE— ) E+-A=+—H AE@AZE
B TR EMEMRHE - E R LEEY
3 T4 R AR B 5 B VR 2 BRAS A R
et AR > A BT (40 A R¥123,719,000
L(ZFE—tFE+_A=+—H: AR
184,817,0007C) Z 45 T B TAFE L KA
TRAT DA AR R TR TRUE 1F
Pafk o

BE-Z

22.

23.

24.

A B U 5 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately RMB24,836,000 (31 December 2017: RMB69,544,000)
available for offset against future profits for which a deferred tax asset
of RMB6,209,000 (31 December 2017: RMB17,386,000) has been
recognised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately RMB45,907,000 (2017: nil) which were mainly arising
from Hong Kong and may be carried forward indefinitely, due to the

unpredictability of future profit streams.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

At 31 December 2018, the Group's properties under development for
sale are situated in the PRC. All of the properties under development for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. At the end
of reporting period, certain of the Group’s properties under development
for sale with a carrying amount of approximately RMB1,736,391,000
(31 December 2017: RMB55,369,000) were pledged to banks to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the Group. Properties under
development for sales of RMB3,498,033,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB1,296,134,000) are expected not to be realised within twelve

months from the end of the reporting date.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s completed properties for sale are
situated in the PRC. All completed properties for sales are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. At the end of reporting period,
certain of the Group's completed properties for sale with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB123,719,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB184,817,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking

facilities granted to the Group.
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BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

25. BU5) Ko SU Ak ek o

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

ZE)\E —R LA

2018 2017

AR¥Fx AR #TFr

RMB’000 RMB’000

& 5 MW sk IH Trade receivables

— & 5 R R — Goods and services 75,997 63,573
— R B i IR — Operating lease receivables 16,537 16,600
92,534 80,173

HoAth 1B i 7 IR Other receivables 106.751 62,480
W5 E R EE Less: Allowance for credit losses (27,714) (27,714)
79,037 34,766

45T R T Y R Advances to contractors 21,404 12,180
FoAt 7 A B IH Other taxes prepaid 41,294 20,848
234,269 147,967

WoFE— ) EHZH = —H R F— /4
—A—H>BF A2 85 WAL R F
AR H75,997,0007T B A\ R #563,573,0000C ©

B o BRSO TR A R S B e T
DY AERRrd<e//E I Gigiit/E i) Tleik-L
o B 36 2 ARZRARBEA B B 5 ol el
1 o AL — P TG O » 30 T 5 4 ]
HTEFRT30H S EREEH-

As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018, trade receivables
from contracts with customers amounted to RMB75,997,000 and
RMB63,573,000 respectively.

Trade receivables mainly comprises certain consideration for sale of
properties and rental receivable in respect of self-owned investment
properties and sub-leased properties. Consideration in respect of sale
of properties is receivable in accordance with the terms of related sale
and purchase agreements. Rental is usually received in advance, and a
credit period of 30 days, or more are granted to certain customers in a

discretions basis.
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BE-Z

B 50 B A HE Wk (47) 25.

LR 7 ASE A9 2 H /SR LR H 409 (B
AR AR B AR ) AR  RTER B
LR MR 0 2 MO IR AR AT <

0230k 0 to 30 days
BIEIPN 31 to 60 days
612180k 61 to 180 days
14Dk Over 1 year

BN oFE—E+-H=4—H AELENE
5y MENCHR IR &5 B ELAE ity H A E i i 2 g
e B > AR I B 5 A R ¥52,314,0000C 3%
SFm ALt MEAE 0 R B A I 5 R
L A AAR 7 4 o 452 [ A0 % 55 45
FEA A HEHH 5

R-F—tFE+ A=+ —H AL E
WSCHR kB4 2 ) LA 0 R i (s
BB AIRELGIOR CREENT) > R R
PR PR AE S {5 S RO M R )
EUA B ST A 5 mT Wi e o A% 4 [T
A R AR A AT AT i o

A B U 5 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for
credit losses presented based on the date of delivery of properties/date of
rendering of services which approximated the respective dates on which

revenue was recognised.

ZE N e Sl ok

2018 2017
ARWBTIT ANR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
90,220 80,088

1,739 -

575 -

- 85

92,534 80,173

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with the aggregate carrying amount of
RMB2,314,000 which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, none has been past due 90 days or more. The Group

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

At 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s accounts receivables
are debtors with the following carrying amounts which are past due
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss, as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are still
considered recoverable based on historical experience of the management.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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25. RS B CAb MECK I (1) 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Concinued)
A L7 A (Y 55 2 MR S T 1 e 4 Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:
T
—F—LE
2017
AR T
RMB'000
4ERL B Over 1 year 85
BE-Z—CLHET A= —HIEFEE ? For the year ended 31 December 2017, in determining the recoverability
1 7 5 7 JRE MU T T A T A R > A R of the trade receivables, the Group monitors any change in the credit
FHRME R E 28 H IR E 5 quality of the trade receivables since the credit was granted and up to
WK R R EH) - KT fhf% > & the reporting date. After reassessment, the Directors believe that no
A0 S R AR AR o allowance is required.
IR R 488 14 52 ) — JHC b B WK O Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts — other
receivables
e
2017
ARMBT
RMB’000
—H—H 1 January -
IR S8 R A A Allowance for bad and doubtful debts 27,714
+-H=+—H 31 December 27,714
B 5 BHA G E 2 —F — /T H Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the
= B R B U A R O M year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 45.
450
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26. A HIRAK 26. CONTRACT COSTS

“FB-N\E

2018

A BT e

RMB’000

TEAS A AR B R (B RE) Incremental costs to obtain contracts (Note) 1,793
Mgt R ANFF+A=+—HE&ERLZE Note: Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2018 relate to the incremental
KR B A 8 5 1R B R b AR (48 sales commissions paid to sales employees and property agents whose selling
S 01 8 5 0 Y i 2 5 A 4R R R4 H activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase agreements
JAAE £ 0 ) SERT AL B Rk ) 1 1Y B for the Group's properties which are still under construction at the reporting
B0 4 7 B o B 20 LA T A T 40 3 B 5 ik date. Contract costs are recognised as part of selling and marketing expenses
i e R 2 00 T A 4R i TR AR B 1 I in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue
BB B SR — AR o R 4F N 7E 48 i ERR from the related property sales is recognised. The amount of capitalised costs
BARAL A 4 A N R H3,441,0007T © 4F recognised in profit or loss during the year was RMB3,441,000. There was no
A AR A R A A AR B 00 465 6 s AL impairment in relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs

A ) BB A capitalised during the year.

27. FAEPHB Dt 2l b2 27. PREPAYMENTS FOR LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR

TS kB DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

R-F—tHFE+ZA=Z+—H  FRSHEE At 31 December 2017, the amounts represented prepayments for
FEAE bR 8 DLAL S A AL 2 TR RO leasehold land held for development for sale, of which the land had not
T % b 7 R AT T A ] been handed over to the Group as of that date.
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28, MEWC— [RIWBH 88 A W) 3k 28. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE
ZE-N\E —E—tE
2018 2017
AR T AR ¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
S — [ A ) Nanjing Ruiyu, an associate 15,106 26,832
NE-NERFE—LETHZF— At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the amount is non-trade in nature,
H o % H i I E AR B B K which is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
29. FPMEHHBH 29. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS
et
2017
AR T T
RMB 000
N E AR 2 H I T R 5 Listed securities in the PRC stated at fair value 4,098
30. HHARBERBESHD 30. DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(1) AEHERAT R (1)  Structured bank deposits
BoE—EFTA=ZT—H At 31 December 2017, structured bank deposits represent foreign
PESRAT 7 3K 8 A48 B O 5 T 4RAT currency or interest rate linked SBDs placed by the Group to a
Fi26 H 2180 H 9 SME SR R0 45 number of banks for a term of 26 days to 180 days. Pursuant to
WEPESRATAE K o ARIEAH B ok » A5 IE the relevant underlying agreements, the SBDs carry guaranteed
SRAT A7 K HK0.35% 21.25% 2 TR 8 F| % interest rates from 0.35% to 1.25% and maximum variable rates
FHE > HEKEFEFIRA F24%% from 2.4% to 4.5% per annum with reference to the performance
45% (9582 2% T R o R R 15 & of exchange rate or interest rate during the investment period and
Mz %B) » AgUNRBEFHE > f3% the principal sums are denominated in RMB fixed and guaranteed
SFEATRE AR AR - EHRRS > ik by those banks. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value
ARTHE TR AP35 A 42 Y 65 of embedded derivatives does not have material impacts on the
T B 5 IR TG s K 28 results and financial position of the Group.

224 A R ¥ B4 BL A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



30. fEak B BLE RBLEFE )

2

52 Pkl SR AT A K

HoAth 52 BR A7 3K (Bt aka)
& PRIV R 1 £7 2K
(B5ED)

R AT B S B9 A7 5K (i REe)

ST

i

B

Wit

b)

% 5 ARIR AR A B A T RAT
B W SRAT A K B A4 T A A 4 T
T PR B T BRI

% 5 BRI AR T SRAT 1R 2 A 4 [
FPERATE T & T E 0T
T B0 TR R BRAT A K o 2 TR 4R
AT A2 SR TE SRAT W B 2 1 SRAT R 48
AR W 2 0 5 22 BT A R B A A A
AR BRI A SR AR B <
R B AREER R A =
{8 A 2 i e

K

Eo4

P R HE AT T SR AT R A T 4R

K
A AR A B N TR W SR AT A7

N
b
o

T

Ao o B 5 R Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

30. DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

@

Other restricted deposits (note a)

Restricted bank deposits

Deposits pledged for guarantees granted to

customers (note b)

Deposits pledged for bank loans (note c)

Analysed as:
Current

Non-current

Notes:

a)

b)

)

e N I
2018 2017
ARMTFLE — ARKTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
79,983 21,461

9,375 17,483
186,500 273,750
275,858 312,694
205,858 312,694
70,000 -

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB placed with certain
banks in the PRC and the usage of which are restricted to certain of the

Group's property development projects in the PRC.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as
security for certain mortgage loans granted by the banks to the Group’s
customers. The restricted bank deposits will be released upon receiving
the building ownership certificate of the respective properties by the
banks from the customers as a pledge for security to the mortgage
loans granted. In the opinion of the Directors, the building ownership

certificates will be granted within the next twelve months.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as

security for certain bank borrowings.
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BEZF— N\F+H =1 —H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

30. fEak B BLE RBLEFE )

@) ZWHIRITER (#)
2 WA SR AT A7 2 A ] 2 R 4 F

4 ) e o [

30.

Range of interest rate per annum

DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

(2) Restricted bank deposits (Continued)

The restricted bank deposits carry fixed interest rates as follows:

ZEN\E —EF kA
2018 2017
0.3%-3.15%  0.3%-5.225%

3) BlakBE&FHEY
B4 R &5 Y 58RI T i MR
S TR B 4 L i AT 35
LB A IR AT AT 2K o A A A SR
FA B =MARUT -

Bl LB e EY LT U R

(3) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and cash held
by the Group, and short-term deposits placed at banks that bear
interest at prevailing market interest rates. All deposits are with

an original maturity of three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in currencies other than

W loh 2 & HsHHA - the functional currencies are set out below:

—F )\ —E -t
2018 2017
ARWTF L ANR¥TF T
RMB’000 RMB 000
ESPT Us$ 72,762 3,142
T HKS$ 19,890 179,112
92,652 182,254

A RATAE BRI T The bank balances carry interest rates as follows:
—E N\ —F—+LEF
2018 2017
A 2 Range of interest rate per annum 0.01%-4.2% 0.01%-5.225%

226 A R ¥ B4 BL A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



31.

A B U 5 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

U B Ui Ak 31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
ZE-N\E “F—tE
2018 2017
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB000
B 5 A Trade payables 485,015 360,138
Al JRE AT 3R IH Other payables
Bl EZE Rental deposits received 74,408 56,430
L A B A5F B Other taxes payable 53,973 24,465
JE A5t 1) L Interest payable 75,206 34,379
AT B T A Staff cost payable 17,360 26,601
At B A% T B JRE B S Other payables and accrued expenses 15,226 13,711
Wi J T A ) 2 AR (i E40) Consideration for acquisition of
a subsidiary (note 40) 105,000 -
A R ASF K AR A Total other payables 341,173 155,586
Z 5 T H Ah 18 A+ 5 TE AR AR Total trade and other payables 826,188 515,724

— R > 4% T B 5 ME AT S M A AR L 7
B R & 2 P fE W0 B 160K K123
A o B 5y AT ST R M 1 AT R 1 B AN T

invoice date are presented below:

0% 60K 0 to 60 days
612180k 61 to 180 days
1818365k 181 to 365 days
1 E Over 1 year

5 5 e A5t s T AR AR Total trade payables
WZF—NE+_A=Z+—H 5NN
JH (RS 418 NRHE87,504,0007C (—
T—HAFE - NRW79,436,00070) > (hA#)E#S
5% %10% °

Generally, the average granted credit period for trade payables and
retention money payable to contractors is about 60 days and 1 to 3 years

respectively. Details of the aging analysis of trade payables based on the

R )\ —E L
2018 2017
ARWTFIT ANRWT
RMB’000 RMB’000
385,175 336,387
362 7,774

1,448 1,271
98,030 14,706
485,015 360,138

At 31 December 2018, trade payables include retention money of
approximately RMB87,504,000 (2017: RMB79,436,000), which relates

to 5% to 10% of the contract prices.
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32. AR 32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
“F N\ “E—)\EF
+ZA=Z+—H —H—H*
31.12.2018 1.1.2018*
A BRWTF ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
TP FE M) 7% 5 R AT 2K Deposits and prepayments received from
pre-sale of properties 491,612 675,766
& SHU 0 46 BT 7 B IR S o v 5 & The amounts in this column are after the adjustments from the application of
ISHEAR A A % IFRS 15.
T REH A TR A RS A A A The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the
Z g AR o current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.
Sales of
properties
ANRBT T
RMB’000
AEASEN R BB R Revenue recognised that was included
e e BB Uk 4 in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the year 675,766
33, MEAT B AR BB B A v sk 33. AMOUNTS DUE TO JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES
ZE N ZE— )\
+ZA=Z+—H —H—H*
31.12.2018 1.1.2018*
A BT AR T
RMB’000 RMB'000
RS mmy, —HaErE Powerlong Golden Wheel Coral, a joint venture 16,069 54,306
BMEE — WG EhE Yangzhou Jiashiwei, a joint venture 12,271 -
MR —HEE A Nanjing Mingyu, an associate 202,252 115,500
GRLRIR i - /N Changzhou Peiling, an associate 81,313 -
311,905 169,806
R_E—NFE+_A=1+—H FEBIE As at 31 December 2018, the amounts are non-trade in nature, which
SRR B MR A S M R R A i are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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34. BUTAEK 34. BANK BORROWINGS
=&\ —E—tE
2018 2017
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB000
i Secured 2,410,976 1,593,450
SR Unsecured 118,287 67,709
2,529,263 1,661,159
AR IR B 2 MEAB R IR © Carrying amount repayable based on
repayment terms:
— 14 N B 4% oK — Within one year or on demand 1,569,118 1,171,865
— 14E F24F — Within a period of more than one year but not
exceeding two years 89,463 150,000
— 2 F 54 — Within a period of more than two years but
not exceeding five years 870,682 339,294
2,529,263 1,661,159
W B 5 ) B — A Less: Amounts due within one year shown
EECE e under current liabilities 1,569,118 1,171,865
51| 5 I i B A A 1Y 2E Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 960,145 489,294
A5 BT A AR LB IR A2 (ST AR The ranges of annual effective interest rates (which are the contracted
) HEMT interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows:
ZFNE —F L
2018 2017
E BRAT 1 K Fixed-rate bank borrowings 2.8% - 5.42% 2.8%
77 BRAT (& 3K Variable-rate bank borrowings 1.9% - 6.51% 1.9% — 6.65%
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34. BTG (4 34. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

PN RSN & Wt Y 8RAT 3 37
T

S HKS$

B IR ERAT (ST RIE R A1
N EE14 15219 23 ~ 245430 °

TREEN > A SR M E S — ERAT B CE T 1%
A B A S B RRRE AR bR 2 R R F
— N+ A = — A BRI T B R
(B N R H169,983,0007C © HR B H S IR
BT A5 408 ) 5 5 S LK B S A SR A »

BHR —F—N\FET A=t B AR
BV R o AEAEATREDU T » A i 77 2R B RF (R
B EHAE RGN E
AR HERASE B R RSB E B A AR -

Bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than RMB are

set out below:

ZEN\E —Z—t&
2018 2017
ARKTT ARWTF T
RMB 000 RMB'000
1,933,565 1,201,637

Details of the assets pledged and guarantees for the secured bank

borrowings are set out in notes 14, 15, 19, 23, 24 and 30.

During the year, in respect of a bank loan with a carrying amount
of RMB169,983,000 as at 31 December 2018, the Group breached
certain of the terms of the bank loan, which are primarily related to
the debt-equity ratio of the Group. Since the lender has not agreed
to waive its right to demand immediate payment as at the end of the
reporting period, the loan has been classified as a current liability as at
31 December 2018. In any event, should the lender call for immediate
repayment of the loan, the Directors believe that adequate alternative
sources of finance are available to ensure that there is no threat to the

continuing operations of the Group.
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35. SENIOR NOTES

ZF-N\E —Z—tF
2018 2017
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB000
w—H—H As at 1 January 1,961,602 1,616,279
BAT 15 ST AR Net proceeds from issuing 1,258,455 1,354,369
GNP Interest for the year 264,661 207,027
FEREAT A FLE Interest paid/payable for the year (211,555) (195,520)
AF T MEE S s R (i i) Exchange loss (gain) for the year 203,108 (113,391)
AT Senior notes repurchase (79,732) (507,411)
ERASE Repayment of principal - (399,751)
Bt+=HA=+—H As at 31 December 3,396,539 1,961,602
15 - Represented by:
i — 4 7R BT 20 451 % A FE AT 3K JH Incerest payable within one year reclassified as
TE T U B B AR A AR current liabilities under other payables 69,800 26,213
BER g Senior notes 3,326,739 1,935,389
3,396,539 1,961,602
5 B AR Shown as current liabilities:
—RUAE R B2 — Repayable within 1 year 1,972,944 =
IV E SN Shown as non-current liabilities:
— VAR AR S I — Repayable after 1 year but within 5 years 1,353,795 1,935,389

RoF—AEF—AZH > ANFIEE(ESE
11754 44H100,000,0009 TC A SE 2245 (46
DO CZEE |) o S5 DUHL MR R 22 DA TRt
1> 371 3 3k 78 3 5 i A BR m) E 7o

SF VU A 510 SRR 4 SR T AP 1) 8. 25 % 7 -
AR AR AT 5 B T AR R ] SR 5
A —F— L+ — H = H 5 - 5500t
TR B AR £58.909 B TH U4
BRI R LBAEE RS KA
ST H R UVE S RAE— A A g o

On 3 November 2016, the Company issued at par senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$100,000,000 (the “Fourth Senior
Notes”). The Fourth Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed
on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The Fourth Senior Notes carry
interest at a nominal rate of 8.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrears, and will mature on 3 November 2019, unless earlier redeemed
or repurchased. The effective interest rate of the Fourth Senior Notes
is 8.90% per annum. The purpose of the Fourth Senior Notes is to
refinance existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and

for general corporate purposes.
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35.

BEREYE (w)

AR —LENA R RN FEE—
TIN5 50 5 T A R W) B AT R 4 KA
200,000,00035 7C 1 575 0 41t (88 5le S B AR MR
8 AR T 2 P et IPRY
HELEZBRFINZHENBEEEAERSEN
101.237% o 5 VU L 08 S A AR A D SR 4 1 Ho At
7R R ERLSES Ut 00 e S A ] = 65 O i S 2
PEBES IR E R 8 269 5T B » S it
B RN R R R RO AR A F H A
“E—HAENH+—HIAER-

BT — FE—A+—H o A R E 5
1A% 4 #8%5200,000,0003 TC R B R 5208 (146
THEEERE ) SRR st
{8 > SR BTN 38 75 22 5 B A PR A B 7o

5 L0 S SR SR T A A R 96wt S > B
AT AR SO > BR T 4 SR [ S [ > 5
A ZF = — A /CH B o 56 F
SR B A R 57 74% o BATHR FLALE
EEREELBABREERME KA E
TEH R 5 S A — B A i o

35.

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 25 April 2017, the Company further issued additional senior
notes of the Fourth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of
US$200,000,000 (the “Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes”)
listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price of the
Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes was 101.237% of the
principal amount. The other terms of the Additional Notes of the Fourth
Senior Notes are same to the Fourth Senior Notes. The effective interest
rate of the Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes is 8.26% per
annum. Details of the Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes are

set out in the Company’s announcement dated 11 April 2017.

On 11 January 2018, the Company issued at par senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Fifth Senior
Notes”). The Fifth Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed
on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The Fifth Senior Notes carry
interest at a nominal rate of 7% per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrears, and will mature on 18 January 2021, unless earlier redeemed
or repurchased. The effective interest rate of the Fifth Senior Notes is
7.74% per annum. The purpose of the Fifth Senior Notes is to refinance
existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general

corporate purposes.
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36. BONDS

R—H—H As at 1 January

GRNEDSS Interest for the year

FNEA EAFLR Interest paid/payable for the year
A 1 T B2 s 48 Exchange loss for the year

B 25 W 1] Bonds redemption

REA S Repayment of principal
“rZHA=1+—H As at 31 December

1 Represented by:

i — 4 I F 7 20 251 % H At 5 K T Interest payable within one year reclassified as

TET W B AR E A LS

(Ei Bonds

B By B A Shown
—RUERER

IE R IN-E Shown

—VRRERSF A HE

R_F—HFE+HA_+=0 _F—H4
T—At—H ZFZ—-AFE+ATHEZ
F—ANET—H AR AN B E B
BE1T AR 42 45143 ,600,0007 TT > 106,400,007
T 135,500,0009 7T % 22,200,009 G 1) fi5 5
(M) &S LS eEHE R A LT -
S5 A e 2 T A %R10.90%  HEF1R10.90%
A #10.90% I A R 56, 5% 5T B, - B 22 it
SR SCAT - R TR L ) g ] 5
AR = FE—NETAZ T ZH 22N
Fr—A+H ZF-AE+ANLALEZ
Z—NE+—H+/N\ABIH - B85 B
FyBUA B 1 R O R — A R R &

current liabilities under other payables

as current liabilities:

— Repayable within 1 year

as non-current liabilities:

— Repayable after 1 year but within 5 years

ZE— )4 e S
2018 2017
ARFr AR ¥Fr
RMB’000 RMB’000
18,362 177,904
1,436 6,353
(1,225) (7,936)

1,092 6,925

- (164,884)

(19,665) -

— 18,362

- 146

- 18,216

— 18,362

- 18,216

On 23 October 2015, 11 November 2015, 10 December 2015
and 18 November 2016, the Company issued at par bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$43,600,000, HK$106,400,000,
HK$135,500,000 and HK$22,200,000 respectively (the “Bonds”).
The Bonds are HK$ denominated and are unlisted. The Bonds carry

interest at a nominal rate of 10.90% per annum, 10.90% per annum,

10.90% per annum and 6.5% per annum respectively, payable quarterly

in arrears, and will mature on 22 October 2018, 10 November 2018,

9 December 2018 and 18 November 2018 respectively unless earlier

redeemed or repurchased. The purpose of the Bonds is to refinance

existing indebtedness and to satisfy for general corporate purposes.
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36 ﬁ# (#) _7)6 BONDS (Continued)

A0 R EB RS R A N B R DR = The Company may, at each anniversary date of the issue date of the
S E T A R AT B %08 Bonds by serving at least three months™ prior written notice on the
HEE H AR AR S HERI1009 (2 HBEER 43 ) I B bondholder, redeem the Bonds (in whole or in part), at 100% of the
&5 o 0 S AT Z A AR LI ] F A e T principal amount together with payment of interests accrued and unpaid
KATZFE oA =B —RE R ZF—LHE up to the date of such early redemption. During 2016 and 2017, the
G2 B AT 4R RO 4 > DA R R A B Group exercised the early redemption option to redeem HK$99,300,000
447 1 B ) 4 8 599,300,009 70 (AR & % (approximately equivalent to RMBS87,168,000) and HK$186,200,000
#) N B H587,168,0007% ) T 42 % £5186,200,000 (approximately equivalent to RMB164,884,000) of the Bonds out of
T CFE A A9 N R 164,884,000 ) 2 18 cash from internal resources respectively. During the year, the Company
F o AL AN R AN IR E IR K B repaid HK$22,200,000 (approximately equivalent to RMB19,665,000)
Tﬁ?ﬁﬁ‘z\%ﬁﬁﬂ,ZO0,000%fﬁ Gy S OPNERY: of the Bonds out of cash from internal resources.

19,665,0000C) Z {55 ©

37. JBAR 37. SHARE CAPITAL
PN/
The Company
B4y 4 B JBe A
Number of
shares Share capital
e
Us$
A I THT E0.01 25 76 1 3% 48 i Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each
B Authorised:
A —tFE—-H—H- At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and
“E—-LFEFZA=+t—HR& 31 December 2018
—“E-NE+-H=+—H 3,000,000,000 30,000,000
CEAT KR Issued and fully paid:
R_FE—LHFE—-H—H- At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and
“E-tHE+A=Z+—0 K 31 December 2018
—“F-N\FE+ZA=+—H 1,802,456,000 18,024,560
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A (45) 37. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

RBE-F—-NE+H=+—HILFE
HE R BT A ) -

There is no movement of authorised and issued capital during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

NR BT
RMB’000
A BB R R 251 Shown on the consolidated statement of financial position
—E ) HE+A=F+—HK at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017
:?#Jgiﬁ*iﬂiﬂ“*ﬁ 113,099
ok B 38. RESERVES
e ) A A Special reserve
R\ SRR
2018 2017
ARETIL ANRBF
RMB’000 RMB’000
W E 53 R (2) Deemed distributions (a) (25,296) (25,296)
AR (b)) Deemed contributions (b) (c) 78,629 78,629
A (ZERLFX) %EZ%KIE@) Amount arising on Reorganisation (as defined
below) (d) 105,936 105,936
W i = TR R AR 2 BRE Ge) Amount arising from acquisition (e) 395,332 395,332
1 3540) Dividends (f) (378,495) (302,956)
176,106 251,645

AR L 4 645 R DA 5 DB 2 A KR

@ R-F-BER_Z——F BB
TR Bl By N R #612,113,00070 A
13,183,0007C » 45 JE Wi g 7t 46 i 5 ot 7
BRESABRA ] ([ R i |) 3K
TR R 4 B0 BUELA) 5 R I A PE 2.
PR ZE 8 ARSI G S o A T{EL TS
TR FGKE A A (B B 1R
HEGE H 2 TR B ) BB
FH R A 4 T 1

Special reserve comprises amounts arising as a result of the followings:

(a)

In 2010 and 2011, deemed distribution of RMB12,113,000 and
RMB13,183,000 respectively representing the difference between
the principal amount of the amount due from Nanjing Golden
Wheel Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Golden
Wheel Real Estate”) and its fair value at initial recognition
were charged to the special reserve. The fair value is determined
by discounting the estimated future cash flows throughout the
expected life of the advance (that is, from date of advance to

expected repayment date).
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38. fifhi ()
Fe Bkt (A7)

(b)

©

@

RN A /A U R E
WRESEABRA R ([ St pRE ) K&
R 2 v e i 7 % > AN A
W Sl R R R 4
WEMERE- B E - F -
H =4 — B IR AR ey mi A 51 i
{1 JE s R 5T 4 i S b E RO B 4
iy 75 L A A G 3R A5 A 4 B 2R
ARG B 2B R11,597,000
TEA MRS A5 1 1) 4l A8 R o

R oE— A NRH67,032,000C 2
REASF 8 B S R VB M 6 f 23 0 AR
B By WLAE 1) 5 B e AR 14t 2 o

T By A AN W IR A B W B 2 T
mimiE T 2w (TEH]) i—F5
SWBEBRARAA ([SWIER]) R
TR AN A N B U 4 e B
BEARAR (T&WBEBEE]) 2
10096 HE » 77 = 5y 1) 5 5 2 BREOR B A T
1,000,000 A/A RIS B » A2 A i
HBWR AL E 2 BERAF - REE
—EF -+ -H=+—HILEE;
N E#105,936,0007C 2 5EARFRI it -
W T A ) A T B 4 N B 564,000
0 % 4w ) PR A5 P AR T (E A A R
106,000,0007C 2 2548

38. RESERVES (Continued)

Special reserve (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Subsequent to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International
Corporation Limited (“Golden Wheel International Corporation”)
and its subsidiary Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June
2012, the Group waived Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate
from repaying the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel Real
Estate. The difference between the amount due from Nanjing
Golden Wheel Real Estate carried at amortised cost and the
principal amount of the amount due by Nanjing Golden Wheel
Real Estate to the Group at date of waiver of RMB11,597,000 was
credited as deemed contribution to the special reserve during the

year ended 31 December 2012.

An amount of RMB67,032,000 due to the then shareholders was
waived from repayment and was credited as deemed contribution

to special reserve in 2012.

As part of the reorganisation for preparing for the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(the “Reorganisation”), Golden Wheel Jade Company Limited
(“Golden Wheel Jade”) acquired 100% equity interest in Golden
Wheel International Investment Limited (“Golden Wheel
International Investment”) on 18 June 2012 through issuance
of 1,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company to the then
shareholders, and the Company became the holding company of
the Group thereafter. The amount of RMB105,936,000 credited
to special reserve during the year ended 31 December 2012
represented the difference between the nominal value of share
capital of the Company of approximately RMB64,000 and the
nominal value of the share capital of Golden Wheel International

Investment of approximately RMB106,000,000.
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38. RESERVES (Continued)

Special reserve (Continued)

(e)

Pursuant to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International
Corporation and Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June
2012, an aggregate amount of RMB395,332,000 being (i) the
difference between the nominal value of share capital issued by
the Company and the fair value of the consolidated net assets of
Golden Wheel International Corporation and Nanjing Golden
Wheel Real Estate (excluding fair value of 7.50% equity interest
in Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel Realty Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Jade
Golden Wheel”) and 3.75% equity interest in Yangzhou Golden
Wheel Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Golden
Wheel Real Estate”) held by Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate);
and (ii) the difference between the consideration paid and the
carrying amount of net assets attributable to non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries being acquired from the non-controlling
shareholder, was credited to special reserve during the year ended
31 December 2012.

Dividends of RMB100,000,000, RMB63,987,000,
RMB35,148,000, RMB24,874,000, RMB78,947,000 and
RMB75,539,000 were declared and recognised as deduction
against special reserve in the years ended 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014, 31 December 2015, 31 December 2016, 31
December 2017 and 31 December 2018.

Surplus reserve

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and the

articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries:

(a)

PRC subsidiaries registered as sino-foreign joint venture:

The PRC subsidiaries may, at the discretion of board of directors
of the PRC subsidiaries, transfer a portion of their profic after
taxation reported in their statutory financial statements prepared
under the applicable PRC accounting standards to the surplus

reserve.
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38.

39.
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38. RESERVES (Continued)

39.

Surplus reserve (Continued)

(b)  PRC subsidiaries registered as wholly-foreign invested
enterprise or domestic limited liability company:
The PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of
their profit after taxation reported in their statutory financial
statements prepared under the applicable PRC accounting

standards to the surplus reserve.

The appropriation to surplus reserve may cease if the balance
of the surplus reserve has reached 50% of the relevant PRC

subsidiaries’ registered capital.

The surplus reserve can be used to make up losses or for conversion into
capital. The PRC subsidiaries may, upon the approval by a resolution of
the owners, convert their surplus reserve into capital in proportion to
their then existing capital contribution. However, when converting the
PRC subsidiaries’ surplus reserve into capital, the balance of such reserve
remaining unconverted must not be less than 25% of their registered

capital.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme approved on 10
December 2012 (the

right to grant options to any executive, non-executive or independent

Share Option Scheme”), the Company has the

non-executive directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-
time) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies
or any other person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion,
has contributed or will contribute to the Group (“Participants”) to
subscribe for shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for
each lot of share options granted for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to the Participants. The Share Option Scheme will remain

effective for a period of ten years commencing from 10 December 2012.
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39. W IBCHESHE ()

TEAR KA PR SEAMERG UL T AR R
FBCHRE 1 AT Rt 2 S FBCRE 8 B R B A
ATHEE A A 2w AL o] B 2 3647 35 PG
109 © 16 A KA A BOR S SEHOMERS LT
JAAE AT — 4 10 2 48 % AT A e AL )\ 4%
B S FBCHETEL T 88T S 7 38T 2 SR
B ARSI AN m TG B 3617 @
B2 1% o 2 ERBORSE LI RTH F
AL R A0 19 BB (E B S T ¥ T2
S S R B DR Fo A ) PSR 2R S o o
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A2 R B PO U1 A Vs I A2 P
FHR B R Bk 2 T A G B e d it F OBl
TS H > A0 R 2 A 7 v W 5
FR B R B i PS8 s R4 w3
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Maximum percentage of options exercisable

259% Sk I

25% of the options
HIN25 96 T M
Additional 25% of the options
HIP25% Bk b

Additional 25% of the options
259 1

Additional 25% of the options

39.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed
1% of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a
value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the

Company'’s shareholders.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the ordinary shares of the
Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the ordinary
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the ordinary shares of

the Company.

All holders of options granted under the Share Option Scheme may only

exercise their options in the following manner:

it s 391
Vesting period

i B — 84
Upon the first anniversary of the date of grant
i B e
Upon the second anniversary of the date of grant
i B =4
Upon the third anniversary of the date of grant
2 i H A A A

Upon the fourth anniversary of the date of grant
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39.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and specified in the offer
letter to be given to a Participant at the time of the offer of the option,
there is neither any performance target that needs to be achieved by the
grantee before an option can be exercised (the “Performance Target”) nor
any minimum period for which an option must be held before the option

can be exercised.

On 23 July 2014, the Company granted 8,700,000 share options (the
“2014 Options”) to certain key management personnel and employees

with certain Performance Target determined by the Directors as follows:

. If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the tranche of the 2014 Options become
vested (the “Vested Tranche”) is RMB200 million or more, the

portion of the Vested Tranche will be completely exercisable.

. If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is more than zero but less
than RMB200 million, the portion of the Vested Tranche will be
not exercisable, and will be automatically deferred to the next year
of vesting period and so forth until the audited net profit meets
the required RMB200 million.

. If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is negative (i.e. audited
net loss), the portion of the Vested Tranche will be cancelled

immediately.
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39.

Jik DBt 0 )

TERBEEEFE -/ EFEHHEFH R
“E—LEFTAZ T HIFEER B
WERT B 2 — & — DU AE e 2 ) -

ESFINE ZEiE il

Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period

TEERAR 23.7.2014 23.7.2015-22.7.2024
Key management

23.7.2014 23.7.2015-22.7.2024
Employees
RoZF—tE

FZAE—HAf
Exercisable at 31.12.2017

REZF— N\
FZA=+—HATfE
Exercisable at 31.12.2018

BB ERFLE T AS T
H o AR A ST 81 B 52t B o R A7 i )
JRHEE BT 1 I 22 Pt 4 85 B 58,700,000 > {5 4%
N AR H B BT R B 0.48% ©

REE-Z—-NE+ A=+ K _-F
—bEHFE+ A=+ B IHEE > AL A
TR I PR RRE T 1 2 o~ 47 {0 0 i P A

T — YA IR A AT E TR A
PR (A 35 4 e — &7 1 o e o 1
R o AR B R 1 A A i A FRAE A2
F IR 1A 2 5 0 Jo (A Y 5 i LA o
S8 o MR H A S B PR R A BT AT (A
{E£52,032,0009 70 (FHE A 41 A #51,603,000
oC) cMBE_FE - NFEFZH=+—HI
R AN A RRAS A W 2 B IR R AR B
AN R¥E22000000 (ZF—LF: AR
#229,0007C )

A B U 5 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following table disclosed movements of the 2014 Options granted

under the Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December

2018 and 31 December 2017:

A%\ REF— NG

ARk B

“F-tE “Fbf

i FZAZt—H

Tofiit WAL R ERITHE ERslk WAL

Outstanding as at

Outstanding as at Granted Exercised Forfeited 31.12.2018&

Exercise price  1.1.2018&1.1.2017 during the year during the year during the year 31.12.2017

LOOETC 2,800,000 - - - 2,800,000
HK$1.00

1007 7T 5,900,000 - - = 5,900,000
HK$1.00

8,700,000 - - - 8,700,000

6,525,000

8,700,000

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the number of shares in respect of
which options under the Share Option Scheme had been granted and
remained outstanding was 8,700,000, representing 0.48% of the total

shares of the Company in issue at that date.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, no
share options were granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under

the Share Option Scheme.

The fair value of the 2014 Options was determined at the date of
grant using, among others, the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing
Model based on the respective vesting periods of the share options in
accordance with the variables and assumptions based on the Directors’
best estimate upon the grant date. The total estimated fair value of the
share options granted on the grant date was HK$2,032,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB1,603,000). During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Company recognised total expenses of RMB229,000 (2017:
RMB229,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.
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40. WV B ) 2 ) 40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
BEFE)ETZH=1T—HILE Year ended 31 December 2018
JE&
W_FE—-NFLAT=H  AEECTERA On 13 July 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% interest
— &85 = 7 DL 4 ARE843,800,0007 TG in Winning Year Limited (“Winning Year”) from an independent third
(FHE A N R #5717,399,0007T ) Wi Winning party, at a cash consideration of HKD843,800,000 (approximately
Year Limited ([ Winning Year ] ) 100%/BH o i equivalent to RMB717,399,000). The acquisition has been accounted
Winning YearC 45 11 58785 ELIic i B i1 £y B E for as acquisition of assets and assumption of liabilities since Winning
TSI BA T b > DA R A 42 [ 5 o s B Year has ceased operation and the purpose of the acquisition is to
SEH PR SR S TH AR S WU SR purchase existing land in Hong Kong to enhance the Group’s property
BEaBAR. development business segment.
L1 A Winning Year (1% & 28 I (H U0 F : Net assets of Winning Year acquired are as follows:
e s
tH+=H
13 July 2018
ABRH T
RMB’000
B E Current assets
BRREDYE Properties under development 717,692
A 8 i SR E Other receivables 65
AT B KB Bank balances and cash 2
bR R Current liability
JH Al JE AT B IH Other payables (360)
717,399
WZF—NELATIHE ALEC % On 19 July 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of 100%
WA — 2B =T DB UE AR interest in Wuxi Yizhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Wuxi
210,000,000 Y4C i 885} T 4t A2 75 b s B 5 Yizhong”) from an independent third party, at a cash consideration of
PR T (TG 55 A | ) 10096 IEHE o i EE85) 45 RMB210,000,000. The acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition
A C A I AR HLUOE Y £ i R IS 1Y of assets and assumption of liabilities since Wuxi Yizhong has ceased
B b DA g A4 ) 5 e PR B 2E T operation and the purpose of the acquisition is to purchase existing land
P8 » A% MR S T A WA O BRI B in Wuxi to enhance the Group’s property development business segment.
NS

242 A R ¥ B4 BL A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



AR A BA B AR M RE
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BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

40. WVl WY 088 2 v () 40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEZR—)\ETZA=ZT—HILE Year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
B (#)
8t AR Y A R EAN T Net assets of Wuxi Yizhong acquired are as follows:
—2— )\
tH+IH
19 July 2018
ARWT L
RMB’000
REBEE Current assets
BRREDYE Properties under development 198,518
Ho At U OB Other receivables 8,669
SRITEE R B4 Bank balances and cash 2,813
210,000
Wi R A ) 2 B 4 VR A Net cash outflow on acquisition of the subsidiaries:
i 91 2 R it
Wuxi Yizhong Winning Year Total
AR T ARWT T ARHT T
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
oA Total consideration transferred 210,000 717,399 927,399
W R A IEAT (AR (BERE) Less: Outstanding consideration
payable (note) (105,000) = (105,000)
W BT 2 B Less: cash and cash equivalent
BEFRm AR balances acquired (2,813) @) (2,815)
102,187 717,397 819,584
B R oA AT B AR AR JH A SR 45 0 R 1R — 4R N 4 Note: Outstanding consideration payable will be settled within one year after the end
fife of the reporting period.
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BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

40.

Bk WY 8 2 ) ()

BRE_F—-LEFT-HA=+—HILZE
&

A T—LEZHZH > AN — K E A
R AT Ltk > M AE £9451,249,0008 70 (E1E
TR IR TR N R 399,400,0007T ) 1] — 44
TS5 = J7 I Double Advance® i BV B8 1T 1%
7 e Double Advancefi K I R B 5K > A BIHE
TR LS 7 P KA - s I I
W E LR A T H SRR
% ABE ° Double Advance = B4 I i 5 1 35
o

I Double Advance & TR A B 130G 15 2
HLSETR A0 » A A S T B e 5 ot e
PR — B TRLIME— BRI G
5 1 R o

TN H A B I 5 T BT AR 1 R A 4

40.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2017

On 3 March 2017, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
agreement to acquire 100% of the issued share capital of Double
Advance and assumed the shareholder’s loan owed by Double Advance
for a consideration of approximately HKD451,249,000 (after
adjustment) (approximately equivalent to RMB399,400,000) from an
independent third party, details of which are set out in a circular issued
by the Company. This acquisition was completed on 12 May 2017 and
has been accounted for using the acquisition method. Double Advance’s

principal activity is hotel operation business.

The purpose of the acquisition of Double Advance was to enhance the
Group’s hotel operation business segment which is in line with the
Group’s strategies to further develop of hotel operation besides the major

property development segment.

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date

FAeE of acquisition
e S o
hLHA+=H
12 May 2017
AR T
RMB’000
FE IR B Non-current assets
I ER VG Property, plant and equipment 405,376
2 R R S HA T A e 4 Utility and other deposits paid 491
TR Current assets
P Inventories 70
B 5 &Eﬁﬁﬁ? eI Trade and other receivables 890
SPATHR B & Bank balances and cash 1,431
RE A Current liabilities
58 5 T At JE A 3R Trade and other payables (505)
JRE A5 o T Tax payable (229)
i R AR K Shareholder’s loan (166,459)
JEIR ) A Non-current liabilities
EWHER S Rental deposit received (46)
iR A Bl JH B A8 Deferred tax liabilities (38,794)
202,225
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BRE_F—LETZA=ZT—HILF
B (4)

T H 2 1 W I 2 R P 7R 4 A 1 1 4
T ()

B 5y I HAh FE QSRR TE A S H G AT
N R E890,0007C o TEI 5 4 B 46 Uik 52 3 WT i
[A] o

BE-Z

40.

Ao o B 5 R Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— N4+ = H =+ —H IL4EJE For the year ended 31 December 2018

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2017 (Continued)

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date
of acquisition (Continued)

The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date of acquisition
amounted to RMB890,000. All contractual cash flows were expected to

be collected.

WAt I E A 1 R Goodwill arising on acquisition
—Z—tF
HA+=H
12 May 2017
ANR¥ T
RMB 000
SOV Consideration paid 399,400
T TR R R OR & K Less: shareholder’s loan assumed (166,459)
B TS Pk B & B VFE Y Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired
~FHE (202,225)
Wi B = T A Y R Goodwill arising on acquisition 30,716

H A B B AR > i Double Advancells 2 £E 1Y
3 2 55 T W ) A B i g G R R R I
AAE BNl M S O R AR > IS
i 7 A B i 2 o B R

TR TR R A AT T (0L Y
ZHEe

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Double Advance because the cost of
the combination include the benefit of expected synergies and revenue
growth. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable

intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on the acquisition is expected to be

deductible for tax purpose.
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40. WVl WY 088 2 ) () 40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BE_F-LETZH=ZT—HILE Year ended 31 December 2017 (Concinued)
JE (42)
W J# Double Advance 515 i H F 8 Net cash outflow on acquisition of Double Advance
—F—tEF
2017
AB T T
RMB’000
PLBL 4 A A AT Consideration paid in cash 399,400
B Tl ) B Less: cash and cash equivalent balance acquired
Bl % EY & 8k (1,431)
B4 R Net cash outflow 397,969
WA i o S A A L SR AR S Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
®WE - F—-LFT+_A=Z1+—HILFE Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 is a profit
2148 045 JE 5 Double Advancelis Fl A R ¥ of RMB2,845,000 attributable to Double Advance. Revenue for the year
2,8450007C WE —F—LF T+ A =+— ended 31 December 2017 includes approximately RMB16,986,000 in
H 1k 4 B 22 Ji g5 AL B Double Advance/H B 1) respect of the Double Advance.
#) N R #516,986,0007C °
BB EFEC R T —tFE A —H% Had these acquisition been completed on 1 January 2017, the revenue
B AEEBE - F-LET A= for the year ended 31 December 2017 of the Group would have been
H R4 2 Wicas it 25 N R 2,312,238,0000C » RMB2,312,238,000, and the profit for the year ended 31 December
MmAER#RE - F—-LFE+ - A=1T—H1t 2017 of the Group would have been RMB486,019,000. The pro forma
AR 2 R Ay N RH486,019,0007C © w4 % information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
EORHME (L ] FI A& » R S A 2 B R MRk indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
IR N —F— L F— A —H e G would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
DU B E PR B8 A Ui as I 588 45 IR AR January 2017, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.
TER AR T -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

41. BBEAERE 41. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
ACHE 1R 2y AR AL The Group as lessee
e L
2018 2017
ANRWT X AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
FRBEMHEHTEMZ Minimum lease payments paid
T AR B A 3k under operating leases in the year 42,043 38,063
JRERE IR > AR AR RN T g A A At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
TR EHA R AR AR AR B A RORE future minimum lease payments under a non-cancellable operating lease
R which fall due as follows:
e
2018 2017
ARWT X ANRBTT
RMB’000 RMB 000
—4F R Within one year 54,438 56,056
BEEIE (BEEREWE) In the second to the fifth year inclusive 239,519 189,894
HAER After the fifth year 203,193 307,971
497,150 553,921
R R B AT s AR I B U B AT ) The operating lease payments represent fixed rentals payable by the
RATH 4 o FH B SCRE P B 0 S5 104F Je1 574 o Group for retail spaces. The lease is negotiated for terms of 10 and 15
years.
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BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

41. BBHBERE 2

AR AR A AL
TR IR ASE B C AL S T 49 OB
B ARA e AR 5 A7 5 -

41.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued)

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with

tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

e T S

2018 2017

ANR¥ T AB T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—4E R Within one year 185,006 125,619
BEEIE (B EREWE) In the second to the fifth year inclusive 332,533 272,557
A% After the fifth year 91,263 37,429
608,802 435,605

AREEE RS E LB E R EY
% (MZEMIE) - BBy AT &R
il e

Bi bl e AR AR > A SR MR B T
FRIS SR E &4 Kb e 4 A B
SRR AR 5 47 B 8 B 1 B T ARGt
o

The Group leases out investment properties and rented properties, being
retail outlets, under operating leases. The properties that have been

leased out have committed tenants from 1 to 15 years.

Other than the abovementioned minimum lease payments, the Group
also entered into contingent lease contracts with certain tenants, which
stipulate monthly lease payments to be calculated in accordance with

certain ratios on the tenants’ net annual sales.

42. oAbk ¥ 42. OTHER COMMITMENTS
=t SV SR
2018 2017
ARWT T ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB 000
IS HDFT4H Commitments contracted for but not
RIERE MHRERE provided in the consolidated financial
R statements in respect of:
— AR Y — Construction of properties
under development 415,839 296,865
—FREREE LIS E A E T — Leasehold land held for development
for sale = 616,961
415,839 913,826
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44.

ARG T B 1 SRAT R A
1 4R B E R

ZAFPE RN SR TR % 1) SRAT SR S HABR Y
S BT B AE Ryt 44 BE A KR
AR B 6 R B o S SR A - AN B S I
PERG AR IR TERR A A P A E R B
JiE ) A £ T ) 2 % ) 2 400 T REAEBLAIR -
WA R & AU RT S SO —F — R
F—tFE+ A=t —HEREME-

¥ B 4 A

A B A A DA S BB
iR B L S AT
AT R I T 2 S A B
BB (L4 B (RS A5

AR B A AT GBS 1R (LA BT
34 ~ 35 B 36HT 48 8 A BRAT 18 - B SR SRR I
&%) > RANBRIE A FEFT A B 2 AR
AT Be MR EEEY AR
NBEMG e AR (G35 B BAT A e S IR

HA)

2 W B ARG o A B A AR 2 —
g% H I E A AR B SR A A B
F J o R4 3 2 A S > AR B
AR AT FBCIR, ~ AT B [ g e DA B B AT
e H BUR I BUA (8 DOP A i A
Bt

44.

A B U 5 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018
43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
“F N\ —F—b4
2018 2017
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group
to banks in favour of its customers 96,309 807,897

These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers
as a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the
Group are insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider
that the possibility of default by the purchases of the Group’s properties
is remote, accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of

the guarantee contracts and as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to
shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes
the bank borrowings, senior notes and bonds as disclosed in notes 34,
35 and 36, net of structured bank deposits measured at FVTPL, cash
and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,

comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part
of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associates with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well

as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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45. EMIR 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
45a. M THAGH 45a. Categories of financial instruments
ZFR)\E —E -t
2018 2017
ANRWT X ANR¥TF T
RMB’000 RMB 000
BB E Financial assets
BN FEFE AR 1 Financial assets measured at FVTPL
ERE E
—FEEE — Held-for-trading 86,189 4,098
= b AR — Unlisted equity securities 173,002 -
— R SRAT 17 K — Structured bank deposits 146,000 -
A FEFEA H A 2w Financial assets measured at FVTOCI
Wi g B 4 Rl 9,911 -
TRHESE AR 51 2 4 M & % Financial assets at amortised cost 1,038,586 =
B R Wi I Loans and receivables (including cash and
(B & KB E&%EY)  cash equivalents) - 1,300,984
A o AFS investments - 157,400
1,453,688 1,462,482
ZHAE Financial liabilities
8 LA Amortised cost 6,922,762 4,249,228
45b. 45l R\ B 45 B ) AR R IBUSR 45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
AEBMYFESH TRAEE S L The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
i RS R IR ~ B 5 B H b A~ other receivables, trade and other payables, amount due from an
Wi — [V W s P SR JEAT B 2 associate, amounts due to joint ventures and associates, financial
RN vl 3R A TERF ARG assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at FVTOCI, held-for-trading
M4 R E - F A ERFA R 2T investments, bank borrowings, senior notes, bonds, structured
W ES TR - FEEERE - 1T bank deposits, restricted bank deposits and cash and cash
GO BREEE - 5 ATRIERATIE equivalents. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
32 BRI SR AT AR R DA B 3 4 I B4 respective notes.
SEEY) o 5455 M T R REIG R AR e
Bt b 5 o
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45. ST H 4)
45b. 4L B i B E R R BUR (47)

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

B 5 4 T LA R A L B B A i 4
JEBr (T ~ M e i B A A A
JEBR) ~ A7 5 I B e i 8 e L < A B
e ek AR % S L B A BECRBR T 3C
A P A L B R e DA AR S
R A At PR U i

A0

g7 4

A F R 2> - BB e 2w AL B
TR FEACIEREE I B> T 2 2
REE M A AR o S8 > 2 T Bl B
SHEY 20 EF AR R 5
B ~ He (R A H A 2 T i Y
s TR ATt & B0 AT s
B R B R LA S T B TT Rt
11T 55 7T B e AR 5 4 1 A
AL - i A 2 1 T i 5 WL

(Continued)

The risk associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The primary economic environment which most of the principal
subsidiaries of the Company operate is in the PRC and their
functional currency is RMB. However, certain cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at
FVTOCI, AFS investments, bank borrowings, senior notes and
bonds are denominated in US$ or HK$, which are currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities and

expose the Group to currency risk.
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45. EWTH @) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Concinued)
45b. 4l R i B H AR R BUR (48) 45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
5 i (#) Market risk (Continued)
B (%) Currency risk (Continued)
TR R > A SR B UM HE ) & The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
W g B AR IR (T - denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end

of the reporting period are as follows:

ZENE “F—-tF
2018 2017
AR T AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
B Assets
XTT Us$ 165,743 3,142
T HKS$ 19,890 179,112
185,633 182,254
ffH Liabilities
e Us$ 3,396,539 2,063,585
T HKS$ 1,933,565 1,251,218
5,330,104 3,314,803
7K 42 [ B i A WS i BOR  HfEA The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
AF 57 Lo s 7 I g S A A0 policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
IRF 25 i 3 o i K A S exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

exchange exposure should the need arises.
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45b. 4 R B P E A RBUR (A7)

7 4 1 g (%ﬂ*ﬂ

B Wi b

U “*ﬁ

TR A A AR A R 3R T
5 7 T 2R 52 ) 5 90 W SIURRBE © 59 (=
T—L4H 5% ) T EEE N B NH
SN SRR B 2 U %
IR 5 P R R T R A R I T
il o WCABURREE AT 1 AL 15 A S B (B Y
v A S A B R T e T A B R 5 )
5% (% —LHF 5% ) LR AER
MHSE o TR ERRERRBR
i ) AR B A1 8 SN R B T (S 9 (—
FT— L 5% ) RE I B0 B o i 1 B
SN S0 N R (59 (—F— L4
5% ) @Wﬁ%ﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁfr'}iﬁ% ZEEH
{(ER D)7

%75 Us$

R B> AR H A RURR E A
“bfiﬂﬂ%ﬁlﬁﬂﬁﬁ BRI 7 T AN e
PRI A1 E JL i o

b o F 25 i o B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% change
in RMB against US$ and HK$. 5% (2017: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of year for a 5% (2017: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A negative number below indicates a decrease in post-tax profit
for the year where the relevant foreign currencies strengthen 5%
(2017: 5%) against RMB. For a 5% (2017: 5%) weakening of the
relevant foreign currencies against RMB, there would be an equal

and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

& )4 e S of:
2018 2017
AREFIT ANRBTIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
(162,118) (77,267)
(95,684) (40,204)
(257,802) (117,471)

In management’'s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year

end exposure does not represent the exposure during the year.
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BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

45. ST H 4)
45b. 4L B B E R R BUR (47)

i 57 B (4

T3 B

ARG AT R 2 A F-(EL R 2 TR 3
B RASRAT A5 BATRE R RS
B A o B AR G2 G A R O
BB AR R By - B R AR D)
B 5 B T B 2 1) 3 B o A 4R R X
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed rate restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings, senior notes
and bonds. Currently, the Group does not have a specific policy to
manage its interest rate risk, but will closely monitor the interest
rate risk exposure in the future. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk for its interest bearing financial liabilities
and certain of its interest bearing financial assets, including bank
borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances, which

carried interests at prevailing market rates.

Total interest income from financial assets that are measured at

amortised cost (2017: loans and receivables) is as follows:

ZEN\F

2018
AR Fo
RMB’000
HAt e A Other income
T HE 8 AR FT R Financial assets at amortised cost
SREE (UIERAT A% (including bank balances and cash)
RBE) 16,939

A 1 4 ) B M A AR 1

Total interest income from financial assets that are measured at

AR amortised cost is as follows:
i
2017
ANRWT T
RMB 000

HAt e A Other income
BRI WO Loans and receivables (including bank balances and cash)

(B I AT A5 B Je Bl &) 41,129
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

757 8 i (#) Market risk (Continued)

FIFa g (%)
WA TEFF ARG R B SMA
MBS T

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest charge on financial liabilities not measured at fair value

through profit or loss:

“F N\ “E -t

2018 2017

AR T ANR¥ T

RMB’000 RMB'000

TEEGH AT 2 W4 @l A /5 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 363,398 246,856

TR A

T BRI I T B i B 3 BR )
SATHE R SATAE B i B RAT 3K
Z A R Ja g T 78 E < A % 2 A R T
TR 5 S AR R A2 2 Pl TR
A 47 3 AR AR - BRI S IR
FATAF R RAT &5 R 2 A E TR
W10 i B K i S RAT (k2 Al % b
TR BT S Off 6 7 7 B g 36 ) 26 ]
A BB A RTAG -

i 7 52 PR SRAT A7 3k A S B4 I L
EEEY 2 FR BT BE10ff 52
(ZZF—L4 10fEE) > M
gRARAE AEREE_Z—L
FER-F—NFE+ZH=F—HILF
JEE B B A% T L 3 R 9 A R
#5783,0007C & A & #675,0007T ©

i 7 SARAT sk 2 R 2 Rl R 7/
N FEsoffl 2 B (& — L4 soff 2%
) mHAMTA SRR AL
E#HE -F-LFER T N\F1+
H =4 — H I W BR B R
b /B # N R ¥1,718,00000 KA R
#5,187,0007% ° 55 B 51 KB AR A
/B A EBOE A A FOAR I
WD 2GRS B AL R B o

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable rate restricted bank deposits,
bank balances and variable rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 10 basis point increase or decrease in interest rate on variable
rate restricted bank deposits and bank balances and a 50 basis
point increase or decrease in interest rate on variable rate bank
borrowings are used which represent management’s assessment of

the reasonably possible changes in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2017: 10 basis points)
higher/lower for variable rate restricted bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents with all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2018 would have increased/decreased by approximately
RMB783,000 and RMB675,000.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points)
higher/lower for variable rate bank borrowings with all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 would have decreased/
increased by approximately RMB1,718,000 and RMBS,187,000.
This calculation has taken into account the effects of capitalisation
of borrowing costs that the increase/decrease of borrowing costs

will result in addition/reduction of capitalised borrowing costs.

20184F ¥ #t % ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2095



AR B R M ST
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

45. ST H 4)
45b. 4L B B E R R BUR (47)

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

i 57 B (4
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(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

Octher price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
in equity securities, bonds and funds measured at FVTPL
and FVTOCI (2017: AFS investments and held-for-trading
investments measured at fair value). The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with

different risks.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to price risk at the reporting date. For sensitivity
analysis of listed equity securities, bonds and funds with fair value
measurement categorised within Level 1 and unquoted equity
investments with fair value measurement categorised within
Level 3, the sensitivity rate is 10% (2017: 10%) in the current
year as a result of the volatile financial market. For sensitivity
analysis of structured bank deposits with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 2, the sensitivity rate is 1% (2017: nil)
in the current year as a result of stable market of structured bank

deposits.

If the prices of the respective financial instruments had been
10%/1% (2017: 10%) higher/lower, post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December 2018 would increase/decrease by
RMB28,370,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI (2017:
RMB410,000).
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
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(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the Group is

arising from:

(a)  the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial

position; and

(b)  the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial

guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in note 43.

After obtaining a minimum of 30% to 50% (2017: 30% to 50%)
down payment from its customers for property sale business, the
Group would usually provide guarantees to banks in connection
with its customers’ mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the
properties, for the period before property certificates are issued to
the relevant customers. If a customer defaults on the payment of
his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank may demand
the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any
accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-sell the property
to recover any amounts payable by the Group to the bank. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifecime ECL.
The ECL on trade receivables are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings, based on the past
default experience of the debtor, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort at the end of the year.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

The Group has policies in place to ensure that property sales
are made to purchasers with an appropriate financial strength
and appropriate percentage of down payments. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly
the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivables to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties

and customers.

Trade receivables arising from operating leases

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
respect of trade receivable in respect of the rental income, with
exposure spread over a large number of customers in the PRC. In
order to minimize the credit risk, the management of the Group
continuously monitors the level of exposure by frequent review of
the credit evaluation of the financial condition and credit quality
of its customers to ensure that follow-up actions and/or corrective
actions are taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover
overdue balances. The credit risk of trade receivables arising from
operating leases is limited because counterparties make deposits
into the Group when they sign the leasing contracts and the

deposits can be forfeited if counterparties default.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
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(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Amount due from an associate

For amount due from an associate, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of amount due from an associate based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The Directors believe
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group's

outstanding balance of amount due from an associate.

Bank balances and restricted bank deposits

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank
balances and restricted bank deposits. At 31 December 2018,
approximately 55% (2017: 67%) of the total bank balances and
restricted bank deposits were deposited at 4 (2017: 4) banks,
representing deposits at each bank with a balance exceeding 10%
of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit
risk of these liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
state-owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high credit

ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

The Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly comprise listed
bonds. In the current year, bonds amounting to RMB9,911,000
held by the Group have been defaulted. During the year ended
31 December 2018, expected credit losses on debt instruments at
FVTOCI amounting to RMB16,885,000 was recognised in the

profit or loss.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. 4 il R B4 B R R BUSR (A 45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
15 B e i e A () Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
TRFESIAE B EIE B R The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
S 0 4 0 A £ LB 11 financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:
124 A 5
RN\ i3 REEETR  2NENERER i Th £ 4 A
Internal 12-month or
2018 Notes credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
ANRETFT AREFIL
RMB 000 RMB 000
RN PR R A A 22 v 2 e (R TR
Debt instruments at FVTOCI
FESRE 20 g 2HENERESR 26,796 26,796
(B AR
Investments in listed bonds note i Lifetime ECL
(credit impaired)
S B AR B0 4
Financial assets at amortised cost
At 8 it H 25 Bt &E 1218 A Bl E B R 79,037
Other receivables note i 12-month ECL
EHEME R 27,714 106,751
(BEA:f5 BWIME)
Lifetime ECL
(credit impaired)
B i — i A ) 3O 28 i 1216 A B B EH 15,106 15,106
Amount due from an associate note i 12-month ECL
RGN EENE 5B 25 Wt 5k i 2WEMNEEER 75,997 75,997
(938 M5 R o)
Trade receivables arising from contracts note ii Lifetime ECL

with customers

(provision matrix)

260 £l R BB B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



45. E@MTH

(#)

45b. 4 R B P E A RBUR (A7)

1o B B R G i A (A
L FH FTA H M 2 BT s 1 (5
THE(#)

ik

BERAT A5 B BB~ 52 BRI SR AT A7 3K

BT B AR R
W — TR B 7 2 R KR 3 - AR AR 1
O AR 4% 0 A B 5 8 Y U S5 0 G E
12 A AR 60 s 419 A 2 s 4
B o BRI S B E B S A
AR T LA R AT A B A T R
DIAAR £ B2 15 A B 3

AR A BA B AR M RE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE— /\F+H =+—HIE B For the year ended 31 December 2018

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Debt instruments at FVTOCI (Continued)
Notes:

i For investments in listed bonds, other receivables and amount due
from an associate, the Group has applied 12m ECL assessment in
accordance with IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance. For the
purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition.

[k A Mt
Past due Not past due Total
ARETF ARBF ARBF
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000
tiEHTE Investments in listed bonds 26,796 - 26,796
HABRE L RIR Other receivables 27,714 79,037 106,751
JRE Wi — 1 B 5/ ) 3O Amount due from an associate - 15,106 15,106
54,510 94,143 148,653

BRE T A 40 A B 5 WK T I ii. For trade receivables arising from contracts with customers, the

B R T T B A
RS9k B AL 7% > e 2 W I F
B At B RSN RAERR
TR A O o A £ DAL 9 B WRUIR
FOb o A 0 PR B AR A B (%2 PR
fr BERTA M AL ) M %55 R I TE
A B -

B M Wi — Tl Bt 2 WO 5 >
&8 5 SERUBR 004 He R DA 4
B B < R S A N 2 JEE S
TR PR B RERL AT -

Group has applied the simplified approach in accordance with IFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifecime ECL. Except for debtors
with significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the Group
determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a

provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

For bank balances and cash, restricted bank deposits and amount
due from an associate, the management considered the credit
risk has not increased significantly since the initial recognition.
According to the historical observed default rates of these debtors,

the average loss rate is immaterial.
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45. EWTH @) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
45b. 4 il R B4 B R R BUSR (A 45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
17 B B & 0 1 77 A (48 ) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
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7 5 B AP AL Internal credit rating

ARG B Low risk*

* BT 7 RERAT IR (ki Bk 2 A
INZES-P &
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LBEERN R FYEERL AR
Ko
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As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies
internal credit rating for its customers. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk and loss
allowance for trade receivables which are assessed collectively
based on provision matrix as at 31 December 2018 within lifetime

ECL (not credit impaired).

RRC] RS R4 SRR

Gross
Average carrying Impairment
loss rate amount loss allowance
ANRET T AR#T T
RMB'000 RMB000
o 75,997 -
& The counterparties are individual property buyers who have been
granted mortgage loans by banks.
*E According to the historical observed default rates of the expected life of

the low risk debtors, the average loss rate is immaterial.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management

to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

The management of the Group believe that the Group’s credit
risk in trade receivables is significantly reduced, and ECL is

insignificant.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that

2 Bk - has been recognised for other receivables.
28w
1218 A i BB 1R
HAGEREH (AR WA A5t
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
12-month ECL impaired) Total
ARH T ABHT T AR¥ T
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
R-F—tE+"H=Z1+—H Asat 3] December 2017
LR 0 % it e under IAS 39
5399 i il = 27,714 27,714
B P 1 ot o 3 Adjustment upon application of
SROUE IR A th Hy i B IFRS 9 - - -
RF—-N\E—-H—H As at 1 January 2018
— B EF - As restated - 27,714 27,714
— DR W R 1R — Impairment losses recognised - - =
RZF—NFFZA=Z+—H Asat31 December 2018 - 27,714 27,714

TRIVR AL AR A M A
i B fR % T EL Rl 2 s 4R f3 g 2
i o

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that

has been recognised for debt instruments at FVTOCI.

2 W EH
HHEH
(B4

5 BEWAE )
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
—%— Lt
2017
ARW¥TI
RMB’000

RZF— ) 4FE+ZH=4—HAs at 31 December 2018

— E AR AR (L 1R

* N B #16,885,00076 2 48 A FHA A
AT i 28 A R BRI A o B A 4 A T
ERTAH A 2 i 25 2 % TH 2 B5HA
EWD o HRMEES BEA > BEERAR
116,885,000 48 4 WE 52 » 3l 364 4 0 F-(E
F A LA 4 T WS 6 5 186 F A B R R o

— Impairment losses recognised

16,885*

* RMB16,885,000 has been charged to FVTOCI reserve due to the decrease of
fair value of bonds classified as debt instruments at FVTOCI. As the bonds has
defaulted, impairment losses amounting to RMB16,885,000 are recognised in

profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to FVTOCI reserve.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
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(Continued)

Liquidity risk

The management of the Group has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for short-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by

continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Directors are satisfied
that the Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet
its financial obligations as they full due for the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period after taking into
consideration internal generated funds from operating activities,
including proceeds from sales and pre-sales of properties and

rental income, and the unutilised banking facilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for
other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are for floating rate
instruments, the undiscounted amount is derived based on interest

rate outstanding at the end of each reporting period.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. 4L B i B E R R BUR (47)
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At 31 December 2018

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to joint ventures
and associates

Bank borrowings

Senior notes

Financial guarantee contracts

At 31 December 2017

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to a joint venture
and an associate

Bank borrowings

Senior notes

Bonds

Financial guarantee contracts

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

RIUEBB G
Undiscounted cash flows

T HER& AMANE  —EUEM REEBEE

HBAR  FEAEA  BRR—& AR T4 bk ¥ Y T £
Weighted Over Over

average  On demand six months one year Total
effective  or less than  but less than  but less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate six months one year five years cash flows amount
ANBEFT ARBFT ARKFT ARETFLT ARKFTL
% RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
- 754,855 - - 754,855 754,855
= 311,905 - = 311,905 311,905
4.29 944,236 717,983 1,021,178 2,683,397 2,529,263
8.30 59,777 2,097,874 1,564,810 3,722,461 3,326,739
- 96,309 = = 96,309 -
2,167,082 2,815,857 2,585,988 7,568,927 6,922,762
- 464,658 - - 464,658 464,658
- 169,806 - - 169,806 169,806
419 704,907 610,042 525,860 1,840,809 1,661,159
8.25 85,195 85,195 2,292,961 2,463,351 1,935,389
6.50 645 645 21,149 22,439 18,216
- 807,897 - - 807,897 —
2,233,108 695,882 2,839,970 5,768,960 4,249,228
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Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “on demand or less than six months” time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate
principal amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to
RMB499,434,000 (2017: RMBG693,920,000). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that such bank borrowings will be repaid within two years after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time,
the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
RMB523,866,000 (2017: RMB736,713,000).
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

45c.

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The total undiscounted cash flows of financial guarantee contracts
disclosed above was the maximum amount the Group could be
required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount was claimed by the counterparties to the
guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that
no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this
estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the

counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of

interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair values of the Group's financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined as follows:

(a)  the fair value of financial assets with standard terms
and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are

determined with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

(b)  the fair value of other financial assets is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on

discounted cash flow analysis.
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45¢. EMTHZ A FHEGE (4)
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(1)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
thar are measured at fair value

Some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values
of these financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorized (levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements

is observable.

R RO H A F RS S TG Y ER T N L
Fair value
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)
ZE-NEFZAZ -0 ZELEFZA=Et-H
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

AT ARG I

Financial assets at FVTPL

L A 5 ARH3,119,0007 N 14,098,000 Lot R IE AR

Listed equity securities RMB3,119,000 RMBA4,098,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets

e A BH83,070,0007 & F-# A CUN

Funds RMB83,070,000 Nil Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets

ERIERITER AR H146,000,00078 b3 B8 ] AR AR B R A A A B R R
BB 4 &

Structured bank deposits RMB146,000,000 Nil Level 2 Discounted cash flow at a discount rate that reflects the
expected future economic benefits at the end of the
reporting period

WAL AR 173,002,007 B 157,400,000 E=4 T35t — 1 773552 0 TR A 9 (A S LA
ZMEH®

Unquoted equity investments RMB173,002,000 RMB157,400,000 Level 3 Market approach - a valuation technique that uses prices
and other relevant information obtained from market
transactions

AT A 2T 3 1Y

LB E

Financial assets at FVTOCI

Eifi B M9,911,0007 # B TR BT 5 BT R A B

Listed bonds RMB9,911,000 Nil Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets

TAZAEIE AR 4R BE > SR —
B AR RS o

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the

current and prior years.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

45c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(if)  Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

31 December 2018

AR B E
Unquoted
equity
investment
AR T
RMB'000
T At 31 December 2017
+ZA=+—H 157,400
T 48 45 e R T A Total gain recognised in profit or loss
HoAth i 45 K s 18 2 included in other gains and losses
Y 43 15,602
N B — )\ At 31 December 2018
t+-A=+—H 173,002

(iii) W HELAE T AT
(AR AT ) A5
R R A AT
BR TR SN R Sk
A T A i S RR AR 2
A E AR IR (EEH

(iii) ~ Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(but fair value disclosures are required)
Except as detailed in the following table, the Directors
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and

liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated

A TAEAA - financial statements approximate their fair values:
R MEFAS 0 RoF— Lt AZ—H
As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017
fEE A &
M T £ NFH e AFE
Carrying Carrying
amount of amount of
liability liability
component Fair value component Fair value
ARBWTFE ARBTFT AR¥TT ARKETIL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
S Financial liabilities
BRER Senior notes (including
(RLEEMEM A1)  interest payable) 3,396,539 3,349,242 1,961,602 2,107,679

! S — 8 EEIRHAE

level 1: based on quoted price.
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ARG 2 1 Ok 46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
TRAFIALEHME ST 2 AREE) > @ The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
Bl KRBl E S MEEHEE 2 ARKT) from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
BHB S LARE &R ENAE LGS Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows
BERERPABEHMETRHHSNEZ A were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
fio statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
“E-N\E+ZA=+—H 31 December 2018
et &8 4%
R A
TEAAIE B BERS fit% ZH 3} At
Amount
due to
Interest Bank Senior joint ventures
payables  borrowings notes Bonds  and associates Dividends Total
(H7E31) (H=E34) (HHE35) (HE36) (HHE33) (HE13)
(note 31) (note 34) (note 35) (note 36) (note 33) (note 13)

ARK T ARKTT  ARWTZ ARKTT ARKTT  ARWTZ  ARKTE
RMBOOO  RMBU0O  RMBUOO  RMBO09  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO

RZF— )\~ —H At 1 January 2018 34,379 1,661,159 1,935,389 18,216 169,806 = 3,818,949
BESLNE Financing cash flows (313,052) 791,966 1,181,615 (19,665) 142,099 (75,539) 1,707,424
S Foreign exchange translation 9,519) 76,138 209,735 1,449 - = 277,803
FIS B % Interest expense 363,398 - - - - - 363,398
EERKE Dividend declared = = = = = 75,539 75,539
W=\ At 31 December 2018
+ZA=t—H 75,206 2,529,263 3,326,739 - 311,905 - 6,243,113
—EZ—t#HE+-H=+—H 31 December 2017
TERRERE
REEAT
FEMFIS BITRER BRER i b& ¢ | 5} it
Amount
due to
Interest Bank Senior joint ventures
payables borrowings notes Bonds  and associates Dividends Total
(Wris1) (Hriiz4) (H3E3s) (HrE36) (HriE33) (HfiE13)
(note 31) (note 34) (note 35) (note 36) (note 33) (note 13)

ARETLE ARETT ARKTT ABKTTE AREFTT ARETT ARETZ
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMBY0O RMBU0O RMB 000

RZF—tFE—-A—H At 1 January 2017 16,435 1,047,765 1,601,573 176,175 = = 2,841,948
MERET R Financing cash flows (228912) 650,686 447,207 (164,884) 169,806 (78,947) 794,956
SEHE Foreign exchange translation - (37,292) (113,391) 6,925 = = (143,758)
FER % Interest expense 246,856 - - - - - 246,856
EEERKES Dividend declared = = = = = 78,947 78,947
REZF—L4F At 31 December 2017

FZAZEF—H 34,379 1,661,159 1,935,389 18,216 169,806 = 3,818,949
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47. B AL 47. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

AR B R AR A B R R ) 5 A v
A& B B oL — JE R AR
([t #) o wtElN AR AL &
T PR > A O 3 wE NHE IR 24 o
AL B AR 59 ) %t UK
s B 2.

I 8 ) 4 48 B 7 P O A B I K
BB RRRA ] ([ BIRTR ) AR - P
A i 2 ) 2 £ A B T Y A L R ) % AR
PRAE A B > DU 32 SR 1 B i A9 3K
TR o RS B A2 B IRAR A B E— AT/
MR AT B B (K o

JAAAEBE > A4 B R SR AT B Y 5 B 5wt 1
B A B A A e T A S A B T
R 7 1 B RS B S BT

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the

scheme, which contributions is matched by employees.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government
(the “PRC Scheme”) The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute
specified rate of the employees’ salaries to the retirement benefits scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions

under the scheme.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group to the
MPF Scheme and the PRC Scheme charged to profit or loss represent
contribution payable by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the

respective schemes and are as follows:

—F—)\E —F -t

2018 2017

AN BT AR T

RMB’000 RMB'000

T 1 2 0 BR 0 kK 4 Amount contributed and charged to profit or loss 12,211 10,109

REFE—NEFZA=+—H o R m %
LB AR (ZF—LF ) -

As at 31 December 2018, there was no outstanding contributions

payable to the respective schemes (2017: nil).
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CL VBT 48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Brbi & MBHRE LM N A I TEE N A Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
SR AR E BB TR L R A5 - during the year, the Group has entered into the following transactions

with related parties:

C FEHA : e Rental income:
ZEN\E —F—tE
2018 2017
A BT ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
N i b B TE Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong Realty,
(—MHaEMRR) a joint venture = 917
° B S s PNEE AL e Compensation of key management personnel
JA AR B - 5 2 % H A B T A The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key
ERIFM T : management during the year are as follow:
TR\ B Sl g3
2018 2017
A BT AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
N4 Directors’ remunerations 25,780 14,577
TEEHENE Members of key management:
W B H At AR A Salaries and other benefits 8,563 5,464
B ARAE AT A2 Retirement benefit scheme contributions 282 1,034
PABEAR 5 B AP 3K IH Equity-settled share-based payments 82 82
34,707 21,157
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49. A% H) BB R 49. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY
HRAARNARIR T — R =T — L+ Information about the statement of financial position of the Company as
H =4 — H B BRI R 0 &R at 31 December 2018 and 2017 includes:

R\ i
2018 2017
AR For AR BF
RMB’000 RMB’000
I B Non-current assets
T BT N W 2 3B Investments in subsidiaries and amounts
JRE e Ff B8 2 ) K IE due from subsidiaries 4,260,258 2,505,666
NEBEAEZ R Interests in joint ventures 378,066 275,928
N (B 5T A H: A 2 T Ui 25 09 Debt instruments at FVTOCI
BB LA 9,911 _
U ERY V&G Property, plant and equipment 27 722
4,648,262 2,782,316
TE)E E Current assets
A e 2K 0A Other receivables 487 298,840
B4 N 4% EY Cash and cash equivalents 112,770 188,313
113,257 487,153
B A Current liabilities
Al JE AT 3R IH Other payables 73,106 20,809
RATME I ——F N E Bank borrowings — due within one year 969,158 740,902
BT —— R E Senior notes-due within one year 1,972,944 =
(%55 Bonds - 18,216
3,015,208 779,927
B A E Non-current liability
B ——F R Senior notes-due after one year 1,353,795 1,935,389
B Net assets 392,516 554,153
J A Share capital 113,099 113,099
fiti s Reserves 279,417 441,054
MR £ Total equity 392,516 554,153
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49. ANV BEB ()

49. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
AR F il 2 S Movement in the Company’s reserves
B4 i 0 RenlGEdE RETARAE  MRERE il # st
Investment Share
Share Special revaluation option  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
ARETL  ARETL AREFr AREFr ARETLE ARETFL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
(HE)
(note)
RZF—tiF—-H—H At 1 January 2017 476,143 474,193 (922) 635 (356,971) 593,078
BB (HE3EL3) Dividends (note 13) - (78,947) - - - (78,947)
TR AR 55 BB 3 ST FIOB Recognition of equity-settled
(M zE39) share-based payments (note 39) - - - 229 - 229
FRER Loss for the year - - - - (74,228) (74,228)
A A2 0 A Other comprehensive income
for the year = = 922 = = 922
RZF—tFE+ZHZF—H Ac31 December 2017 476,143 395,246 = 864 (431,199) 441,054
RS (H3E13) Dividends (note 13) = (75,539) - - - (75,539)
TR LG 7% 45 B 0 S FUB Recognition of equity-settled
(Bt 3E39) share-based payments (note 39) - - - 229 - 229
ERER Loss for the year - - - - (86,327) (86,327)
PEF—=NEFZAZF—H At 31 December 2018 476,143 319,707 = 1,093 (517,526) 279417
Bt 5 - Note:

R TR Ak 6 T B AT A O ) BB A e AR
LT 1 T A 2 0 < R 5 I
o P RSP R o A R BT R AT A AT
11 5 o e O 2 ) R A 2 R] A9 2R

Special reserve of the Company represents the difference between par value of ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the equity of subsidiaries recognised, in respect
of the acquisitions of Golden Wheel International Investment and Golden Wheel
International Corporation by two directly owned subsidiaries of the Company through

the issuance of the Company’s shares.
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50. A w] WY& A\l wE 50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

TR IR BB 2 =] AR IR RS A0 T

COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries at end of the reporting period are as follows:

CH#T R
FE L/ o/ BRA/
RALH EHERER BENH AR R A 55 A e FEEH
Issued and paid
Form of Place and date of incorporation/ share capital/ Attributable equity

Name of company

business structure

establishment/operation registered capital

interest of the Group

Principal activities

ZENE SRt
ToHE—H TZA=+—H
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
% %
SRERERAT ARFAATA Ed ey 1T 100 00 BEEK
ZEF-ZFRANA
Golden Wheel Jade Company Limited' Limited liability company British Virgin Islands (“BVI") Us§1 100 100 Investment holding
§ May 2012
SRIRARAT HREIEAT KEELRS 157 " 00 HEER
“F-ZERANA
Golden Wheel Pearl Company Limited" Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
8 May 2012
SRENHRAF ARFEAAA KRELHE 1T 100 00 BEEK
“F-"HERAZtAH
Golden Wheel Diamond Company Limited' Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
26 June 2012
SRATHRAT AREIEAT KEELHS 15T " 00 HEER
—“Z—-=%-H—H
Golden Wheel Jewel Company Limited" Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
1 February 2013
ERKEHRAR HRELAA KRELTE LRTE 100 00 BEER
ZF-ZFZAZHAR
Golden Wheel Crystal Company Limited' Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
28 February 2013
EREHFRAT ARFEAT SRR LR ESH 100 00 BEER
“EZ-ZFLAT=ER
Golden Wheel Amber Company Limited' Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
13 May 2013
SRBRARAT HREEAT REELEE 1£7 " 00 BEER
“F-ZERAZTNA
Golden Wheel Tourmaline Company Limited' Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
24 June 2013
SRAAHRAR ARFALLARA SRR LT 100 00 REHK
“E-ZEAAAR
Golden Wheel Opal Company Limited" Limited liability company ~ BVI US§1 100 100 Investment holding
8 August 2013
SRIEARAT HREEAT KERLES 157 " 00 HEER
“E-RENAZTA
Golden Wheel Ruby Company Limited' Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
20 April 2015
SRATHRAR ARFAAA E ey 10 100 00 BEEK
“E-LENAZTH
Golden Wheel Emerald Company Limited' Limited liability company ~ BVI Us§1 100 100 Investment holding
20 April 2015
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AR

Name of company

SRETARAD

Golden Wheel Sapphie Company Limited'

SHRREARAA

Golden Wheel Jasper Company Limited'

SREMARA R

Golden Wheel Enamel Company Limited'

SRARARAR!

Golden Wheel Liuli Company Limited"

SRAEEEARAR

Golden Wheel International Investment Limited

SREBREA AR

Golden Wheel International Corporation Limited

SREBAEARAR

Golden Wheel International Creation
Company Limited

2 b B B A R

Golden Wheel International
Capital Company Limited

SREBAEARAR

Golden Wheel International Billion Limited

e S A

Golden Wheel International Wealth Limited

SRERAIEARAR

Golden Wheel International Trend Limited

Form of
business structure

Limited liability company

ARFUELT

Limited liability company

LSS

Limited liability company

ARFEATR

Limited liability company

HREA L

Limited liability company

ARRELR

Limited liability company

HREAL L

Limited liability company

ARRELR

Limited liability company

AREEAT

Limited liability company

ARRAELT

Limited liability company

Ao o B 5 R Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZE— /\F+H =+—HIE B For the year ended 31 December 2018

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY ¢ Continued)
D#ITR
(R VE SV Bk
EEBER A kMg A RS M HEAY FEEH
Issued and paid
Place and date of incorporation/ share capital/ Attributable equity

establishment/operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities

ZE-NE SE-LA
tZRAE+—"  FZA=t-H
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
% %
KRR £ 100 100 Bd ¢l
“E-RENAZTA
BVI US$1 100 100 Investment holding
20 April 2015
E ey LET 100 00 REHK
“E-AET-AZTRA
BVI US$1 100 100 Investment holding
29 November 2016
ERELHE 1ET 100 100 e cedi'e
“E-AET-AZTRA
BVI US$1 100 100 Investment holding
29 November 2016
KRELHE £ 100 00 BEEK
“E-AET-AZtIA
BVI Uss$1 100 100 Investment holding
29 November 2016
Eit 100,000,001 7T 100 100 REER
~RE AT LR
Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
17 May 2002
48,000,0007& ¢ 100 00 BEER
Hong Kong HK$48,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
7 July 2010
Fit 30,000,000 7T 100 00 BEER
ZE-CEAAZH-H
Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
21 August 2012
Ei 30,000,000 ¢ 100 00 BEER
“F-ZHZA+HH
Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
15 February 2013
Bt 10,000,000 7T 100 w0 REER
ZF-ZE=ATAR
Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
18 March 2013
Ei 10,000,004 ¢ 100 00 BEER
“E-ZERAZAA
Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
29 May 2013
Eil 10,000,004 ¢ 100 00 BEEK
“E-ZFEATAH
Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
18 July 2013
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50. A2 ) W) 2 vl w4 (a2) 50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
C()BTPAIJY’KbnduuaO
CEITR
db bR/ gL/ BRBA/
Ak AR BEMH LAY EMYEA AR R £ FEEH
Issued and paid
Form of Place and date of incorporation/ share capl:tall Attributable equity

Name of company

business structure

establishment/operation registered capital

interest of the Group

Principal activities

ZE-0\E “F—tE
TZAZt—R TZAZ+-H
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
% %
SRS R R ARELAT i 10,000,000 ¢ 00 BEER
100
“E-ZENA AR
Golden Wheel International Success Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
16 September 2013
SRERARARA ARFAAA ik 10,000,004 ¢ 100 00 BEEK
“E-LERAWA
Golden Wheel International Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Glory Company Limited 4 May 2015
SHREABAZERARA ARFEAR i 10,000,007 TG 100 00 REHR
“E-RERANA
Golden Wheel International Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Idea Company Limited 4 May 2015
SREBAHARA A HRFEAEL A i 10,000,000 7 100 00 BREHK
“E-LERAMA
Golden Wheel International Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Innovation Company Limited 4 May 2015
SHREABAYERAR ARFTEAR it 10,000,007 7 100 00 REHR
“F-nELZATAA
Golden Wheel International Harvest Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
19 December 2016
SRARAYERAR HRELAA i 10,000,000/ 7 100 00 BREER
ZE-NEFZATAR
Golden Wheel International Merit Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
19 December 2016
EHARARARAF ARFEATR ik 10,000,004 ¢ 100 00 BEHK
“E-AEFZATANR
Golden Wheel International Excellent Limited ~ Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
19 December 2016
Double Advance Group Limited HRFELA A KEELBE £ 100 100 TEEEE
“EZNERATZA
Double Advance Group Limited Limited liability company BVI USD$1 100 100 Hotel operation
12 May 2006
HREREREEARAF iR ER%E il 14,950,000 ¢ 100 00 FHERSE
“ERTEAAZT-H SIE SN
Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel’ Sino-foreign joint venture PRC US$14,950,000 100 100 Property development
21 June 2002 and property leasing
W& 65 e BB A A A2 SEBE AR T 13,200,000% 7% 100 100 FHEME
“EFEMELA=TA TERE
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate Wholly-foreign invested PRC U8§13,200,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.? enterprise 30 July 2004 and property leasing
R et b gl YT iR ERE il 13,000,0005 ¢ 100 100 FHERE
“EEAETZATINA
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate’ Sino-foreign joint venture PRC US$$13,000,000 100 100 Property development
15 December 2006
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A2 vl I 2 v A s

AR

Name of company

Rl da T A R A A2

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Business
Management Co., Ltd ?

2 B L B R 7

Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate’

MRk R R A A

Nanjing Pearl Golden Wheel Realty Co., Ltd.?

AR R A R AT

Nanjing Metro Real Estate’

Ak RARERARAT

Nanjing Crystal Golden Wheel
Realty Co., Ltd.?

A BT EBR A RA D

Nanjing Golden Wheel Business
Management Co., Led 2!

RS R EARATD

Zhuzhou Jade Golden Wheel Realty Co., Led.?

EUSRERERARAT

Changsha Jade Golden Wheel
Realty Co., Led.?

EHAHENENEARAD:

Wuxi Golden Wheel Real Estate Co., Led.”

BRI RERA D

Nanjing Golden Wheel Glory

Commercial Management Co., Ltd.”

SR RAMEEERARA T

Wuxi Golden Wheel Gloty
Commercial Co., Ltd.”

Form of
business structure

BRARA

Domestic limited liability
company

NEBERE

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

HEBmEEE

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

B R A

Domestic limited liability
company

HEBERE

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

AR E AR

Sino-foreign joint venture

NEBERE

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

SHEBELR

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

NEBERE

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

HEBmEEE

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

B R A

Domestic limited liability
company

Ao o B 5 R Mk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE— /\F+H =+—HIE B For the year ended 31 December 2018

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY ¢ Continued)

D#ITR

aEMhRL/ gL/ Bk
EEBER A kYA
Issued and paid

Place and date of incorporation/

establishment/operation

HH
- A—A
PRC
1 February 2010
il
—“AAMERAZ+—H
PRC
21 April 1994
il
Y e R !
PRC
30 January 2013
HH
SF-CHELASTERA
PRC
25 July 2012
TR
“E-ZEARTAR
PRC
19 August 2013
HH
“F-ZEAAZ TR
PRC
27 September 2013
T8
“E-SEAA A
PRC
24 September 2013
HH
“F-ZF+ZA+ZH
PRC
12 December 2013
HH
“E-RFE=ALH
PRC
5 March 2015
i
“E-HFAAZTAR
PRC
28 September 2015
HH

“F-EETAZHA
PRC

30 October 2015

share capital/
registered capital

A #500,0007

RMB500,000

6,130,000F T

US$$6,130,000

28,000,000 T

US$28,000,000

R %280,000,0007¢

RMB280,000,000

B 45,000,007

RMB45,000,000

B 32,000,0007C

RMB32,000,000

B #400,000,0007E

RMB400,000,000

85,500,000 &

US$§$85,500,000

42,000,000% 7T

U$§42,000,000

6,000,000F T

U$$6,000,000

A\ B:#1,000,0007¢

RMB1,000,000

RS M HEAY
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
“F0\E “EF—-ti
F2AZH-H  oA=t-A
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
% %
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 i
100 i
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 L

TR

Principal activities

FERHER

Property operation
management

I M E B¢
RAERE

Property development
and property leasing

R RS

Property development

T M E B¢

Property development

A A

Property development

T M B

Property management

5 M E 5t

Property development

& B3

Property development

Ji M E 5t

Property development

RGHR

Investment holding

R

Property operation
management
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZF— N\F+H =1 —H I For the year ended 31 December 2018

50. A2 ) W) 2 vl w4 (a2) 50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY ¢ Continued)
CEITR
db bR/ gL/ BRBA/
Ak AR BEMH LAY EMYEA AR R £ FEEH
Issued and paid
Form of Place and date of incorporation/ share capl:tall Attributable equity

Name of company

business structure

establishment/operation

registered capital

interest of the Group

Principal activities

ZE-0\E “F—tE
TZAZt—R TZAZ+-H
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
% %
B 5 2 O PR ) G A H AR #5,000,00078 100 00 EEEE
ZE-RENA N
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xingzhi Hotel® Domestic limited liability PRC RMBS,000,000 100 100 Hotel operation
company 24 August 2016
AREREMIRARAR BN A RA R HH B 1,000,0007C 100 00 MR
“FR-AETFZAZTAR
Nanjing Xinghao Decoration Domestic limited liability PRC RMB1,000,000 100 100 Property decoration
Engineering Co., Led.? company 28 December 2016
HARESREEHRAR GilINE S P B H651,000,0007 100 100 FHERE
“BLEZATA
Nanjing Green Jade Golden Wheel Sino-foreign joint venture PRC RMB651,000,000 100 100 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd 10 March 2017
P A A R A SERERE il 2,000,000% ¢ 100 00 BEEK
“E—tENALA
Nanjing Golden Wheel Hotel Wholly-foreign invested PRC U$$2,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd.? enterprise 5 April 2017
EHERSRBERRAF BAARAH Gl B %20,000,00078 100 100 FHERE
“F- LAt
Wuxi Jade Golden Wheel Domestic limited liability PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property development
Real Estate Co., Led.? company 20 July 2017
RUSREZEEARAR B A AR T AR H5,000,0007 100 00 EEEE
“E-tEARZTAR
Changsha Golden Wheel Xinghao Domestic limited liability PRC RMB5,000,000 100 100 Hotel operation
Hotel Co., Led? company 28 August 2017
AREESREEARAF iR ERE il B 120,000,0007C 100 00 FHERE
“FtETZATAH
Nanjing Sapphie Golden Wheel Sino-foreign joint venture PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd 18 December 2017
BRI AR TEARATY LR R 300000007 0 FEE  RHERE
“F-NELAMA
Nanjing Ruby Golden Wheel Wholly-foreign invested PRC U$$30,000,000 100 N/A Property development
Real Estate Co., Led. enterprise 4 July 2018
TSR E R ERBEERA D SEBELE T R #230,000,0007C 100 FER RRERSE
“F—tET-AtH
Wausxi Yizhong Real Estate Wholly-foreign invested PRC RMB230,000,000 100 N/A Property development
Development Co., Ltd.” enterprise 7 November 2017
SRIRERAAS HREILAT KRR 157 " FEA RGER
ZF-NEZARA
Golden Wheel Bright Jade Limited liability company BVI Us$1 100 N/A Investment holding
Company Limited' 6 February 2018
WA RA ARFAATA KRR LR 10037 100 MR BEER
ZF-—F+ZANH
Winning Year Company Limited’ Limited liability company ~ BVI US$100 100 N/A Investment holding
9 December 2011
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50.

A2 vl I 2 v A s

AR EHERER

Form of
Name of company business structure
REHRARS HRELLAT
Success Seeker Limited® Limited liability company
SRYAERAT S ARFAAA
Golden Wheel Jumbo Company Limited'* Limited liability

L RAAREERA.

2 BXARERA -

5. WA R R % R

4 TR B YA B A B R
22BN RS ([ =4
LA

5. MBAF IR - A

6. HEBAMAFRR T —/ERARBE
AIRA A HERA Z B AF -

TR SR > L SRERRY o8 2 W] B A A o fs il
Sz

AR A BA B AR M RE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BEZEF— /NHFE+ZH=1—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2018

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY ¢ Continued)
D#ITR
FE AL/ L/ Bk
EEBER A kMg A RS M HEAY FEEH
Issued and paid
Place and date of incorporation/ share capital/ Attributable equity
establishment/operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
ZF-0\E “F—tE
tZRAE+—"  FZA=t-H
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
% %
it 17T 100 KR 7 B
“E-—ENATEA
Hong kong HK$1 100 N/A Property development
15 September 2011
KRR LR IESH 100 AR BEER
ZZ-N\FtA=1+—H
BVI US$1 100 N/A Investment holding
31 July 2018 company
1. Directly held by the Company.
2. English name for identification only.
3. The subsidiary was newly established in 2018.
4. Nanjing Golden Wheel Business Management Co., Ltd. is a listed company on

the National Equities Exchange and Quotations System (“NEEQ") in PRC.

5. The subsidiary was acquired in 2018.

6. Success Seeker Limited is a directly held subsidiary of Winning Year Company

Limited which was acquired in 2018.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the

reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZE— /\4F+ZH=1—H IL4JE For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Wl W& e

A F—NEZH R H > AN RIEAT
4 H1%160,000,00055 G A B E 2298 ([
151) o (B SC IR LA TR HE 3B g 7
F38 5 TR RN ) 1Tl o 48 S i S T A4
279651 B AR A AR AT > WAt —
Zo—F—H+H B BITEEEES
TE R BA R RS > A BFF SRR A A
FfA —E—HE_A - HARBZA LR

51.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 February 2019, the Company issued senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$160,000,000 (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior
Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. The Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal
rate of 7% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature
on 18 January 2021. The purpose of the Senior Notes is to refinance
existing indebtedness, details of which are set out in the announcement

of the Company dated 26 February 2019.

280 £l R BB B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



Summary of Financial Information

REF-HAZ+—H &R

For the year ended 31 December

“F-\NE "Rt TR “F-nF —F-mE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
ANREFE ARBFTL AREFFL AREFIL AREFL
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
£ RESULTS
I A Revenue 1,446,354 2,303,505 940,765 229,514 831,116
W B Al i A Profit before taxation 793,991 859,402 451,721 76,147 416,594
BLIE Taxation (451,735) (373,941) (186,345) (63,168) (182,199)
A 1Ay 35 ) Profit for the year 342,256 485,461 265,376 12,979 234,395
LR A e - Attributable to:
AAFHAN Owners of the Company 342,256 485,461 265,376 12,979 234,395
BREM > AR Earnings per share RMB
N Basic 0.190 0.269 0.147 0.007 0.130
i Diluted 0.190 0.269 0.147 0.007 0.130
HERAE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEE Total assets 13,914,515 10,905,331 10,038,573 8,492,602 7,155,349
BAE Total liabilities 9,306,211)  (6,568,197)  (6,109,155)  (4,803,915)  (3,460,431)
4,608,304 4,337,134 3,929,418 3,688,687 3,694,918
EN/NGE ¥ ON A Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 4,608,304 4,337,134 3,929,418 3,688,687 3,694,918
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Schedule of Principal Properties

B ¥ E
B8 L& %

Wy WELE

No.  Name of Property

1 5 iy ] R
Golden Wheel

International Plaza

2 455 i E T 2%
Golden Wheel Waltz

3 EL (PN
Golden Wheel Building

4 4 i AR 5
Golden Wheel

Time Square

5 F 3R 4
Nanjing Jade Garden

6 o E
Golden Wheel Green
Garden

7 45 i 7 A R
Golden Wheel New Metro

8 &l L4 B

Golden Wheel Star Plaza

282 A R ¥ B4 BL A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Completed Investment Properties

ik

Location

H B T AR P T SO IR O v 8
No.8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

b B VLA T SR O B A7 9
No.7, Shengjuren Lane, Gulou District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B TR 4 i S [ e 1089
No.108, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o I3 90 A AR T A [ B R 1
No.1, Chezhan Road, Lusong District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

o VR 5 e A T R I 733 %
No.33 Suo Street, Jianye District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B TR i 2 L 28 %
No.28, Wei Gang, Xuanwu District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Hh B VTR A R R T VL EE W RE K 1189k

No.118 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning

District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the

PRC

I VL A ) R VL B D R B A
s K9985

No. 998 Chengxin Avenue, Mo Ling Street,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC

liikes Bt

Use Type
[EES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

MR A0 3 2
FIk
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

33,197

2,444

1,454

45,570

2,677

1,021

18,437

528

L
Lease

term

1 4]

medium

i

medium

i

medium

14

medium

i

medium

i

medium

14

medium

i

medium



10

11

12

13%

14

15

EXA
Name of Property
RN (=)

Golden Wheel Star City
(Phase III)

SRS
Golden Wheel Star-cube

e T <6 i 35 5% 44 [
(—HH)

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel
Jade Garden (Phase I)

I 55 4 i B 6 4 e
Wuxi Golden Wheel Star
Plaza

M H R

Yangzhou Powerlong
Golden Wheel Plaza

<o i 4 S

Golden Wheel Jingiao
Huafu

RU & 264 B

Changsha Golden Wheel
Star Plaza

H ik

Location

o VR 45 M T 5 5B B [

B UL #228%5

No.228, Yangtze River Middle Road,
Yangzhou New Development District,

Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

W VR R T R AL B R AR R A 29
No.2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R 988 b A T K T I R

Liyu Road, Tianyuan District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

o B VT ok 6 0 85 T SR SR e B 3
No.3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District,

Wouxi City, Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

v I R 45 M i S U I 455 U o B

R it |

The intersection of Yangtze River
Middle Road and Kaiya West Road,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

SRR (3 R T

HE MR K 28 16 S 3 5%
No.3, Xiuwen Road,

Longmain Road, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o T R U T AL [

75 B 13198
No.131, Xiangxiu Road,

Yuhua District, Changsha City,

Hunan Province, the PRC

liikes pidt

Use Type
[ES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[ES

Commercial

EEY R

Schedule of Principal Properties

1 4 2 38 1 A

05 K ikl

Approximate Lease

GFA sq.m. term

4,813 H
medium

4,332 H 3
medium

3,652 H 4
medium

19,657 w41
medium

65,400 H 4
medium

2,742 w3
medium

10,967 w4
medium
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Schedule of Principal Properties

1ol 1 3 v B 3K

WY AW

Dk

Name of Property

SwRETRERY

Golden Wheel Binary Star

Plaza

P AR
Nanjing First City

P 4 2R 2 32
Nanjing Golden Wheel
Cuiyong Hua Ting

Wauxi Golden Wheel
Starry Plaza

Investment Properties under Development

o ik

Location

o B TR A T L [ B E K
Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VT A 7 A i T N R K
Longmian Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VT A 7 T K L R B DAY
West of Ning Li Road, Lishui District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o R 9 55 i AL O I i B

B B 32 S0 R

Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai
Road and Fengbin Road,

Beitang District, Wuxi City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

284 A R ¥ B4 BL A vl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

liERe - il

Use Type
[ES

Commercial

[ZES

Commercial

[EE S

Commercial

[ES

Commercial

HBE 44 32 4 i
ik
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

41,168

20,227

2,500

15,097

LA

Lease

term

i

medium

i

medium

3

medium

i

medium



EEY R

Schedule of Principal Properties

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE OR OCCUPATION BY

7 455 1 AR 1 0 45 A I 3

THE GROUP
R A e 8 T
YT WA ok itk pidt Tk
Approximate
No. Name of Property Location Use Type GFA sq.m.
1 xR o YR e A S A [ e s W= 2,535
Golden Wheel No.8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District, Office
International Plaza Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
2 & B P T v B TR 4 A I A L s B (5 2,022
Golden Wheel No.8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District, Carpark
International Plaza Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
3 SW R (IR A BTLER A 55 8 8 B 8 I T UL 228 % Hi/ T/ 6,975
FEY
Golden Wheel Star City No.228, Yangtze River Middle Road, Commercial/
(Phase I & II) Yangzhou New Development District, Residential/
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC Carpark
4 EX I B T T O R L [ e W%/ fEE 2,911
Golden Wheel Times No.1, Chezhan Road, Lusong District, Zhuzhou City, Commercial/
Square Hunan Province, the PRC Residential
5 F SR A W B VAR A T R B T 33 9% LEVER 27 2,793
Nanjing Jade Garden No.33, Suo Street, Jianye District, Nanjing City, Commercial/
Jiangsu Province, the PRC Carpatk
6 B A o R T A DR K A £ K A998 5% CEYE 5,017
Golden Wheel Star Plaza No0.998 Chengxin Avenue, Mo Ling Street, Commercial/
Jiangning District, Nanjing City, Carpark
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
7 Sdm R (=) B TR 7 45 M T 5 6T BR3[BT VL B 228 % CEVE L 3,055
Golden Wheel Star City No.228, Yangtze River Middle Road, Commercial/
(Phase III) Yangzhou New Development District, Residential
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
8 U E AR R o B 99 e M i K e [ SR [E VA= 13,199
(—H#) FEY
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Liyu Road, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou City, Commercial/
Jade Garden (Phase I) Hunan Province, the PRC Residential/
Carpark
9 e 897 < i 2O 44 R B T 55 I R SR L R 3 R CEVEEE: 7,203
Wuxi Golden Wheel Star ~ No.3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District, Wuxi City, Jiangsu Commercial/
Plaza Province, the PRC Residential

20184F ¥ #t % ANNUAL REPORT 2018

285



ERY R

Schedule of Principal Properties

mE R

No.

10

11

12

13

Name of Property

Slw AT
Golden Wheel Star-cube

& AR 2
Golden Wheel Jingiao
Huafu

R U & 24 B

Changsha Golden Wheel
Star Plaza

7 it P TUHE A BB I
Hongkong Silka West

Kowloon Hotel

Huht

Location

o B VAR T AE A R A R 25
No.2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VTR 7 TR Y D E RO B S 3 R
No.3 Xiuwen Road, Longmian Road, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

0 A R R VP T R AE IR 7 B 1315

No.131, Xiangxiu Road,
Yuhua District, Changsha City,
Hunan Province, the PRC

o A i L RE K A W 2 R 4 6-48 9
No.46-48, Anchor ST, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon,
Hongkong, China

286 £l R BB B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

ks Rt

Use Type

By
Carpark

e/ EE
Residential/
Carpark

LE V4 x4
{EHLG
Commercial/

Residential/
Carpark

I

Hotel

HBE 2 s 5 1 B
Tk
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

10,663

26,053

79,281

3,450



EEY R

Schedule of Principal Properties

HELHES PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

B8 A0 e 8 T
AT WRAW ok i@ %R Tk
Approximate
No. Name of Property Location Use Type GFA sq.m.
1 el SR o B T T O K [EES 8,000
Golden Wheel Binary Star ~ Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District, Commercial
Plaza Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
2 M AR ] R AR A 5 T SRR A B CE VL 37,390
Yangzhou Lakeside Molihua Road, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC Commercial/
Emerald House Residential
3 P I 25 i U4 5 4 o B TR R T SO A AR [EES 38,244
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xiaofengiao, Gulou District, Nanjing City, Commercial
Romantic Tower Jiangsu Province, the PRC
4 I 553 <& i 191 B B B2 R B VT 55 i A CEVE: L 74,521
Wuxi Golden Wheel AR R YR | Commercial/
Lakeside Orchid Garden The intersection between ShiLi Mingzhudi and Xiaguang Residential
Road, Binhu District, Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
5 R I <5 A 22 o [ 18 8 kWM i K e R EVE =< 324,350
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel BRJ5 L K A L B 48 7 K Commercial/
Jingiao Huafu North of Yan Di Main Road, East of Xiangjiang Main Road,  Residential
Wu Guang Area, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou City,
Hunan Province, the PRC
6 T A% 4 B 7K L B R A T T R T [ R B D LR O B LR EVE =< 76,217
Nanjing Golden Wheel North of Wutai Road, East of Xintang Road, Commercial/
Shuiying Hua Ting Gaochun District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC ~ Residential
7 I HUH B HH VT i R MR [HE S 52,539
Nanjing First City Longmian Road, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC Commercial
gex AU REE L HBITLRR & B N & R A R EVE < 25,239
Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu  Qinglong Market, Jinniu Lake sub-district, Luhe District, Commercial/
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC Residential
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Schedule of Principal Properties

gk AR o B VLA N TR AL A S B DA P AT B R I PSE R 187,275
Changzhou Junwang Jia Di  West of Yueye Road, South of Yingping Road, Commercial/
Xinbei District, Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC  Residential
Lowssix G BB R 2 H TR 45 T TR O IR T A B LA R B 2 SR e 84,847
Yangzhou Vanke Future The intersection between Qingnian Road and Residential
Light Chuangxin Road, Hanjiang District, Yangzhou City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
11 P R B YT 5 I R [ N e DAY EVE < 115,282
Nanjing Golden Wheel West of Ning Li Road, Lishui District, Commercial/
Cuiyong Hua Ting Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC Residential
12 I 557 4 22 %2 TR B A 7 5 i AL [ T e S [HES 99,039
B % 32 S R
Wuxi Golden Wheel Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai Road and Commercial
Starry Plaza Fengbin Road, Beitang District, Wuxi City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
13 7 s & BT K o B 7 T SR 68 B 709 A B B H # 2C B 2D R [ZES 5,775
Hongkong Golden Wheel Nos.68 and 70 Electric Road and Nos. 2C and Commercial
Plaza 2D Lau Li Street, Hongkong, China
& I H AR EEERA0% MR 2 AE K © The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49%
interest.
g FHIE H AR 52 AT 339 HE A 2 W 0 D B o o The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 33%
interest.
s IH H A B 25 9% 2 s N FI B S o ##k  The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25%
interest.
s R IH H M AE B 13.33% 2 B8 w B ##kk The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33%
proj P y pany p
interest.
s 37 IH H f A BHEA 20% 2 A8 A F B o ##k%% The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20%
interest.
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